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Take great care of the patient, 

every day and in every way.™ 



Corporate Profile:

Pediatrix® Medical Group, Inc. (NYSE:MD) is a leading provider of physician services. Pediatrix-affiliated
clinicians are committed to providing coordinated, compassionate and clinically excellent services to
women, babies and children across the continuum of care, both in hospital settings and office-based
practices. Specialties include obstetrics, maternal-fetal medicine and neonatology complemented by
multiple pediatric subspecialties. The group’s high-quality, evidence-based care is bolstered by significant
investments in research, education, quality-improvement and safety initiatives. The physician-led
company was founded in 1979 as a single neonatology practice and today provides its highly specialized
and often critical care services through approximately 4,400 affiliated physicians and other clinicians. To
learn more about Pediatrix, visit www.pediatrix.com or follow us on Facebook, Instagram, LinkedIn, and
the Pediatrix blog. Investment information can be found at www.pediatrix.com/investors.



To Our Shareholders:

The following annual report details the activities and results of Pediatrix Medical Group, Inc. for
2024.

During 2024, the Pediatrix team executed our portfolio restructuring plan, which resulted in a
refocused organization consisting of core hospital-based services, including neonatology, pediatric
intensive care, and a number of other inpatient pediatric services, as well as our maternal-fetal
medicine practices. We also completed our transition to a hybrid revenue-cycle management structure,
with a fully staffed and strong internal team supported by a new vendor.

We now have a smaller footprint that is designed to enable a stronger core and a more efficient
organization.

As we have done since our founding, we will first and foremost prioritize patient-centric care by
providing optimal support to our clinicians and our practices. In 2025, we will also focus on
strengthening our hospital and health system relationships; and we will be good stewards of our
improved financial position and cash flow.

These efforts and our key priorities underscore our mission to Take great care of the patient, every
day and in every way TM and I join my fellow Pediatrix Directors and executives in thanking all of our
affiliated clinicians and non-clinical associates for their dedication and hard work.

Thank you for your continued support of our efforts.

Mark S. Ordan
Chair of the Board and Chief Executive Officer



Selected Highlights

(in thousands, except per share and other
operating data) 2024 2023 2022

Consolidated Income Statement Data:

Net revenue $2,012,919 $1,994,640 $1,972,021

(Loss) income from continuing operations (99,069) (60,408) 62,564

Adjusted earnings before interest, taxes and depreciation and amortization from
continuing operations (“Adjusted EBITDA”)1 224,022 200,418 241,033

Diluted (loss) income from continuing operations per share (“EPS”) $ (1.19) $ (0.73) $ 0.74

Adjusted diluted income from continuing operations per share (“Adjusted EPS”)1 $ 1.51 $ 1.26 $ 1.66

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:

Total assets $2,152,700 $2,219,810 $2,347,887

Total liabilities 1,387,762 1,370,749 1,456,255

Total equity 764,938 849,061 891,632

Other Operating Data:

Number of physicians at end of year 2,335 2,621 2,597

Number of births 752,394 767,214 798,552

NICU admissions 109,324 109,442 113,702

NICU patient days 1,994,418 2,003,917 2,039,662

Net Revenue Adjusted EBITDA1
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1 Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EPS are non-GAAP financial measures. For a description of the rationale for our
presentation of Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EPS and a reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EPS to the most
directly comparable GAAP measures for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022, please see the disclosure
under the caption “Non-GAAP Measures” on Pages 62 and 63 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Certain information included or incorporated by reference in this Form 10-K may be deemed to be “forff ward-
looking statements” which may include, but are not limited to, statements relating to our objectives, plans and
strategies, and all statements (other than statements of historical facts) that address activities, events or developments
that we intend, expect, projeo ct, believe or anticipate will or may occur in the future. These statements are often
characterized by terminology such as “believe,” “hope,” “may,” “anticipate,” “should,” “intend,” “plan,” “will,”
“expect,” “estimate,” “projeo ct,” “positioned,” “strategy” and similar expressions, and are based on assumptions and
assessments made by our management in light of their experience and their perception of historical trends, current
conditions, expected future developments and other factors they believe to be appropriate. Any forward-looking
statements in this Form 10-K are made as of the date hereof, and we undertake no dutd y to updau te or revise any such
statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise. Forward-looking statements are not
guarantees of futurff e performance and are subju ect to risks and uncertainties. Important factors that could cause actualt
results, developments and business decisions to differ materially from forff ward-looking statements are described in
this Form 10-K, including the risks set forff th under “Risk Factors” in Item 1A.

As used in this Form 10-K, unless the context otherwise requires, the terms “Pediatrix,” the “Company,”
“we,” “us,” and “our” referff to the parent company, Pediatrix Medical Group, Inc., a Florida corporation, and the
consolidated subsu idiaries through which its businesses are actually conducted (collectively, “PMG”), together with
PMG’s affiliated business corpor rations or profesff sional associations, professional corporations, limited liabia lity
companies and partnerships (“affiff liated profesff sional contractors”). Certain subsidiaries of PMG have contracts with
our affiff liated professional contractors, which are separate legal entities that provide physician services in certain states.

PART I

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

OVERVIR EW

Pediatrix is a leading provider of physician services including newborn, maternal-fetal, and other pediatric
subspeu cialty care. Our national network is comprised of affilff iated physicians who provide clinical care in 36 states.
During 2024, we formalized our practice portfolff io management plans, resulting in a decision to exit almost all of our
affiff liated offiff ce-based practices, other than maternal-fetal medicine. As of December 31, 2024, these plans were
completed. Additionally, we exited our primary and urgent care service line during 2024 based on a review of the cost
and time that would be required to build the platforff m to scale. At December 31, 2024, our national network comprised
approximately 2,335 affiff liated physicians, including 1,335 physicians who provide neonatal clinical care, primarily
within hospital-based neonatal intensive care units (“NICUs”), to babies born prematurely or with medical
complications. We have over 490 affiff liated physicians who provide maternal-fetal and obstetrical medical care to
expectant mothers experiencing complicated pregnancies primarily in areas where our affiff liated neonatal physicians
practice. Our network also includes other pediatric subspecialists, including 240 physicians providing hospital-based
pediatric care, over 230 physicians providing pediatric intensive care, and 20 physicians providing pediatric surgical
care.

Pediatrix Medical Group, Inc. was incorporated in Florida in 2007, and is the successor to PMG Services,
Inc., which was forff merly known as Pediatrix Medical Group, Inc. and was incorporated in Florida in 1979. Our
principal executive offiff ces are located at 1301 Concord Terrace, Sunrise, Florida 33323 and our telephone number is
(954) 384-0175.

OUR PHYSICIAN SPECIALTIES AND SERVICES

The folff lowing discussion describes our physician specialties and the care that we provide, either directly or
through our affiff liated professional contractors:

Neonatal Care
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We provide clinical care to babies born prematurely or with complications within specific units at hospitals,
primarily NICUs, through our network of affilff iated neonatal physician subspecialists (“neonatologists”), neonatal
nurse practitioners and other pediatric clinicians, who staff aff nd manage clinical activities at over 350 NICUs in 30
states. Neonatologists are board-certified, or eligible-to-apply-for-certification, physicians who have extensive
educd ation and training for the care of babia es born prematurely or with complications that require complex medical
treatment. Neonatal nurse practitioners are registered nurses who have advanced training and education in assessing
and treating the healthcare needs of newborns and infanff ts as well as managing the needs of their families.

We partner with our hospital clients in an efforff t to enhance the quality of care delivered to prematurt e and
sick babies. Some of the nation's largest and most prestigious hospitals, including both not-for-profit and for-profit
institutt ions, retain us to staff and manage their NICUs. Our affilff iated neonatologists generally provide 24-hours-a-
day, seven-days-a-week coverage in NICUs, supporu t the local referring physician community and are availabla e forff
consultation in other hospital departments. Our hospital partners benefitff from our experience in managing complex
intensive care units. Our neonatal physicians interact with colleagues across the country through an internal
communications system to draw upon their collective expertise in managing challenging patient-care issues. Our
neonatal physicians also work collaboratively with maternal-fetal medicine subspecialists to coordinate the care of
mothers experiencing complicated pregnancies and their fetff ust es.

Maternal-Fetal Care

We provide inpatient and office-based clinical care to expectant mothers and their unborn babies through our
affiff liated maternal-fetal medicine subspecialists, obstetricians and other clinicians, such as maternal-fetal medicine
nurse practitioners, certified nurse mid-wives, sonographers and genetic counselors. Maternal-fetal medicine
subspeu cialists are board-certifieff d, or eligible-to-apply-for-certification, obstetricians who have extensive educd ation
and training forff the treatment of high-risk expectant mothers and their fetuses. Our affiliated maternal-fetal medicine
subspeu cialists practice primarily in metropolitan areas where we have affiliated neonatologists to provide coordinated
care forff women with complicated pregnancies whose babies are ofteff n admitted to a NICU upon delivery.rr We believe
continuity of treatment froff m mother and developing fetus durd ing the pregnancy to the newborn upon deu livery hrr as
improved the clinical outcomes of our patients.

Other Pediatric Subspecialty Care

Our network includes other pediatric subspecialists such as pediatric intensivists, pediatric hospitalists and
pediatric surgeons, among others. In addition, our affiff liated physicians seek to provide supporu t services in other areas
of hospitals, particularly in the pediatric emergency room, labor and delivery arr rea, and nursery and pediatric
departments, where immediate accessibility to specialized care may be critical.

Pediatritt c IntII entt sive Care. Pediatric intensivists are hospital-based pediatricians with additional education and
training in caring forff critically ill or injun red children and adolescents. Our affiff liated physicians who provide this
clinical care staff and manage pediatric intensive care units (“PICUs”) at over 60 hospitals.

Pediatritt c HospiHH taii lists. Pediatric hospitalists are hospital-based pediatricians specializing in inpatient care
and management of acutely ill children. Our affiff liated hospital-based physicians provide this inpatient pediatric and
newborn care in PICUs, well-born nurseries and pediatric emergency rooms at over 50 hospitals.

Pediatritt c Surger ry. Pediatric surgeons provide specialized care for patients ranging from newborns to
adolescents, for all problems or conditions that require surgical intervention, and often have particular expertise in the
areas of neonatal, prenatal, trauma and pediatric oncology. Our affiliated physicians in this subspeu cialty include
pediatric plastic and craniofacff ial surgeons and general and thoracic pediatric surgeons. Areas of particular expertise
include management of neonatal and congenital anomalies, prenatal counseling, trauma management, pediatric
oncology, gastrointestinal surgery,rr as well as common pediatric surgical conditions.

Othett r NewNN born and Pediatritt c CareCC . Because our affiff liated physicians and advanced nurse practitioners
generally provide hospital-based coverage, they are situated to provide highly specialized care to address medical
needs that may arise durd ing a baby’s hospitalization. For example, as part of our ongoing effortff s to support and partner
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with hospitals and the local referring physician community, our affiff liated neonatologists, pediatric hospitalists and
advanced nurse practitioners provide in-hospital nursery care to newborns through our newborn nursery program. This
program is made availabla e for babiff es during their hospital stay, which in the case of healthy babies typically consists
of evaluation and observation, following which they are referff red, and their hospital records are provided, to their
pediatricians or famff ily practitioners for folff low-up care.

Newborn HeaHH ringii Screening ProPP gramo . Our affiliated physicians also oversee our newborn hearing
screening program. Since we launched this program in 1994, we believe that we have become the largest provider of
newborn hearing screening services in the United States. In 2024, we screened over 805,000 babies for potential
hearing loss at 340 hospitals across the nation. Over 40 states either require newborns to be screened for potential
hearing loss beforff e being discharged from the hospital or require that parents be offered the opportunit ty to submu it
their newborns to hearing screens. We contract or coordinate with hospitals to provide newborn hearing screening
services.

Clinical Research, Education, Quality and Safety

As part of our ongoing commitment to improving patient care through evidence-based medicine, we also
conduct clinical research, monitor clinical outcomes and implement clinical quality initiatives with a view to
improving patient outcomes, shortening the length of hospital stays and reducd ing long-term health system costs. Our
physician-centric approaa ch to clinical research and continuous quality improvement has demonstrated improvements
in clinical outcomes, while reducing the costs of care associated with complications as well as variability in protocols.
We provide extensive continuing medical and nursing educd ation to our affiff liated clinicians in an effortff to ensure that
they have access to current treatment methodologies, national best practices and evidence-based guidelines. We
believe that referring and collabora ating physicians, hospitals, third-party payors and patients all benefit froff m our
clinical research, education, quality and safetff y initiatives.

DEMAND FOR OUR SERVICES

Hospital-Ba- sed CarCC e. Hospitals generally must provide cost-effecff tive, quality care in order to enhance their
reputations within their communities and desirabia lity to patients, referring and collabora ating physicians and third-
party payors. In an effortff to improve outcomes and manage costs, hospitals typically employ or contract with physician
specialists to provide specialized care in many hospital-based units or settings. Hospitals traditionally staff these units
or settings through affiff liations with local physician groups or independent practitioners. However, management of
these units and settings presents significant operational challenges, including variable admissions rates, increased
operating costs, complex reimbursement systems and other administrative burdens. As a result, some hospitals choose
to contract with physician organizations that have the clinical quality initiatives, information and reimbursement
systems and management expertise required to effectively and effiff ciently operate these units and settings in the current
healthcare environment. With continuing shifts to value-based reimbursement models, we anticipate that hospitals
will continue to seek out experienced organizations with documented success in improving quality indicators and
reducing costs. Demand for hospiff tal-based physician services, including neonatology, is determined by a national
market in which qualifieff d physicians with advanced training compete for hospiff tal contracts.

Neonatal Medicineii . Of the over 3.6 million births in the United States annually, we estimate that 14%-15%
require NICU admission. Numerous institutions conduct research to identify pff otential causes of premature birth and
medical complications that ofteff n require NICU admission. Some common contributing factff ors include the presence
of hypertension or diabetes in the mother, lack of prenatal care, complications during pregnancy, drugr and alcohol
abuse and smoking or poor nutritional habits durd ing pregnancy. Babia es admitted to NICUs typically have an illness
or condition that requires the care of a neonatologist. Babies who are born prematurely or have a low birth weight
ofteff n require neonatal intensive care services because of an increased risk forff medical complications. We believe
obstetricians generally preferff to perforff m deliveries at hospitals that provide a fulff l complement of labor and delivery
services, including a NICU staffedff by board-certified, or eligible-to-apply-for-certification, neonatologists. Because
obstetrics is a significant source of hospital admissions, hospital administrators have responded to these demands by
establa ishing NICUs and contracting with independent neonatology group practices, such as our affiff liated profesff sional
contractors, to staff aff nd manage these units. As a result, NICUs within the United States tend to be concentrated in
hospitals with higher volumes of births. There are approxia mately 7,300 board-certified neonatologists in the United
States.
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Maternal-Fll etFF altt Medicineii . Expectant mothers with pregnancy complications ofteff n seek or are referff red by
their obstetricians to maternal-fetal medicine subspecialists. These subspeu cialists provide inpatient and office-based
care to women with conditions such as diabetes, heart disease, hypertension, multiple gestation, recurrent miscarriage,
family history orr f genetic diseases, suspected fetal birth defects and other complications during their pregnancies. We
believe that improved maternal-fetal care has a positive impact on neonatal outcomes. Data on neonatal outcomes
demonstrates that, in general, the likelihood of mortality or an adverse condition or outcome (referred to as
“morbidity”) is reduced the longer a baby remains in the womb. There are approxia mately 3,000 board-certified
maternal-fetal medicine subspecialists in the United States.

Othett r PedPP iadd tric Subspecialty Mtt edMM icinedd .Other areas of pediatric subspecialty medicine are closely associated
with maternal-fetal-newborn medical care. For example, pediatric intensivists are subspeu cialists who care forff critically
ill or injured children and adolescents in PICUs. There are appra oximately 3,100 board-certified pediatric intensivists
in the United States. As another example, pediatric hospitalists are pediatricians who provide care in many hospital
areas, including labora and delivery arr nd the newborn nursery. In addition, pediatric surgeons provide specialized care
for patients ranging from newborns to adolescents, forff all problems or conditions affeff cting children that require
surgical intervention, and often have particular expertise in the areas of neonatal, prenatal, trauma, and pediatric
oncology. There are approximately 1,200 board-certified pediatric surgeons in the United States.

Physh ician PraPP ctictt e Administratiott n. Administrative demands and cost containment pressures froff m a number
of sources, principally commercial and government payors, make it increasingly diffiff cult for physicians to effeff ctively
manage patient care, remain current on the latest procedurd es and efficiently administer non-clinical activities. As a
result, we believe that physicians remain receptive to being affiff liated with larger organizations that reduce
administrative burdens, achieve economies of scale and provide value-added clinical research, education and quality
initiatives. By relieving many of the burdens associated with the management of a subspeu cialty group practice, we
believe that our practice administration services permit our affiff liated physicians to focus on providing quality patient
care and thereby contribute to improving patient outcomes, ensuring appropriate length of hospital stays and reducd ing
long-term health system costs. In addition, our national network of affiff liated physician practices, modeled around a
traditional group practice strucr ture, is managed by a non-clinical profesff sional management team with proven abia lities
to achieve significant operating efficff iencies in providing administrative support systems, interacting with physicians,
hospitals and third-party payors, managing information systems and technologies, and complying with applicable
laws, rulr es and regulations.

OUR BUSINESS STRATRR EGY

Our business objective is to enhance our position as a leading provider of physician and other complementary
healthcare services. The key elements of our strategy to achieve this objective are:

• Build Upon Core Competencies. We have developed significant administrative expertise relating to our
practice physician services. We have also faciff litated the development of a clinical approach to the practice
of medicine among our affiff liated physicians through clinical data warehouses that include research,
educd ation and quality initiatives intended to advance the practice of medicine and care, improve the quality
of care provided to our patients and reduce long-term health system costs. Analysis of the data within our
clinical data warehouses across our neonatology and other pediatric subspecialty services allows us to
provide feedbad ck to our physicians and hospital partners and to develop and implement best practices, all
with the goal of improving outcomes, creating efficiencies and ensuring patient satisfacff tion. As healthcare
organizations are expected to increasingly be held accountable for the quality and cost of the care that they
provide, we believe that our ability to capture this data within our clinical data warehouses adds value to
our patients and our hospital and physician partners.

• Utilitt zeii Enhanced Technologyo Solutions. We have introducd ed several technology-enabled solutions that
we believe will improve the efficiency of the work our affiff liated physicians do each day. These include a
more streamlined charge capture system, a cloud-based image access and storage solution, continued
development of our cloud-based neonatology-specific notes system and upgru ades to our offiff ce-based
practices electronic health record system that are designed to be better for our physff icians and improve the
patient-facing portal for our paff tients and their famff ilies. We plan to continue to find ways to supplu y real
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time data to our affiff liated physician practices so that they can have visibility to, and more importantly,
manage patient volumes.

• Promote Stt amSS e-Unit and Organic Growth. We seek opportunities forff increasing revenue from our
hospital-based and offiff ce-based operations. For example, our affiff liated hospital-based neonatal, maternal-
fetal and other pediatric physicians are well situat ted to, and, in some cases, provide physician services in
other departments, such as pediatric emergency rooms, newborn nurseries, or in situat tions where
immediate accessibility to specialized obstetric and pediatric care may be critical. Our affiff liated hospital-
based and offiff ce-based physicians continue to pursue an organic growth strategy that involves working
with our hospital partners to develop integrated service programs forff which we become a provider of
solutions across our existing service lines. An integrated program results in a broader offeriff ng of care
across our specialties and permits the extension of our service lines in our markets. We have successfulff ly
executed this organic growth strategy and market partnership in many metropolitan areas and intend to
continue this growth initiative in the futff urt e. In addition, we may pursue new contractuat l arrangements with
hospitals, including possibly through joint ventures, either where we currently provide or do not currently
provide physician services.

Additionally, with the goal of furff ther expanding our organic growth, our national sales team pursues
opportunities across our service lines by employing a targeting strategy with a specific focusff and
prioritization. This sales team works with existing hospital and other healthcare partners and also focusff es
on building new relationships with hospitals and other service providers to which we do not currently
provide services in order to offer clinical and other solutions and respond to requests for proposff als. Our
growth teams are managed under one collaborative group that addresses acquisition and organic growth
opportunities. The growth team partners with the operational leadership across each of our medical groups
to execute our overall growth strategy.

• Adaptatdd iott n of To eleheaTT lth.tt Our telehealth programs offeff r the latest in telemedicine, which is the use of
telecommunication and information technology in order to provide clinical healthcare at a distance. Even
before the COVID-19 pandemic, we focused on expanding our services in telemedicine as we have long
expected that many pediatric subspecialties, as well as maternal-fetal medicine, would benefit in thff e futureff
from having a robust platforff m in telemedicine. Telemedicine services are well documented as high quality,
safe and efficient means of expanding physician services into metropolitan and rural communities. We
have expanded our services to provide these remote programs to our hospital partners and to our existing
service lines to supplu ement current coverage needs. We believe telehealth reduces overall healthcare
spending, improves access to quality care and facilitates collabora ation with specialists while improving
patient engagement and satisfaction.

• Acquire PhyPP sician Practice GroGG ups. We continue to seek to expand our operations by acquiring
establa ished physician practices in our core physician specialties. During 2024, we added one maternal-fetff al
medicine practice.

• Strett ngthen and Broaden Relatll iott nshipsii Withii Our ParPP tners. By managing many of the operational
challenges associated with physician practices, encouraging clinical research, education, quality, and safety
initiatives, and promoting timely intervention by our physicians, we believe that our business model is
focused on improving the quality of care delivered to patients, promoting the appropriate length of their
hospital stays and optimizing efficient use of health system resources. We believe that referring and
collabora ating physicians, hospitals, third-party payors and patients all benefit to the extent that we are
successfulff in implementing our business model. In addition, we will concentrate efforts to become more
responsive and proactive in strengthening and supporting our existing hospital and clinical practice
relationships, as well as establishing new partnerships to expand the scope of our hospital-based, maternal-
fetal medicine, hearing screening, and telehealth services that we provide. We focus ourff effortff s in this area
using a market-based approach and in each geographic area where we operate, we consider how we can
solidify aff nd/or expand our existing hospital, health system and clinical practice relationships and forff m new
ones. We believe this is critical as hospitals and health systems seek to expand their service offeriff ngs and
as the broader healthcare market seeks new solutions to operate more effiff ciently.
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We also believe one of the greatest predictors of success in our partnerships at the hospital and health
system level is a high degree of strategic alignment between our clinical leaders and our partners. This
requires our clinicians to hone a skill set beyond just the practice of medicine. To this end, we maintain a
Clinical Leadership Development Program where our affiff liated clinicians from across the organization
participate virtually and in person in a variety of leadership workshops to provide them with the best tools
to foster positive productive relationships with our valued partners.

CLINICAL RESEARCH, EDUCATION, QUALITY AND SAFETY

As part of our patient focus and ongoing commitment to improving patient care through evidence-based medicine, we
engage in clinical research, continuous quality improvement, safety and educd ation initiatives. Our goal is to discover,
understand and teach healthcare practices that enhance the abilities of clinicians to deliver quality care, thereby
contributing to better patient outcomes and reduced long-term health care costs. These initiatives benefit our patients,
clinicians, referring and collabora ating physicians, hospital partners and third-party payors. Our goal is to enhance the
value of our services, attract new and retain high-quality clinicians, improve clinical operations and enhance practice
communication.

• Clinicll al Research.We conduct clinical research to discover ways to improve clinical care for our paff tients.
We share our discoveries throughout the medical community by publishing our observations in peer-
reviewed medical journals. To help facff ilitate and support research efforts, Pediatrix has a Research
Advisory Committee (“RAC”). The goal of the RAC is to design, implement and maintain a program for
clinical research oversight and support that enables our practices to conduct research that is safe, effective,
financially viable and legally compliant. The RAC’s multi-disciplinary arr pproaa ch involves the
collabora ation of both clinical and business professionals, including finance, legal and compliance. With
participating clinicians located throughout the country, the RAC supports a comprehensive scope of
research effortff s. This nationwide perspective allows us to better anticipate futurff e needs and opportunities.

• Qualityll and SafSS etff y.tt Through the leadership of our affiff liated clinicians, we have cultivated a culturt e of
continuous quality improvement and safetff y, which is the cornerstone of our success and helps us to fulfillff
our mission. Our team of clinical experts leads and provides oversight of national quality and safety
programs across various specialties and subspeu cialties.

• Contintt uous Qualityll Imprm ovement (“CQICC ”). CQI initiatives are important for our clinicians. We provide
our clinicians with the opportunity to collabora ate and share best practices and facff ilitate access to valuable
information, resources, and professional development tools. Our affiliated clinicians can identify aff reas for
improvement, and then systematically monitor, study,t learn, and implement change. Complex initiatives
are derived and based on our long-standing CQI efforff ts, our value-based care initiatives, and various
clinical quality collabora atives. Our quality metrics include standard clinical outcome reporting, trend
analysis and threshold performance, which are provided to our affiff liated clinicians.

• Patient Safea ty Organr izatiott n (“PSOPP ”).We have a federalff ly-listed PSO, the mission of which is to improve
the quality and safetff y of care rendered by our clinical providers through the collection and analysis of
quality data. As a federff ally-listed PSO, our mission to improve the safety of care rendered is supported
by the dissemination of best practices information and implementation of patient safety programs. We
endorse High Reliabia lity Organization (“HRO”) concepts to provide “Just Culture” training to our
clinicians. The approach has been customized to meet our affiff liated physician practices’ needs and is
based on principles outlined by the Agency forff Healthcare Research and Quality (“AHRQ”), Institute for
Healthcare Improvement, National Patient Safety Foundation and Team STEPPS, the teamwork system
developed by the AHRQ and the Department of Defense.

• Educatiott n. We provide continuing medical and nursing educd ation to our affiff liated clinicians to ensure
that they have access to current treatment methodologies, national best practices, and evidence-based
guidelines. The Pediatrix Center forff Research, Education, Quality and Safety is accredited by the
Accreditation Council for Continuing Medical Educd ation and accredited by the American Nurses
Credentialing Center’s Commission on Accreditation. As an accredited provider of continuing medical
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and nursing educd ation, we offeff r a variety of live and online educational credit opportunities that can be
accessed on demand by our providers and are in synergy with latest research publications and healthcare
industry srr tandards. We are continually expanding our learning materials to new subspeu cialties. In
addition, each year, thousands of healthcare providers worldwide take advantage of educational programs
hosted by Pediatrix. We believe that the number of clinicians both nationally and internationally who
participate in these activities is evidence of the depth and breadth of our clinical expertise and position as
an industry lrr eader.

• Innovation.We believe collaborative innovation is a pathway towards excellence in research, educd ation,
quality and safety. Because of the critical role innovation plays, our team strives to integrate the latest
technological advances, artificial or augmented intelligence, genomics and mobile applications into
everydarr y care. Telehealth and mobile health, virtual reality, point-of-care diagnostics and advanced data
analytics are currently shaping the future of medicine. Our team is actively engaged in integrating the
latest innovations that can optimize clinical care delivery arr nd augment our clinical research initiatives
with the goal of furff ther optimizing patient outcomes.

We believe that these initiatives have been enhanced by our integrated national presence together with our clinical
and management information systems, which are an integral component of our clinical research and education
activities. See “Our Information Systems.”

OUR INFORMATION SYSTEMS

We maintain several information systems that supporu t our day-to-day operations, ongoing clinical initiatives
and business analysis.

• BabyStyy eptt s®. BabySa teps is a clinical electronic documentation system used by our affiff liated neonatal
physicians and other clinicians to record clinical progress notes and certain labora atory rrr eports and to provide
them with a decision tree to assist them in certain situat tions with the selection of appropra iate billing
codes. During 2024, we focused on advancing the effiff ciency of clinical documentation, integration and
interoperabia lity, introducing new billing capabilities, and advancing the security posture of the BabySteps
platform. We added new personalization feaff tures and practice specific templates to enhance and streamline
the clinician experience and decrease clinician documentation burden, as well as hundreds of new integrations
with hospital partners designed to increase workfloff w efficiency, decrease data entry errors, and advance our
interoperabia lity capabilities. We created two new modules, Newborn Express and Neo Express, to supportu
charge captura e and streamlined documentation of newborn and neonatology services, reducd ing the number
of applications in use by clinicians, allowing for a simplified clinician experience and practice/organizational
cost savings. In 2024, we received our initial HITRUST recognition forff the BabySteps platform, validating
our security posture both internally and with our external hospital partners. HITRUST is considered the gold
standard for healthcare data security and compliance and is a certification that many of our hospital partners
asked us to pursue. We believe HITRUSRR T certification not only enhances our credibility in the industry, butrr
also strengthens our commitment to protecting our patients’ data.

• Clinicll al Data Warehouse. BabySa teps Cloud enables our affiff liated physician practices to capture a consistent
set of clinical information abouta the patients to whom we provide care. We de-identify aff nd transferff data from
the clinical documentation that resides in BabySteps to our “clinical data warehouse” that since inception has
accumulated clinical information on more than 2.0 million patients and approximately 35 million patient
days. With comprehensive reporting tools, our physicians can use this information to benchmark outcomes,
enhance clinical decision-making and advance best practices at the bedside. Using a variety of clinical
performance markers, our de-identified data warehouse also helps us track medication and procedured
interactions, link treatments to outcomes and identify off pportunities to enhance patient outcomes.

• pMD CMM haCC rge CaptCC ure. Our electronic charge capture system is used to code and bill for pediatric intensive
care clinicians, hospitalists, other hospital providers, as well as all hospital services delivered by our
ambulatory prr roviders. We also use administrative data derived from this system to drive quality assurance
and quality improvement programs.
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• Nextgeee n®. We have licensed the Nextgen Electronic Health Record (“EHR”) and Practice Management
(“PM”), an integrated product line for ourff affiff liated offiff ce-based physicians and other clinicians to record
patient clinical documentation and manage the full revenue cycle. This product line provides additional
benefits to our offiff ce-based practices, including clinical decision trees to assist physicians with the selection
of compliant billing codes, medication management (including electronic prescription of controlled substance
and prescription drug monitoring programs), promotion of consistent documentation, patient engagement
tools, virtuat l visits and telemedicine tools, Artificial intelligence tools forff streamlined clinician
documentation, and data forff research and education. We continue to evolve the NextGen EHR and PM to
respond to regulatory urr pdau tes and our evolving offiff ce-based services landscape.

Our management information systems are also an integral element of the billing and reimbursement process.
We maintain systems that provide for electronic data interchange with payors that accept electronic submissions,
including electronic claims submu ission, insurance benefitff s verification and claims processing and remittance advice,
which enable us to track numerous and diverse third-party payor relationships and payment methods. Our information
systems provide scalability and fleff xibility as payor groups upgru ade their payment and reimbursement systems. We
continually seek improvements to our systems to expedite the overall process, streamline information gathering from
our clinical systems and improve effiff ciencies in the reimbursement process.

We maintain additional information systems designed to improve operating effiff ciencies of our affiff liated
practice groups, reducd e physicians’ paperwork requirements and facilitate interaction among our affiff liated physicians
and their colleagues regarding patient care issues. Following the acquisition of a physician practice group, we
implement systematic procedurd es to improve the acquired group’s operating and finff ancial performance. One of our
first steps is to convert a newly acquired group to our broad-based management information system. We also maintain
a database management system to assist our business development and recruirr ting departments to identify pff otential
practice group acquisitions and physician candidates.

PHYSICIAN PRACTICE GROUP ADMINISTRATION

We provide multiple administrative services to support the practice of medicine by our affiff liated physicians
and strive to improve operating effiff ciencies of our affiff liated physician practice groups.

• Unit Managea ment. A senior physician practicing medicine in each physician specialty or subspeu cialty
practice that we manage acts as the medical director for that practice. Each medical director is responsible
for the overall management of his or her practice, including staffiff ng and scheduld ing, quality of care,
profesff sional discipline, utilization review, coordinating physician recruir tment and monitoring the finff ancial
success within the practice. Medical directors also serve as a liaison with hospital administration, other
physicians and the community.

• Staftt fiff ngii and SchedSS ulingll . We assist with staffing and scheduld ing physicians and advanced practice nurses
within the units and practices that we manage. For example, each NICU is staffeff d by at least one specialist
on site or availabla e on call. We are responsible for managing and coordinating the process forff the salaries
and benefitsff paid and provided to our affiff liated physicians and practitioners. In addition, we employ,
compensate and manage all non-medical personnel for ourff affiff liated physician practices.

• Recruitiii ngii and CreCC dentiatt lingii . We have significant experience in locating, qualifying,ff recruirr ting, and
retaining experienced physicians. Wemaintain an extensive nationwide database of neonatologists, maternal-
fetal medicine physicians, and other pediatric subspeu cialty physicians. Our medical directors and physician
leaders play a central role in the recruir ting and interviewing process before candidates are introduced to other
practice group physicians and hospital administrators. We verify the credentials, licenses and references of
all prospective affiliated physician candidates. In addition to our databaa se of physicians, we recruirr t nationally
through trade advertising, referrals from our affiff liated physicians and attendance at conferenceff s.

• Billinii g, Collectiott n and Reimburserr ment. We assume responsibility for assisting our affiff liated physicians
with contracting with third-party payors. We are responsible for billing, collection and reimbursement for
services rendered by our affiff liated physicians. In all instances, however, we do not assume responsibility for
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charges relating to services provided by hospitals or other physicians with whom we collabora ate. Such
charges are separately billed and collected by the hospitals or other physicians. We provide our affiff liated
physicians and other clinicians with a training curriculum that emphasizes detailed documentation of and
compliant coding protocols forff all procedurd es performed and services provided, and we provide
comprehensive internal auditing processes, all of which are designed to achieve compliant coding, billing
and collection of revenue for physician services. We recently transforff med our revenue cycle management
function froff m an outsourced provider to a hybrid function that utilizes both our corporate personnel as well
as one or more third-party service providers. See Item 1A. Risk Factors “During 2024, we undertook a
transforff mation of our revenue cycle management function from an outsourced provider to a hybrid function
that utilizes both our corporate personnel as well as third-party service providers. Our failure to execute a
hybrid revenue cycle management funff ction efficff iently and effecff tively may have a material impact on our
business, financial condition, results of operations, cash floff ws and the trading price of our securities.”

• Riskii Managea ment. We maintain a risk management program focusff ed on reducing risk, including the
identification and communication of potential risk areas to our medical affaff irs staff. Wemaintain profesff sional
liabia lity coverage for our national group of affiff liated healthcare professionals. Through our risk management
and medical affaff irs staff, wff e conduct risk management programs forff loss prevention and early intervention
in order to prevent or minimize professional liabia lity claims.

• Compliance. We provide a multi-faceted compliance program that is designed to assist our affiff liated practice
groups in understanding and complying with the increasingly complex laws, rulrr es and regulations that govern
the provision of healthcare services.

• Othett r ServiSS ces. We also provide management information systems, faciff lities management, legal support,
marketing support and other services to our affiff liated physicians and affiliated practice groups.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH OUR PARTNERS

Our business model, which has been influenced by the direct contact and daily interaction that our affiff liated
physicians have with their patients, emphasizes a patient-focused clinical approach that addresses the needs of our
various “partners,” including hospitals, third-party payors, referring and collabora ating physicians, affiliated physicians
and, most importantly, our patients.

Hospitals and Other Customers

Our relationships with our hospital partners and other customers are critical to our operations. Hospitals
control access to their units through the awarding of contracts and hospital privileges. We have been retained by
approximately 395 hospitals to staff aff nd manage clinical activities within specific hospital-based units and other
departments. Our affiliated physicians are important components of obstetric, pediatric and surgical services provided
at hospitals. Our hospital-based focff us enhances our relationships with hospitals and creates opportunities for our
affiff liated physicians to provide patient care in other areas of the hospital. For example, our physicians may provide
care in emergency rooms, nurseries, intensive care units and other departments where access to specialized obstetric
and pediatric care may be critical. Our hospital partners benefitff from our expertise in managing critical care units and
other settings staffeff d with physician specialists, including managing variable admission rates, operating costs,
complex reimbursement systems and other administrative burdens. We work with our hospital partners to enhance
their reputation and market our services to referring physicians within the communities served by those hospitals. In
addition, our affiliated physicians work with our hospital partners to develop integrated services programs forff solutions
within the services we provide. Integrated programs provide our hospital partners and us with incremental growth
and result in a broader spectrum of care across our specialties and permit us to extend our patient service lines into
our existing markets. Our relationships with our hospital partners are continually evolving with the goal of being
viewed by them as a solutions provider across all of our specialties.

Under our contracts with hospitals, we have the responsibility to manage, in many cases exclusively, the
provision of physician services for hospiff tal-based units, such as NICUs, and other hospital settings. We typically are
responsible for billing patients and third-party payors forff services rendered by our affiff liated physicians separately
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from other related charges billed by the hospital or other physicians to the same payors. Some of our hospital contracts
require hospitals to pay us administrative feeff s. Some contracts provide for feesff if the hospital does not generate
sufficient patient volume in order to guarantee that we receive a specified minimum revenue level. We also receive
fees from hospitals for administrative services perforff med by our affiff liated physicians providing medical director
services at the hospital. Administrative feeff s accounted for approxia mately 14% of our net revenue for 2024. Some of
our contracts with hospitals require us to indemnify tff hem and their affiliates forff losses resulting froff m the negligence
of our affiliated physicians. Our hospital contracts typically have terms of one to three years which can be terminated
without cause by either party upou n prior written notice, and renew automatically for additional terms of one to three
years unless terminated early by any party. While we have in most cases been able to renew these arrangements,
hospitals may cancel or not renew our arrangements, or reduce or eliminate our administrative feeff s in the future.

Third-Party Payors

Our relationships with government-sponsored or funded healthcare programs (“GHC Programs”), including
Medicaid, and with managed care organizations and commercial health insurance payors are vital to our business. We
seek to maintain profesff sional working relationships with our third-party payors, streamline the administrative process
of billing and collection, and assist our patients and their families in understanding their health insurance coverage
and any balances due for co-payments, co-insurance, deductibles, or benefit limitations. In addition, through our
quality initiatives and continuing research and education efforts, we have sought to enhance clinical care provided to
patients, which we believe benefits third-party payors by contributing to improved patient outcomes and reduced long-
term health system costs.

We receive compensation for profff esff sional services provided by our affiff liated physicians to patients based
upon rates forff specific services provided, principally from third-party payors. Our billed charges are substantially the
same for all parties in a particular geographic area, regardless of the party responsible for paying the bill for our
services, but the payments we receive vary among payors. A significant portion of our net revenue is received from
GHC Programs, principally state Medicaid programs.

Medicaid programs, which are jointly fundeff d by the federal government and state governments, pay forff
medical and health-related services for certain categories of individuals and famff ilies generally who have low incomes
or disabia lities. Medicaid programs can be either standard fee-for-service payment programs or managed care programs
in which states have contracted with health insurance companies to run local or state-wide health plans with feaff tures
similar to health maintenance organizations. Our compensation rates under standard fee-for-service Medicaid
programs are establa ished by state governments and are not negotiated. Although Medicaid rates vary arr cross the states,
these rates are generally much lower in comparison to private-sector health plan rates. Rates under Medicaid managed
care programs typically are negotiated but are also generally much lower in comparison to private-sector health plan
rates.

The Patient Protection and Affoff rdable Care Act, as amended by the Health Care and Education
Reconciliation Act of 2010 (collectively, the “ACA”) allows states to expand their Medicaid programs to enroll more
individuals through federal payments that fundff most of the cost of increasing the Medicaid eligibility income limit
from a state’s historical eligibility levels to 133% of the fedff eral poverty level. As of December 31, 2024, 40 states and
the District of Columbia have expanded Medicaid eligibility to cover this additional low-income patient population
(including states that have adopted but not yet implemented expansion and those that are using an alternative approaa ch
to eligibility expansion) and other states are considering such expansion. All of the states in which we operate,
however, already cover children in the first year of life aff nd pregnant women if their household income is at or below
133% of the federalff poverty level, and some states offeff r expanded coverage, with state eligibility thresholds that may
range from 133% to 400% of the fedff eral poverty level based on a combination of fedff eral mandates and voluntary srr tate
expansions. In light of changes to the ACA, some of these states may eliminate, reduce or otherwise modify expanded
enrollment eligibility. See Item 1A. Risk Factors “State budgetary constraints and the uncertainty over the future of
Medicaid could have an adverse effecff t on our reimbursement from Medicaid programs” and “Potential healthcare
reform effortff s may have a significant effect on our business.”

In order to participate in GHC Programs, we and our affiff liated physician practices must comply with stringent
and often complex standards, including enrollment and reimbursement requirements. Different states also impose



14

varying standards forff their Medicaid programs. See “Government Regulation—Government Regulatory
Requirements.”

We also receive compensation pursuant to contracts with commercial payors that offer a wide variety of
health insurance products, such as health maintenance organizations, preferred provider organizations and exclusive
provider organizations that are subject to various state laws and regulations, as well as employer-sponsored coverage
subju ect to federal Employee Retirement Income Security Act (“ERISA”) requirements. We seek to secure mutually
agreeabla e contracts with payors that enable our affiff liated physicians to be listed as in-network participants within the
payors’ provider networks. We generally contract with commercial payors through our affiff liated professional
contractors. Subju ect to appa licable laws, rulr es and regulations, the terms, conditions and compensation rates of our
contracts with commercial third-party payors are negotiated and ofteff n vary arr cross markets and among payors. In some
cases, we contract with organizations that establa ish and maintain provider networks and then rent or lease such
networks to the actuat l payor. Our contracts with commercial payors typically provide for discounted fee-for-service
arrangements. Our contracts with commercial payors typically also grant each party the right to terminate the contracts
without cause upon pru ior written notice and various notice periods.

If we do not have a contractuat l relationship with a health insurance payor, we generally bill the payor our
full billed charges. If payment is less than billed charges, we bill the balance to the patient, subject to the requirements
of the No Surprises Act (“NSA”) and other federal and state laws regulating such billing, which Congress or states
may continue to enact. See Item 1A. Risk Factors – “Congress or states have, and may continue to, enact laws
restricting the amount out-of-network providers of services can charge and recover forff such services.” In addition,
these contracts generally give commercial payors the right to audit our billings and related reimbursements forff
profesff sional and other services provided by or through our affiff liated physicians.

Although we maintain standard billing and collections procedurd es with appropriate discounts forff prompt
payment, we also provide discounts in certain hardship situations where patients and their famff ilies do not have
financial resources necessary to pay the amount due for services rendered. Any amounts written off aff re based on the
specific facff ts and circumstances related to each individual patient account.

Referring and Collaborating Physicians

Our relationships with our referring and collabora ating physicians are critical to our success. Our affiliated
physicians seek to establa ish and maintain profesff sional relationships with referring physicians in the communities
where they practice. Because patient volumes in our NICUs are based in part on referrals from other physicians,
particularly obstetricians, it is important that we are responsive to the needs of referring physicians in the communities
in which we operate. We believe that our community presence, through our hospital coverage and outpatient clinics,
assists referring obstetricians, office-based pediatricians and family physicians with their practices. Our affiff liated
physicians provide comprehensive maternal-fetal, newborn and pediatric subspecialty care to patients using the latest
advances in methodologies, supporting the local referring physician community with 24-hours-a-day, seven-days-a-
week on-site or on-call coverage.

Affiff liated Physicians and Practice Groups

Our relationships with our affiff liated physicians are important. Our affiff liated physicians are organized in
traditional practice group structurt es. In accordance with appla icable state laws, our affiff liated practice groups are
responsible for the provision of medical care to patients. Our affiliated practice groups are separate legal entities
organized under state law as business corporr ations or profesff sional associations, professional corporations, limited
liabia lity companies and partnerships, which we sometimes referff to as our “affiliated professional contractors”. Each
of our affiff liated professional contractors is owned by a licensed physician affiliated with the Company through
employment or another contractuat l relationship. Our national infraff structurt e enables more effeff ctive and effiff cient
sharing of new discoveries and clinical outcomes data, including best demonstrated processes, access to our
sophisticated information systems, clinical research, and educd ation.

Our business corporations and affiliated profesff sional contractors employ or contract with physicians to
provide clinical services in certain states. In most of our affiff liated practice groups, each physician has entered into an
employment agreement with us or one of our affiff liated profesff sional contractors providing for a base salary and
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incentive bonus eligibility and typically having a term of three to five years. We are typically responsible for billing
patients and third-party payors on behalf of our affiff liated profesff sional contractors forff services rendered by our
affiff liated physicians and, with respect to services provided in a hospital, separately from other charges billed by
hospitals to the same payors. Each physician must hold a valid license to practice medicine in the state in which they
provide patient care and must become a member of the medical staff,ff with appropriate clinical privileges, at each
hospital at which they practice. Subsu tantially all the physicians employed by us or our affiff liated profesff sional
contractors have agreed not to compete within a specified geographic area durd ing employment and for a certain period
afteff r termination of employment. Although we believe that the non-competition covenants of our affiff liated physicians
are reasonable in scope and durd ation and thereforff e generally enforceabla e under appla icable state laws, we cannot predict
whether a court or arbitration panel would enforff ce these covenants in any particular case. See Item 1A. Risk Factors–
“A significant number of our affiff liated physicians or other clinicians could leave our affiff liated physician practices or
our affiff liated physician practices may be unable to enforce the non-competition covenants of departed physicians.”
Our hospital contracts also typically require that we and the physicians performing services maintain minimum levels
of profesff sional and general liabia lity insurance. We negotiate those policies and contract and pay the premiums forff
such insurance on behalf of the physicians.

Each of our affiff liated professional contractors has entered into a comprehensive management agreement with
a subsidiary of Pediatrix as the manager. Under the terms of these management agreements, and subju ect to state laws
and other regulations, the manager is typically paid forff its services based on the performance of the appla icable practice
group. See “Government Regulation—Fee Splitting; Corporate Practice of Medicine.”

COMPETITION

The physician services industry irr s highly fraff gmented. Competition in our business is generally based upon au
number of factff ors, including reputation, experience and level of care and our affiff liated physicians’ abia lity to provide
cost-effective, quality clinical care. The nature of competition for our hospiff tal-based practices differs significantly
from competition for our offf fiff ce-based practices. Our hospital-based practices compete nationally with other health
services companies and physician groups for hospital contracts and qualified physicians. In some instances, our
hospital-based physicians also compete on a regional or local basis. For example, our neonatologists compete for
referrals from local physicians and transports from surrounding hospitals. Our maternal-fetal medicine practices
compete for patients with other offiff ce-based practices in this specialty.

Hospitals control access to their NICUs by awarding contracts and hospital clinical privileges, and our
relationships with our hospital partners are critical to our operations. Because our operations consist primarily of
physician services provided within hospital-based units, we compete with others for contracts with hospitals to provide
services. We also compete with hospitals themselves to provide such services. Hospitals may employ neonatologists
directly or contract with other physician groups to provide services either on an exclusive or non-exclusive basis. A
hospital not otherwise competing with us may begin to do so by opening a new NICU or operating faciff lity, expanding
the capacity of an existing NICU, or, in the case of neonatal services, upgru ading the level of its existing NICU. If the
hospital chooses to do so, it may award the contract to operate the relevant faciff lity to a competing group or company
from within or outside the surrounding community. Our contracts with hospitals generally provide that they may be
terminated without cause uponu prior written notice.

The broader healthcare industry irr s also highly competitive. Companies in other segments of the industry asrr
well as healthcare-focused and other private equity firms, some of which have finff ancial and other resources greater
than ours, may become competitors in providing neonatal, maternal-fetal and other pediatric subspeu cialty care.

GOVERNMENT REGULATION

The healthcare industry irr s governed by a fraff mework of federal and state laws, rules and regulations that are
extensive and complex and forff which, in many cases, the industry hrr as the benefitff of only limited judicial and regulatory
interpretation. The resources and costs required to comply with these laws, rules and regulations are high. If we or one
of our affiff liated practice groups or service businesses is foundff to have violated these laws, rules or regulations, our
business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially, adversely affected. The ACA made
numerous changes that have reshaped the United States healthcare delivery srr ystem. Further healthcare reformff
continues to attract significant legislative and administrative interest, legal challenges, regulatory arr nd compliance
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requirements, new approaa ches and public attention that create uncertainty and the potential forff additional changes.
Healthcare reform implementation, additional legislation or regulations, and other changes in government policy or
regulation may affeff ct our reimbursement, restrict our existing operations, limit the expansion of our business or impose
additional compliance requirements and costs, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition, results of operations, cash floff ws and the trading price of our securities. See Item 1A. Risk Factors
“Potential healthcare reforff m efforts may have a significant effeff ct on our business.” Additional changes at the state

level, including changes in Medicaid Program administration, eligibility and coverage, as well as changes in the
regulatory frr raff mework governing the provision of telemedicine services, and other legal developments, could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash floff ws and the trading price of
our securities.

Licensing and Certification

Each state imposes licensing requirements on individual physicians and clinical profesff sionals, and on
facilities operated or utilized by healthcare companies like us. Many states require regulatory arr pprovaa l, including
certificates of need, beforff e establishing certain types of healthcare facilities, offeriff ng certain services or expending
amounts in excess of statutory thresholds for healthcare equipment, facilities or programs. We and our affiff liated
physicians are also required to meet applicable Medicare supplier requirements under federff al laws, rulr es and
regulations and Medicaid provider requirements under fedff eral and state laws, rulrr es and regulations.

Fee Splitting; Corporate Practice of Medicine

Many states have laws that limit business corpor rations, such as Pediatrix, froff m practicing medicine,
employing physicians to practice medicine, exercising control over medical decisions by physicians, or engaging in
certain arrangements, such as fee splitting, with physicians. In light of these restrictions, we operate by maintaining
long-term management contracts through our subsu idiaries with affiff liated professional contractors, which employ or
contract with physicians to provide profesff sional medical services. Under these arrangements, our manager subsidiaries
perform only non-medical administrative services, do not represent that they offerff medical services and do not exercise
influence or control over the practice of medicine by the physicians and other licensed health profesff sionals employed
by the affiliaff ted professional contractors. In states where feeff splitting with a business corporation or manager is
prohibited, the feeff s that are received froff m the affiff liated professional contractors have been establa ished on a basis that
we believe complies with applicable laws, including that the management feeff we receive is within fair market value
for the services that we provide. Although the relevant laws in these states have been subju ect to limited judicial and
regulatory irr nterprrr etation, we believe that we are in compliance with appla icable state laws in relation to the corporate
practice of medicine and fee splitting. However, regulatory arr uthorities or other parties, including our affiff liated
physicians, may assert that, despite these arrangements, we or our manager subsidiaries are engaged in the corporate
practice of medicine or that the contractuat l arrangements with the affiff liated profesff sional contractors constitutet
unlawful feeff splitting, in which case we or our affiff liated physicians could be subject to administrative, civil or criminal
remedies or penalties, the contracts could be foundff to be legally invalid and unenforceable, in whole or in part, or we
could be required to restrucr ture our contractuat l arrangements with our affiff liated profesff sional contractors.

Fraud and Abuse Provisions

Existing federal laws, as well as similar state laws, governing Medicare, Medicaid, other GHC Programs and
other non-governmental arrangements and interactions, impose a variety of fraff ud and abusa e prohibitions on healthcare
companies like us. These laws are interpreted broadly and enforff ced aggressively by multiple government agencies,
including the Office of Inspector General of the Department of Health and Human Services (“OIG”), the Department
of Justice (“DOJ”), Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Service (“CMS”), and various state agencies.

Federal and state fraff ud and abusa e laws appla y to and affeff ct our financial relationships and other ordinary and
common business interactions with hospitals, referff ring physicians and other healthcare entities. In particular, the
federal Anti-Kickbak ck Statutt e makes it a crime to knowingly and willfulff ly solicit, receive, offer,ff or pay any
remuneration, in cash or in kind, directly or indirectly, in returt n forff either referring items or services for which payment
may be made in whole or in part by a GHC Program or purchasing, leasing, ordering, or arranging for or
recommending the purchase, lease, or ordering of any service or item forff which payment may be made in whole or in
part by a GHC Program. In addition, the federff al Physician Self-Referff ral law, commonly known as the “Stark Law,”
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is a strict liabia lity statutt e that prohibits a physician froff m making a referral to an entity forff certain “designated health
services” payable by Medicare if the physician, or an immediate family member of the physician, has a financial
relationship with that entity, unless an exception appla ies. The entity is furff ther prohibited froff m billing the Medicare
program for designated health services furniff shed pursuant to a prohibited referral. The term “designated health
services” includes, among other things, inpatient and outpatient hospital services, home health services, and clinical
labora atory srr ervices. Further, the Stark Law, through the addition of section 1903(s) to the Social Security Act, prohibits
the federff al government from making federff al financial participation payments to state Medicaid programs forff
designated health services furnished as a result of a referff ral that would violate the Stark Law if Medicare “covered the
service to the same extent and under the same terms and conditions” as the state Medicaid Program. The DOJ and
several state agencies have successfulff ly argued that Section 1903(s) expands the Stark Law to Medicaid-covered
claims, even absa ent a separate state self-referral law prohibiting the same conduct. These laws have been broadly
interpreted by federal coff urts and agencies, and potentially subject many healthcare business arrangements to
government investigation, enforcement and prosecution, which can be costly and time consuming, even if the business
is ultimately found not to be in violation of any applicable law. Additionally, many of the states in which we operate
also have similar anti-kickbakk ck and self-referral laws that appla y to our government and non-government business,
including in some cases, to patient self-pff ay services.

Violations of these laws are punishable by subsu tantial penalties and other remedies, including monetary fines,
civil penalties, administrative remedies, criminal sanctions (in the case of the federal anti-kickbak ck statutt e and certain
state anti-kickbak ck laws), exclusion froff m participation in GHC Programs and forfeiture of amounts collected in
violation of such laws. The government may also assert that a claim to a GHC Program for covered items or services
resulting from a violation of the federal Anti-Kickbak ck Statute constitutes a false or fraff udulent claim for purposr es of
the fedff eral civil False Claims Act (“FCA”).

There are a variety of other types of federal anff d state fraud and abusa e laws, including laws authorizing the
imposition of criminal, civil and administrative penalties forff submu itting falff se or fraudulent claims for reimbursement
to GHC Programs. These laws include the FCA, which prohibits knowingly presenting, or causing to be presented,
false claims to GHC Programs, including Medicare, Medicaid, TRICARE (the program for military dependents and
retirees), the Federal Employees Health Benefits Program, and insurance plans purchased through the ACA insurance
exchanges where payments include federal fundsff . The FCA also makes the knowing retention of an identifiedff
overpayment from a GHC Program a separate basis for FCA liabia lity. Substantial civil fines and treble damages, along
with other remedies, including exclusion froff m GHC Programs, can be imposed for violating the FCA. Furthermore,
the FCA does not require that the individual or company that presented or caused to be presented an allegedly falff se
claim have actuat l knowledge of its falff sity. The statute appla ies where the individual or company acted in “reckless
disregard” or in “deliberate ignorance” of the trutrr h or falff sity of the claim. The FCA includes “whistleblower”
provisions that permit private citizens to sue a claimant on behalf of the government and share in the amounts
recovered under the law. In recent years, many cases have been brought against healthcare companies by the
government and by “whistleblowers,” which have resulted in judgments and settlements involving subsu tantial
payments to the government by the companies involved. The cost to defend against allegations, even when the
government declines to intervene, can be substantial.

In addition, the Civil Monetary Penalties Law imposes subsu tantial civil monetary penalties against a person
or entity that engages in other prohibited activities, such as presenting or causing to be presented a claim to a GHC
Program that the person knows or should know is for an item or service that was not provided as claimed or for a
claim that is falff se or fraudulent, or providing remuneration to a GHC Program beneficiary trr hat the person or entity
knows or should know is likely to influff ence the beneficff iary’s selection of a particular provider, practitioner or supplier.
For additional information regarding the healthcare fraff ud and abua se laws described abovea , see Item 1A. Risk Factors–“
The healthcare industry irr s highly regulated, and government authorities may determine that we have faiff led to comply
with applicable laws, rulr es or regulations.”

If we or our affiff liated professional contractors were excluded froff m participation in any GHC Programs, not
only would we be prohibited froff m submitting claims forff reimbursement under such programs, but we also would be
unable to contract with other healthcare providers, such as hospitals, to provide services to them. It could also
adversely affect our or our affiff liated profesff sional contractors’ ability to contract with, or obtain payment from, non-
governmental payors.
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Although we intend to conduct our business in compliance with all appla icable federal and state fraff ud and
abuse laws, many of the laws, rules and regulations applicable to us, including those relating to billing and those
relating to financial relationships with physicians and hospitals, are broadly worded and may be interprr eted or applied
by prosecutorial, regulatory orr r judicial authorities in ways that we cannot predict. Accordingly, we cannot assure you
that our arrangements or business practices will not be subju ect to government scrutiny or be alleged or foundff to violate
applicable fraud and abuse laws. If there is a determination by a government authority that we have not complied with
any of these laws, rulr es and regulations, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially,
adversely affected. See “Government Investigations.” Additionally, fedff eral and state fraud and abusa e laws, rules and
regulations are not static and amendments, clarifications, revisions, or other modifications to these laws may occur
from time to time. For instance, on December 2, 2020, both CMS and the OIG published Final Rules substantially
modifying the Anti-Kickbak ck Statute, Civil Monetary Penalty Law, and the Stark Law regulations to foster
arrangements that would promote care coordination, advance the delivery of value-based care, and protect consumers
from harms caused by fraff ud and abusa e. Changes refleff cted in OIG and CMS’s Final Rules could affect our operations
and may cause us to modify certain arrangements, transactions, or other financial relationships. In addition, CMS and
OIG periodically issue Advisory Opinions in response to requests froff m industry srr takeholders regarding proposed
arrangements and whether such arrangements comply with appla icable fraud and abusa e laws. While Advisory Opinions
are only directly applicable to the requestor of the opinion, they provide notice to healthcare industry prr articipants of
the types of conduct that government agencies find to be permissible or impermissible under the applicable laws. OIG
also releases Special Advisory Bulletins to put industry srr takeholders on notice of the agency’s views on common
practices within industry srr egments that it finff ds to be violative of the Anti-Kickbakk ck Statutt e, and potentially other laws.
These agency advisories, along with publicized litigation and enforcement actions, could cause us to modify certain
arrangements, transactions, or other financial relationships, which could affect our operations and impact our financial
performance.

Government Regulatory Requirements

In order to participate in the Medicare program and the various state specific Medicaid programs, we and our
affiff liated physician practices must comply with stringent and often complex regulatory rrr equirements. While our
compliance program requires that we and our affiff liated physician practices adhere to the laws, rules and regulations
applicable to the government programs in which we participate, our failure to comply with these laws, rules and
regulations could negatively affecff t our business, financial condition and results of operations. See “Government
Regulation—Fraud and Abuse Provisions,” “Government Regulation—Compliance Program,” “Government
Investigations” and “Other Legal Proceedings,” and Item 1A. Risk Factors — “Government-funded programs, private
insurers or state laws and regulations may limit, reducd e or make retroactive adjustments to reimbursement amounts or
rates,” “We may become subject to billing investigations by federal and state government authorities and private
insurers” and “The healthcare industry irr s highly regulated, and government authorities may determine that we have
failed to comply with applicable laws, rulrr es or regulations.”

In addition, GHC Programs are subju ect to statutory arr nd regulatory crr hanges, administrative rulr ings,
interpretations and determinations, manual guidance, requirements for utff ilization review and new governmental
funding restrictions, all of which may materially increase or decrease program payments, as well as affect the cost of
providing services and the timing of payments to providers. Moreover, because GHC Programs generally provide for
reimbursement on a feeff -scheduld e, per-service or per-discharge basis rather than on a charge-related basis, we generally
cannot increase our revenue through increases in the amount we charge for our services. To the extent our costs
increase, we may not be able to recover our increased costs froff m these programs, and cost containment measures and
market changes in non-governmental insurance plans have generally restricted our ability to recover or shift these
increased costs to non-governmental payors. In addition, the healthcare industry irr s increasing the use of value-based
reimbursement methodologies and accordingly, our reimbursement may be dependent upon our ability to achieve
quality targets that change year over year. See Item 1A. Risk Factors – “Potential healthcare reform effortff s may have
a significant effeff ct on our business.” In attempts to limit federal and state spending, there have been, and we expect
that there will continue to be, a number of proposals to limit or reduce Medicare and Medicaid reimbursement for
various services. Our business may be significantly and adversely affected by any such changes in reimbursement
policies and other legislative initiatives aimed at reducd ing healthcare costs associated with Medicare, Medicaid and
other GHC Programs.
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Our business also could be adversely affecff ted by reducd tions in or limitations of funding of GHC Programs
or restrictions on or elimination of coverage for certain individuals or treatments under these programs.

Antitrust

The healthcare industry irr s subject to close antitrusr t scrutr iny. The Federal Trade Commission (“FTC”), the
Antitrusrr t Division of the DOJ and state Attorneys General all actively review and, in some cases, take enforcement
action against business conduct and acquisitions in the healthcare industry.rr Private parties harmed by alleged
anticompetitive conduct can also bring antitrusr t suits. Violations of antitrusrr t laws may be punishable by subsu tantial
penalties, including significant monetary fines, civil penalties, criminal sanctions, consent decrees and injunctions
prohibiting certain activities or requiring divestiture or discontinuance of business operations. Any of these penalties
could have a material adverse effecff t on our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash floff ws and the
trading price of our securities.

HIPAA and Other Privacy, Security and Breach Notification Laws

Numerous federal and state laws, rules and regulations govern the collection, dissemination, use, privacy,
security and confidff entiality of personal information. For example, the Health Insurance Portabia lity and Accountability
Act of 1996, as amended, and its implementing regulations (collectively, “HIPAA”) impose requirements to protect
the privacy and security of protected health information (“PHI”) and to provide notification in the event of a breach
of PHI. Violations of HIPAA are punishable by civil money penalties and, in some cases, criminal penalties and
imprisonment. The U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (“HHS”) Offiff ce for Civil Rights (“OCR”), which
is responsible for enforcing HIPAA, also may enter into resolution agreements requiring the payment of a civil money
penalty and/or the establishment of a corrective action plan to address violations of HIPAA. HIPAA also authorizes
state attorneys general to filff e suit under HIPAA on behalf of state residents. Courts can award damages, costs and
attorneys' fees related to violations of HIPAA in such cases. As part of our business operations, including in connection
with medical record keeping, third-party billing, research and other services, we and our affiff liated physician practices
collect and maintain PHI regarding patients, which subjects us to compliance with HIPAA requirements.

Pursuant to HIPAA, HHS has adopted privacy regulations, knowk n as the privacy rulr e, to govern the use and
disclosure of PHI (the “Privacy RulRR e”). The Privacy Rule applies to “Covered Entities,” which are health plans, health
care clearinghouses, and health care providers that engage in standardized transactions under HIPAA, and “Business
Associates,” which are entities that perform functions or services for or on behalf of Covered Entities that involve the
use or disclosure of PHI. The term “Business Associate” also includes “Subcontu ractors,” which are any entity to
which a Business Associate delegates any funcff tion, activity or service, other than in the capacity of a member of that
Business Associate’s workforce. PHI is broadly definff ed as any individually identifiabla e health information
transmitted or maintained in any form, including electronic, paper or oral. As a general rule, a Covered Entity or
Business Associate may not use or disclose PHI except as permitted under the Privacy Rule. We have implemented
privacy policies and procedurd es, including training programs, and signed Business Associate Agreements, designed
to comply with the requirements of HIPAA and the Privacy Rule.

HHS has also adopted data security regulations (the “Security Rule”) that require Covered Entities and
Business Associates to implement administrative, physical and technical safeguards to protect the integrity,
confidff entiality and availabia lity of PHI that is electronically created, received, maintained or transmitted (such as
between us and our affiff liated physician practices). We have implemented security policies, procedurd es and systems,
including training programs, designed to comply with the requirements set forth in the Security Rule.

In addition, in 2009, Congress enacted the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health
(“HITECH”) Act as part of the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act. Among other changes to the laws
governing PHI, HITECH required OCR to strengthen and expand HIPAA requirements, increase penalties for
violations, give patients new rights to restrict uses and disclosures of their PHI, and impose a number of privacy and
security requirements directly on Business Associates. A Covered Entity can also be held liabla e for violff ations of
HIPAA resulting from the acts or omissions of any Business Associate acting as its agent.

Under HIPAA, as amended by regulations promulgated pursuant to HITECH, Covered Entities are required
to report any unauthorized use or disclosure of PHI that meets the definition of a breach to affeff cted individuals, HHS
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and, depending on the number of affected individuals, the media forff the affected market. In addition, HIPAA requires
Business Associates to report breaches of PHI relating to a particular Covered Entity to that Covered Entity. HITECH
further authorizes state Attorneys General to bring civil actions in response to violations of HIPAA that threaten the
privacy of state residents. We have adopted breach notification policies and procedurd es designed to comply with the
applicable requirements set forth in HIPAA, as amended by HITECH.

Numerous state and certain other federal laws are designed to protect the privacy and security of health
information and other personal inforff mation, including but not limited to state medical privacy laws, state laws
protecting personal information, state data breach notification laws, state genetic privacy laws, human subju ects
research laws and federalff and state consumer protection laws. These additional federal anff d state privacy and security-
related laws may be more restrictive than HIPAA and could impose additional compliance obligations. For example,
the Federal Trade Commission uses its consumer protection authority under Section 5 of the Federal Trade Act to
initiate enforcement actions in response to alleged privacy and security violations as well as data breaches. The
Californiff a Consumer Privacy Act (“CCPA”), which went into effeff ct on January 1, 2020, among other things, created
new data privacy obligations for covered companies and provides new privacy rights to Californiff a residents. The
CCPA also created a private right of action with statutort y drr amages for certain data breaches, thereby potentially
increasing risks associated with a data breach. Californiff a recently amended and expanded CCPA through another
ballot initiative, the Californiff a Privacy Rights Act (“CPRA”), passed on November 3, 2020 and made effective as of
January 1, 2023. The CPRA aRR lso created a new agency, the Californiff a Privacy Protection Agency (“CPPA”), which
is authorized to issue substantive regulations and has resulted in increased privacy and information security
enforcement. The CCPA regulations also impose proscriptive requirements on businesses regarding how to properly
demonstrate compliance with the law's requirements. The CPRA pRR rovides even greater rights to consumers with
respect to their data, such as the right to correction, data portabia lity, access to information about proca essing and
profilinff g activities, and opt-out rights. Although there are limited exemptions for PHI and the CCPA's implementation
standards and enforcement practices are likely to remain uncertain for the foreseeable future, the CCPA may increase
our compliance costs and potential liabia lity. Laws similar to the CCPA have passed or have been proposed in several
other states and also have been proposed at the fedff eral level. To the extent these laws apply to our operations, they
may ultimately have confliff cting requirements that would furff ther complicate compliance. Further, new health
information standards, whether implemented pursuant to HIPAA, congressional action or otherwise, could have a
significant effeff ct on the manner in which we handle health-related information, and the cost of complying with these
standards could be significant. While these new laws generally include exemptions for HIPAA-covered data, they add
layers of complexity to compliance in the U.S. market, and could increase our compliance costs and adversely affect
our business.

In addition, industry grr roups such as the payment card industry hrr ave developed self-regulatory grr uidelines for
privacy and data security. In order to accept payments froff m payment cards through a third-party vendor, merchants
must use payment card processing appa lications that have been validated under the Payment Application Data Security
Standard (“PA-DSS”), and complete a self-assessment questionnaire that complies with the Payment Card Indusd try
Data Security Standard (“PCI-DSS”). Failure to comply with PA-DSS and PCI-DSS may result in finff es and penalties
imposed by payment card brands, and/odd r termination of the merchant’s relationship with the bank it relies on to process
payment card payments.

Additional states have passed privacy legislation or have indicated an intent to propose such legislation,
particularly in light of the United States Supreme Court’s decision inDobbs v. Jackson Women’s H’ eaHH lth Ott rganizaii tion,
which overturnedt Roe v. WadeWW and eliminated the constitutional right to abortion in the United States. In the wake of
the Dobbs decision, there has been significant attention on the collection, use and disclosure of health information.
For instance, on April 22, 2024, OCR issued a Final Rule, HIPAA PrII ivacy Rc ule to SupporSS t Reproductive Health Care
Privacy, which is intended to strengthen the Privacy Rule by prohibiting the disclosure of PHI related to lawful
reproductive health care in certain circumstances. Additionally, the state of Washington passed the “My Health My
Data Act” with respect to “consumer health data” which is defined as “personal information that is linked or reasonably
linkable to a consumer and that identifies a consumer’s past, present, or futurff e physical or mental health” and which
went into effeff ct in 2024 with additional privacy rights and compliance obligations. The Federal government has also
responded by instrucrr ting federalff agencies, such as the OCR and FTC, to use their existing authority to provide greater
protections for consumers with respect to the use of their data, and more specifically, their health data. OCR released
a bulletin in December 2022 titled “HIPAA Guidance on Use of Tracking Technologies” which expanded commonly
understood interpretations of “individually identifiabla e health information” and placed limitations on covered entities
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and business associates’ use of online tracking technologies and related vendor engagements. Additionally, the FTC
has been active with respect to enforcement of its Health Breach Notification RulRR e and in scrutinizing the use and
disclosure of sensitive personal information. The FTC also finalized changes to the Health Breach Notification RuleRR
in April 2024. We expect continued scrutrr iny by fedff eral and state regulators, business partners, and consumers on our
collection, use and disclosure of health information. This is of even greater significance with respect to our women’s
health services and treatment of pregnant women. We expect to incur additional costs to ensure that our data privacy
and security policies, procedurd es, and activities comply with appla icable and evolving legal requirements.

These requirements are also subju ect to change. On December 10, 2020, OCR issued proposed revisions to
the Privacy Rule aimed at reducd ing regulatory brr urdens that may exist in discouraging coordination of care, including
creating an exception to the minimum necessary standard for healthcare coordination, and other proposals to increase
patient access to their health information, among other changes. While a finff al rule has not yet been issued, if adopted,
these proposed changes may require us to update our HIPAA policies and procedurd es to comply with the new
requirements. Compliance with new privacy, security, and breach notification laws, regulations, requirements and
self-reff gulatory grr uidelines may result in increased operating costs and may constrain or require us to alter our business
model or operations. For example, changes to HIPAA promulgated pursuant to HITECH furff ther restricted our abia lity
to collect, disclose and use PHI and imposed additional compliance requirements on us.

Although we currently maintain liability insurance coverage intended to cover cyber liabia lity and certain
other privacy and security breach-related claims, we cannot ensure that our insurance coverage will be adequate to
cover liabia lities arising out of claims asserted against us in the future where the outcomes of such claims are
unfavff orable to us. Liabia lities in excess of our insurance coverage, including coverage for cyber liabia lity and certain
other privacy and security breach-related claims, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition, results of operations, cash floff ws and the trading price of our securities.

See also Item 1A. Risk Factors–“Information Systems, Cybersecurity and Data Privacy Risks” and Item 1C.
Cybersecurity for additional inforff mation.

HIPAA Transaction Requirements

In addition to privacy, security, and breach notificff ations requirements, HIPAA establishes uniform electronic
data transmission standards that all healthcare providers must use forff electronic healthcare transactions. For example,
claims for reimbursement that are transmitted electronically to third-party payors must comply with specificff
formatting standards, and these standards appla y whether the payor is a government or a private entity. We report
medical diagnoses under International Classificff ation of Diseases, 10th Edition (“ICD-10”). If claims are not reported
properly under ICD-10 dued to technical or coding errors or other implementation issues involving systems, including
ours and those of our third-party payors, there can be a delay in the processing and payment of such claims, or a denial
of such claims, which could have a material adverse effecff t on our business, financial condition, results of operations,
cash floff ws and the trading price of our securities.

Compliance Program

We maintain a compliance program that is designed to include the OIG’s seven fundaff mental elements of an
effeff ctive compliance program and which reflects our commitment to complying with all laws, rulrr es and regulations
applicable to our business and that meets our ethical obligations in conducting our business (the “Compliance
Program”). We believe our Compliance Program provides a solid framework to meet this commitment and our
obligations as a provider of healthcare services, including:

• a Chief Compliance Officer who reports to our Board of Directors on a regular basis;

• a Compliance Committee consisting of our senior executives;

• a forff mal internal audit funcff tion, including an Associate Vice President of Internal Audit who reports to the
Audit Committee on a regular basis;
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• ourCode of Conduct, which is applicable to our employees, independent contractors, offiff cers and directors;

• our Code of Profesff sional Conduct – Finance, which is applicable to our finance personnel, including our
Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Offiff cer and Chief Accounting Officer;

• a disclosure program that includes a mechanism to enable individuals to disclose on a confidff ential or
anonymous basis to the Chief Compliance Officff er or any person who is not in the disclosing individual’s
chain of command, issues or questions believed by the individual to be a potential violation of criminal,
civil, or administrative laws or of company policies or procedurd es;

• an organizational strucrr ture designed to integrate our compliance objectives into our corporate offices,
regions and practices; and

• educd ation, monitoring and corrective action programs designed to establish methods to promote the
understanding of our Compliance Program and adherence to its requirements.

The foundaff tion of our Compliance Program is our Code of Conduct, which is intended to be a comprehensive
statement of the ethical and legal standards governing the daily activities of our employees, affiliated professionals,
independent contractors, offiff cers and directors. All of our personnel are required to abide by,a and are given thorough
educd ation regarding, our Code of Conduct. In addition, all employees and affilff iated professionals are expected to
report incidents that they believe in good faith may be in violation of our Code of Conduct. We maintain a toll-free
helpline to permit individuals to report compliance concerns on an anonymous or confidff ential basis, and to obtain
answers to questions about our Code of Conduct. Our Compliance Program, including our Code of Conduct, is
administered by our Chief Compliance Officer with oversight by our Chief Executive Officer, Compliance Committee
and Board of Directors. Copies of our Code of Conduct and our Code of Profesff sional Conduct – Finance are availablea
on our website, www.Pediatrix.com. Our website and the information contained therein or connected thereto are not
incorporated into or deemed a part of this Form 10-K. Any amendments or waivers to our Code of Profesff sional
Conduct – Finance will be promptly disclosed on our website folff lowing the date of any such amendment or waiver.

GOVERNMENT INVESTIGATIONS

We expect that audits, inquiries and investigations from government authorities, agencies, contractors and
payors will occur in the ordinary course of business. Such audits, inquiries and investigations and their ultimate
resolutions, individually or in the aggregate, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition,
results of operations, cash floff ws and the trading price of our securities.

OTHER LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

In the ordinary crr ourse of our business, we become involved in pending and threatened legal actions and
proceedings, most of which involve claims of medical malpractice related to medical services provided by our
affiff liated physicians. Our contracts with hospitals generally require us to indemnify tff hem and their affiliates forff losses
resulting from the negligence of our affiff liated physicians and other clinicians. We may also become subju ect to other
lawsuits, including with payors or other counterparr rties that could involve large claims and significant defense costs.
We believe, based uponu a review of pending actions and proceedings, that the outcome of such legal actions and
proceedings will not have a material adverse effecff t on our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash
flows and the trading price of our securities. The outcome of such actions and proceedings, however, cannot be
predicted with certainty and an unfavff orable resolution of one or more of them could have a material adverse effect on
our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash floff ws and the trading price of our securities.

Although we currently maintain liabia lity insurance coverage intended to cover professional liabia lity and
certain other claims, we cannot ensure that our insurance coverage will be adequate to cover liabia lities arising out of
claims asserted against us in the future where the outcomes of such claims are unfavff orable to us. With respect to
profesff sional liabia lity risk, we self-insure a significant portion of this risk through our wholly owned captive insurance
subsu idiary. Liabia lities in excess of our insurance coverage, including coverage for professional liabia lity and certain
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other claims, could have a material adverse effecff t on our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash
flows and the trading price of our securities. See “Profesff sional and General Liabia lity Coverage.”

PROFESSIONAL AND GENERALRR LIABILITY COVERAGERR

We maintain profesff sional and general liabia lity insurance policies with third-party insurers generally on a
claims-made basis, subject to deducd tibles, self-iff nsured retention limits, policy aggregates, exclusions, and other
restrictions, in accordance with standard industry prr ractice. We believe that our insurance coverage is appropriate based
upon our claims experience and the nature and risks of our business. However, we cannot predict whether any pending
or future claim would be successful or, if successfulff , would not exceed the limits of availabla e insurance coverage.

Our business entails an inherent risk of claims of medical malpractice against our affiff liated physicians,
clinicians and us. We contract and pay premiums for professional liabia lity insurance that indemnifies us and our
affiff liated healthcare profesff sionals generally on a claims-made basis for losses incurred related to medical malpractice
litigation. Profesff sional liabia lity coverage is required in order for our affiff liated physicians to maintain hospital
privileges. Our self-insured retention under our profesff sional liabia lity insurance program is maintained primarily
through a wholly owned captive insurance subsidiary. We record estimates in our Consolidated Financial Statements
for our liabilities forff self-iff nsured retention amounts and claims incurred but not reported based on an actuarial
valuation using historical loss information, claim emergence patterns and various actuat rial assumptions. Liabia lities
for claims incurred but not reported are not discounted. Because many factors can affeff ct historical and futurff e loss
patterns, the determination of an appropra iate reserve involves complex, subjective judgment, and actuat l results may
vary significantly from estimates. If the self-insured retention amounts and other amounts that we are actuat lly required
to pay materially exceed the estimates that have been reserved, our financial condition, results of operations and cash
flows could be materially, adversely affected.

HUMAN CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

We believe our affiff liated physicians, other clinical profesff sionals and administrative employees are key to our
success. As of December 31, 2024, we had approxia mately 2,335 practicing physicians affiff liated with us, and we
employed or contracted with approximately 1,970 other clinical profesff sionals and approxia mately 2,150 other fulff l-time
and part-time employees. Our affiff liated physicians and clinicians provide critical medical care through several
women’s and children’s healthcare services across 36 states, providing care to the most vulnerabla e patient population
in the country: expecting mothers and their newborns and children.

We believe that the success of our mission to “Take great care of the patient, every day and in every wrr ayTM”
is realized by the engagement and empowerment of our affiff liated physicians, other clinicians and administrative
employees. Our executive team, including our Senior Vice President of People Services, is responsible for developing
and executing our human capia tal strategy. This includes the attraction, acquisition, development, engagement,
compensation and retention of talent. Our People Services team reports to our Chief Executive Officer and regularly
engages with our Chief Executive Offiff cer and board of directors and its compensation and talent committee. Our
People Services team is a core administrative support funff ction of Pediatrix. Through its funcff tional experts, our People
Services team provides support, guidance and consultation in the areas of talent acquisition, employee wellness and
safety programs, workplk ace policies and procedurd es, training and development and rewards strategies that include
compensation, benefits and other rewards. It is the goal of the People Services team to supporu t the needs of our
organization and our workforce while serving as a trusr ted strategic partner to our management team.

We work together to make sound decisions for all of our operations teams and affiff liated physician practices.
Physicians spend years of their lives learning and training in the science of medicine in order to bring their knowledge
and skill to the bedside of a patient. It is an art, honed through repeated patient interactions, that allows any clinician
to translate science into compassionate care forff our patients. But healthcare is also our business, so we must also take
great care of the business. This requires us to work every day to put tools into the hands of our affiff liated physicians
and other clinical profesff sionals so they can deliver high quality care to our patients.
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Trainingii and Leadership Developmll ent

We are committed to the continued development of our people and believe in fosff tering great leaders. Our
Training and Development team is committed to providing an environment that fosff ters both individual and
organizational development. Through its various training and educational programs, the training and development
team supporu ts the organization’s commitment to excellence and its mission to “Take great care of the patient, every
day and in every wrr ayTM”. We make availabla e a catalog of over 11,000 courses to all audiences across subjects
including business skills, leadership and management, offiff ce productivity, health and wellness and personal
development, among others. The courses are designed to develop great people who become great leaders that will
ultimately shape a great company. Our training materials were enhanced with additional resources to supporu t remote
work environments that have remained a valuable alternative forff many of our employees.

One of the greatest predictors of success in our partnerships at the hospital and health system level is a high
degree of strategic alignment between our clinical leadership and our partners. This requires that our clinicians have
a skill set beyond just the practice of medicine.

Compliance Program and TraTT ining

Fundamental to our core values are people and a culture of integrity. Our Compliance Department is led by
our Chief Compliance Officer. The Compliance Program is supporu ted by a written Compliance Plan, which details
the components, organizational strucr ture and operational aspects of the Compliance Program. Although the
Compliance Program is supporu ted by numerous operational policies and procedurd es, there are some key elements that
are critical to its success. These include a Compliance Committee; a written Code of Conduct; new hire and periodic
compliance training for all employees; compliance reporting mechanisms; and periodic reports to our board of
directors. Participation and completion of annual compliance training is a condition of employment forff all employees.

Healthll and WelWW l-ll Be- ing

We care abouta the health and well-being of our affiff liated clinicians, other clinical profesff sionals and our
administrative employees and their families and are committed to their health, safetff y and wellness. We supporu t all of
our colleagues in encouraging habits of wellness, increased awareness of factors and resources that contribute to
overall well-being and inspire individuals to take responsibility for their own health. When individuals take great care
of themselves, we can continue to take great care of our patients and take great care of our business.

We provide all our colleagues access to an Employee Assistance Program (“EAP”) that offers free and
confidff ential assessments, short-term counseling, referrals, and follow-up services to employees who have personal
and/or work-related problems. Our EAP addresses a broad and complex body of issues affeff cting mental and emotional
well-being, such as alcohol and other subsu tance abusa e, stress, grief, fff amff ily problems, and psychological disorders.
EAP counselors also work in a consultative role with managers and supervisors to address employee and
organizational challenges and needs. The EAP is designed to help our colleagues lead happier and more productive
lives at home and at work. Our EAP services are availabla e to all eligible employees, their spouses or domestic partners,
dependent children, parents and parents-in-law. We encourage all of our employees and their family members to make
full use of this resource which is designed to help maintain high employee productivity, health, and well-being in all
aspects of life.ff

Total Rewards: CompeCC nsatiott n and Benefie tsii

We value our colleagues’ contributions to our success and strive to provide all of our colleagues with a
competitive and comprehensive total rewards package. This includes robust compensation and benefits programs to
help meet the needs of our affiff liated physicians, other clinical profesff sionals and administrative employees.

We take great care to ensure that our cash-based compensation packages are refleff ctive of the market value
for the work that our colleagues perform. We also understand that providing a comprehensive suite of employee
benefits is essential to attracting, retaining and engaging world-class employees. Therefore, we regularly evaluate our
benefit offerings to be sure we fully supporu t our employees. In addition to base salaries, these offerings may include
a combination of annual bonuses, stock-based compensation awards, an Employee Stock Purchase Plan, a 401(k) Plan,
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healthcare and insurance benefitsff , health savings and fleff xible spending accounts, paid time off, faff mily leave, fertility
benefits, and employee assistance programs, among many others.

GEOGRAPHIC COVERAGE

We provide physician services across 36 states. During 2024, approximately 67% of our net revenue was
generated by operations in our five largest states. Our operations in Texas accounted for approxia mately 32% of our
net revenue for the same period. Although we continue to seek to diversify tff he geographic scope of our operations,
we may not be able to implement successfulff ly or realize the expected benefits of any of these initiatives. Adverse
changes or conditions affeff cting states in which our operations are concentrated, such as healthcare reforff ms, changes
in laws, rulr es and regulations, reducd ed Medicaid reimbursements, an increase in the income level required to qualify
for government healthcare programs or government investigations, may have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition, results of operations, cash floff ws and the trading price of our securities.

SERVICE MARKS

We have registered with the United States Patent and Trademark Office the service marks “Pediatrix Medical
Group and Design,” “Obstetrix Medical Group and Design,” “BabySteps,” the “Babya Design,” “iNewborn,” and
“NEO Conference anff d Design,” among others.

AVAILABLE INFORMATION

Our annual proxy statements, annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports
on Form 8-K and amendments to those statements and reports filed or furniff shed pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 are available free of charge and may be printed out through our internet website,
www.Pediatrix.com, as soon as reasonably practicable afteff r we electronically file such material with, or furff nish it to,
the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). Our proxy statements and reports may also be obtained directly
from the SEC's Internet website at www.sec.gov. Our internet website and the information contained therein or
connected thereto are not incorporated into or deemed a part of this Form 10-K.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

Our business is sii ubject to a number of fo acff tors that could materially affeff ct future developmo ents and
perforff mance. In addition to facff tors affeff cting our business that hatt ve been described elsewhere in this Form 10-K, any
of the folff lowing risks ckk ould have a material adverserr effeff ct on our business, financial condition, results ott f oo peo rations,
cash flows and the trading price of oo ur securities. Addidd tional riskii s akk nd uncertainties not presently kll nowkk n to us or that
we currently deem immaterial alsoll may ia mpair our business opeo rations. We mWW ay update these risk factors irr n our
periodic and other filinff gs with the SEC.SS

The folff lowing is a summary of the principal risk factors described in this section:

• Economic conditions could have an adverse effecff t on our business.
• The birth rate in the United States has declined in past years and may decline furff ther.
• Unfavorable changes or conditions could occur in the states where our operations are concentrated.
• Potential healthcare reform effortff s may have a significant effeff ct on our business.
• COVID-19 necessitated the delivery of certain healthcare services remotely via telehealth, which is subju ect

to extensive federff al and state regulation, as well as temporary wrr aivers tied to the COVID-19 public health
emergency, and certain flexibilities affordff ed to the provision and reimbursement of telehealth may be rolled
back.

• The Medicare Access and CHIP Reauthorization Act of 2015 (“MACRA”) and potential changes to it may
have an adverse effect on our business.

• The Transparency in Coverage Final RulRR e, which requires certain health plans and issuers to publish pricing
information on in-network and out-of-network providers and make price comparison and cost-sharing
information availabla e to insureds, could have a material impact on our business.

• State budgetary constraints and the uncertainty over the future of Medicaid could have an adverse effecff t on
our reimbursement from Medicaid programs.

• Congress or states have, and may continue to, enact surprise billing or other laws restricting the amount out-
of-nff etwork providers of services can charge and recover forff such services.

• Expanding eligibility of GHC Programs could adversely affect our reimbursement.
• Government-funded programs, private insurers, or state laws and regulations may limit, reduce, or make

retroactive adjustments to reimbursement amounts or rates.
• We may become subject to billing investigations by federal and state government authorities and private

insurers.
• The healthcare industry irr s highly regulated and government authorities may determine that we have faiff led to

comply with applicable laws, rulr es or regulations.
• We undertook a transformation of our revenue cycle management funcff tion froff m an outsourced provider to a

hybrid function that utilizes both our corporate personnel as well as one or more third-party service providers.
Our faiff lure to execute a hybrid revenue cycle management funff ction efficiently and effeff ctively may have a
material impact on our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash floff ws and the trading price
of our securities.

• We currently outsource, and froff m time to time in the futff urt e may outsource, a portion of our internal business
functions to third-party providers. Outsourcing these funff ctions has significant risks, and our failure to
successfulff ly manage these risks could materially adversely affecff t our business, results of operations and
financial condition.

• We may not find suitabla e acquisition candidates or successfulff ly integrate our acquisitions. Our acquisitions
may expose us to greater business risks and could affect our payor mix.

• We may not be able to successfulff ly execute our same-unit and organic growth strategies.
• We are subject to litigation risks.
• We may not be able to collect reimbursements for ourff services from third-party payors.
• Our current indebtedness and any future indebtedness could adversely affect us by reducing our flexibility to

respond to changing business and economic conditions and expose us to interest rate risk to the extent of any
variable rate debt. In addition, a certain portion of our interest expense may not be deductible.

• We may not be able to successfulff ly recruir t, onboard and retain qualified physicians and other clinicians and
other personnel, and our compensation expense forff existing clinicians and other personnel may increase.
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• We may not be able to maintain effeff ctive and effiff cient inforff mation systems or properly safeguard our
information systems.

• Federal and state laws concerning the privacy and security of personal information may increase our costs
and limit our ability to collect and use that information. Any faiff lure or perceived faiff lure by us to comply with
such laws and regulations may harm our business and operations.

Risks Related to Macroeconomic Conditions

Economic conditions could have an adverse effecff t on our business.

Our operations and performance depend significantly on economic conditions. During the year ended
December 31, 2024, the percentage of our patient service revenue being reimbursed under GHC Programs decreased
as compared to the year ended December 31, 2023. If, hff owever, economic conditions in the United States deteriorate,
we could experience shifts toward GHC Programs, and patient volumes and reimbursement for services we provide
could decline. Further, we could experience and have experienced shifts toff ward GHC Programs if changes occur in
population demographics within geographic locations in which we provide services. Adverse economic conditions
could also lead to additional increases in the number of unemployed and under-employed workers and a decline in the
number of private employers that offeff r healthcare insurance coverage to their employees. Employers that do offerff
healthcare coverage may increase the required contributions from employees to pay forff their coverage and increase
patient responsibility amounts. In addition, certain private payors’ poor experience with the healthcare insurance
exchanges and any uncertainty around the futurff e of the ACA, and healthcare insurance exchanges may result in those
payors exiting the healthcare insurance exchange marketplt aces or the cessation of the healthcare insurance exchanges.
As a consequence, the number of patients who participate in GHC Programs or who are uninsured or underinsured
could increase. Payments received froff m GHC Programs are subsu tantially less than payments received froff m private
healthcare insurance programs (managed care and other third-party payors). Payments under policies issued through
the healthcare insurance exchanges may be less than payments from private healthcare insurance programs and in
some cases, patients’ responsibility for costs related to healthcare plans obtained through the healthcare insurance
exchanges may be high and could increase in the future, and we may experience increased bad debt dued to patients’
inability to pay forff certain services. A payor mix shift fff roff m private healthcare insurance programs to GHC Programs
or to healthcare insurance exchanges has resulted and may continue to result in an increase in our estimated provision
for contractuat l adjustments and uncollectibles and a corresponding decrease in our net revenue, as well as a significff ant
reduction in our average reimbursement rates. While we have developed a number of strategic initiatives across our
organization, in both our shared services functions and our operational infraff structurt e, to address some of the effeff cts
of changes in economic conditions, there is no assurance that these initiatives will be successfulff in generating
improvements in our general and administrative expenses and our operational infraff structurt e. If these initiatives are
unsuccessfulff , it could have an adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations, cash floff ws and the
trading price of our securities.

An erosion in the tax base caused by a general economic downturt n can cause restrictions on the fedff eral and
state governments’ abilities to obtain finff ancing and a decline in spending. If the economy were to contract (forff
example, as a result of a future global pandemic, international or domestic conflict, inff flation, or as a result of a
significant increase in prevailing interest rates), our government payors or other counterparr rties that owe us money
could be delayed in obtaining, or may not be able to obtain, necessary funding and/or financing to meet their cash
flow needs. As a result, we may facff e increased pricing pressure, termination of contracts, reimbursement rate cuts or
reimbursement delays from Medicare and Medicaid and other governmental payors, which could have an adverse
effeff ct on our financial condition, results of operations, cash floff ws and the trading price of our securities.

In addition, the U.S. federff al government has implemented and threatened to implement tariffs on certain
foreign goods and may implement additional or greater tariffs on foreign goods, which may have an impact on the
cost of certain of our supplu ies and our operations if such tariffs rff emain in effect. The ultimate impact of any tariffsff
will depend on various factors, including if any tariffsff are ultimately implemented, the timing of implementation, and
the amount, scope and naturt e of the tariffs.

The birth rate in the United States has declined and may decline furff ther.
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Birth data for 2023ff indicate that total births in the United States decreased compared to 2022. Provisional
data for 2024 is not yet availabla e. Future declines in births are possible, particularly if there is an economic recession,
and could have an adverse effeff ct on our patient volumes, net revenue, results of operations, cash floff ws, finff ancial
condition and the trading price of our securities.

Unfavorable changes or conditions could occur in the states where our operations are concentrated.

A majority of our net revenue in 2024 was generated by our operations in five states. In particular, Texas
accounted for approxia mately 32% of our net revenue in 2024. See Item 1. Business—“Geographic Coverage.” Adverse
changes or conditions affeff cting these particular states, such as healthcare reforff ms, changes in laws and regulations,
increases in unreimbursed services arising from services furnished to undocumented noncitizens, reduced Medicaid
eligibility or reimbursements and government investigations, economic conditions, weather conditions, and natural
disasters may have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash floff ws and the
trading price of our securities.

The value of our common stock may fluff ctuate.

There has been significant volatility in the market price of securities of healthcare companies generally that
we believe in many cases has been unrelated to operating performance. In addition, we believe that certain factors,
such as actuat l and potential legislative and regulatory drr evelopments, including announced regulatory irr nvestigations,
quarterly fluctuations in our actuat l or anticipated results of operations, lower revenue or earnings than those anticipated
by securities analysts, not meeting publicly announced expectations, general economic and finff ancial market
conditions, and the effect of short interest in our common stock could cause the price of our common stock to fluff ctuat te
subsu tantially.

The widespread outbreak of an illness or any other communicable disease, or any other public health crisis,
and the governmental responses thereto, could adversely affecff t our business, financial condition and results of
operations.

Widespread outbreaks of disease or other public health crises and responses thereto have in the past and may
in the futurff e negatively impact the global economy, disrupt globarr l supply chains and create significant volatility and
disruptr ion of finff ancial markets. For example, our operating results were significantly impacted by the COVID-19
pandemic beginning in mid-March 2020, but volumes began to normalize in May 2020 and substantially recovered
during the months of June 2020 through December 2020.

A futurff e pandemic or outbreak, and any government response thereto, could result in a material adverse effect
on our business, results of operations, finff ancial condition, prospects and the trading prices of our securities, and could
heighten many of the other risks associated with our business and indebtedness, including those described in this Form
10-K.

Risks Related to Governmental Changes and the Healthcare Regulatory Environmentg g y

Potential healthcare reforff m efforts may have a significant effeff ct on our business.

We could be affected by potential changes to healthcare laws, rules and regulations, including changes to
subsu idies, healthcare insurance marketplaces and Medicaid expansion and contraction.

All federalff and state government health care programs, including for example Medicare, Medicaid and the
ACA, may be subject to change as a result of political, legislative, regulatory, and administrative developments, as
well as judicial proceedings. The results of the 2024 federal election, including the election of President Trumrr p and
Republican control of both houses of Congress, may result in significant changes in, and have resulted in uncertainty
with respect to, legislation, regulation, implementation or repeal of laws and rulrr es related to government health
programs, including Medicare and Medicaid. In addition, the staff of the Department of Government Effiff ciency (the
"DOGE"), an executive administrative agency created by the second Trumr p Administration, have been provided
access to key payment and contracting systems at CMS to look for opportunities forff improving effiff ciency and to
identify fraud and ineffeff ctive use of resources. While we cannot predict the actions of the DOGE, there is a possibility
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that changes will be made to CMS spending, which could ultimately affeff ct our financial condition and results of
operation.

While there have been multiple attempts to repeal or amend the ACA through legislative action and legal
challenges, legislative attempts to completely repeal the ACA have been unsuccessful to date. However, another
significant challenge to the ACA is advancing in fedff eral courts. Specifically, in Braidwood Management v. Becerra,
the plaintiffsff argue that the ACA’s requirement that insurance cover certain preventive services without cost sharing
is unconstitutional. On September 7, 2022, a fedff eral district court in Texas ruled partly in favff or of the plaintiffsff and
partly in favor of the Department of Health and Human Services, which is defending the ACA, finff ding, among other
things, that the requirement that self-funded plans and insurers cover certain preventive services violates the plaintiffs'ff
rights under the Religious Freedom Restoration Act. The federff al government appealed this decision to the Fifthff Circuit
Court of Appeals, which subsequently issued an administrative stay of the district court’s rulrr ing, thereby allowing the
federal government to continue enforcing the preventive services requirement while the 5th Circuit considers the case.
On June 21, 2024, the 5th Circuit issued a limited decision appla icable only to the plaintiffsff , finff ding that HHS exceeded
its constitutional authority by delegating decision-making power to the U.S. Preventive Services Task Force
("USPSTF"). But the 5th Circuit overturnet d the district court’s decision to vacate the entire rulr e nationally, which
reinstated the requirement for health plans to continue covering ACA-mandated preventive care services without cost
sharing. On September 19, 2024, plaintiffsff filed a petition forff a writ of certiorari with the United States Supreme
Court, arguing that HHS’ delegation to USPSTF violates the U.S. Constitution Appointments Clause, and seeking to
have the preventive services coverage requirement thrown out. If the Supru eme Court decides to hear the case and the
plaintiffsff succeed, millions of Americans could lose access to preventive care guaranteed by the ACA or be forff ced to
pay out of pocket forff these services, and such an outcome could materially impact our business.

The ACA provided premium tax credits to help make insurance more affordable for individuals and famff ilies
with incomes between 100% and 400% of the fedff eral poverty limit. The American Rescue Plan Act ("ARPA") enacted
in March 2021, temporarily extended these tax credits to individuals with incomes above 400% ofa the fedff eral poverty
level and made the subsidy more generous for those below 400%. The ARPA tax credits were originally set to expire
on January 1, 2023, but Congress through the Inflatioff n Reducd tion Act, enacted in mid-2022, extended the expanded
tax credits through 2025. Partially because of these changes, millions of people newly enrolled in health exchange
plans. If these tax credits are allowed to lapse, many Americans could lose insurance coverage, and that change could
have a material impact on our business.

The second Trumr p Administration may seek to advance changes to the U.S. healthcare system, including
changes to the ACA that would eliminate or reduce certain subsu idies, modify certain benefitsff and allow competition
from short-term limited durd ation insurance products, all of which could result in fewerff people with insurance, or fewerff
people with ACA compliant insurance, and these changes could have a material impact on our business. We cannot
say forff certain whether there will be additional futff urt e challenges to the ACA or what impact, if any, such challenges
may have on our business. Changes resulting froff m these proceedings, and any legislative or administrative change to
the current healthcare financing system, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition,
results of operations, cash floff ws and the trading price of our securities.

In addition to the ACA, there could be changes to other GHC Programs, such as a change to the Medicaid
program design or Medicaid coverage and reimbursement rates set forth under federalff or state law. Historically,
Congress and the Administration sought to convert Medicaid into a block grant or to institute per capita spending caps,
among other things. These changes, if implemented, could eliminate the guarantee that everyonerr who is eligible and
applies forff Medicaid benefits would receive them and could potentially give states new authority to restrict eligibility,
cut benefitsff and/or make it more difficult for people to enroll. Additionally, several states are considering and pursuing
changes to their Medicaid programs, such as requiring recipients to engage in employment or education activities as
a condition of eligibility for most adults, disenrolling recipients forff failure to pay a premium, or adjud sting premium
amounts based on income.

Many states have transitioned a subsu tantial portion of their Medicaid program beneficiaries into Managed
Medicaid Plans, which are administered by commercial insurance companies. Managed Medicaid Plans have some
flexibility to set rates for providers, but many states require minimum provider rates in their contracts with such plans.
Each year, CMS releases the annual Medicaid Managed Care Rate Development Guide which provides federff al
baseline rulr es for setting reimbursement rates in managed care plans. We could be affected by lower reimbursement
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rates in some or all of the Managed Medicaid Plans with which we participate. We could also be materially impacted
if we are dropped froff m the provider network in one or more of the Managed Medicaid Plans with which we currently
participate. In Florida, more than 75% of the Medicaid population participates in a Managed Medicaid Plan, with even
higher participation rates forff children.

In response to the COVID-19 Publu ic Health Emergency (“PHE”), Congress passed the Family First
Coronavirus Response Act, which provided state Medicaid programs a 6.2 percentage point increase in the Federal
Medical Assistance Percentage (“FMAP”) if states meet certain maintenance of eligibility (“MOE”) requirements that
ensure continuous coverage for current enrollees. As a result, all Medicaid beneficiaff ries were continuously enrolled
in Medicaid during much of the COVID-19 PHE. Legislation enacted in late 2022 phased down the FMAP increase
from April 1, 2023 to December 31, 2023. To continue receiving the increased FMAP during that transition period,
states were required to conduct Medicaid eligibility redeterminations and renewals beginning April 1, 2023. As of
December 31, 2023, there will be no additional increase in FMAP. More than 13 million people enrolled in Medicaid
lost coverage as a result of these changes, and more disenrollments are expected. This change could have a material
impact on our business.

Moreover, certain potentially material changes seem likely with respect to government reimbursement and
the healthcare industry in grr eneral. For instance, the 2024 Medicare Physician Fee Schedule Final Rule decreased the
2024 conversion factff or (i.e., the amount Medicare pays per relative value unit (wRVU)) by nearly 3.4% from the 2023
amount. Congress enacted legislation to moderate some of these cuts, but Medicare payments to physicians still
decreased in 2024. For 2025, Medicare payments to physicians may again decrease. These reducd tions adversely affect
reimbursement for physician services and could also negatively impact other GHC Program reimbursement and
commercial payor reimbursement. These changes could materially impact our business.

We cannot predict with any assurance the ultimate effeff ct of these laws and resulting changes to payments
under GHC Programs, nor can we provide any assurance that they will not have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition, results of operations, cash floff ws and the trading price of our securities. Further, any
fiscal tightening impacting GHC Programs or changes to the structurt e of any GHC Programs could have an adverse
effeff ct on our finff ancial condition, results of operations, cash floff ws and the trading price of our securities.

COVID-19 necessitated the delivery of certain healthcare services remotely via telehealth, which is subject to
extensive fedff eral and state regulation, as well as temporary waivers tied to the COVID-19 public health
emergency, and certain fleff xibilities affoff rded to the provision and reimbursement of telehealth may be rolled
back.

In an effortff to address shelter-in-place, quarantine, executive order or related measures to combat the spread
of COVID-19, as well as the perceived need by individuals to continue such practices to avoid infectff ion and to provide
safe access to care for our paff tients, we converted certain in-person visits to telehealth visits and have continued to
provide services in this manner. There is significant variation in demand, consumer acceptance, and market adoption
of telehealth services. The provision of telehealth is largely regulated at the state level and can include, among other
things, variations in the definitiff on of telehealth, physician/patient relationship requirements, informed consent forff
telehealth services, licensure, scope of practice, covered modalities, electronic prescribing, coverage and
reimbursement, and privacy and security requirements. Our abia lity to conduct telehealth services and provide medical
services in a particular jurisdiction is directly dependent upon the appla icable laws governing remote healthcare, the
practice of medicine and healthcare delivery irr n general in such location, which are subju ect to changing political,
regulatory arr nd other influff ences. While numerous federal agencies released waivers to ease regulatory orr bstacles to the
adoption of telehealth, many of these waivers do not override applicable state laws. States have adopted waivers as
well but differff in the scope and appa lication of such waivers and also on the time period the waiver is available. Many
state waivers in relation to COVID-19 have already expired. On a fedff eral level, CMS created flexibilities forff the
provision and reimbursement of telehealth for Medicare beneficff iaries during the COVID-19 PHE. While some of
these fleff xibilities have been permanently extended, others are still permitted subject to temporally limited
authorizations. For example, in the calendar year 2025 Physician Fee Schedule Final Rule, CMS authorized Medicare
coverage of certain telehealth services on a provisional basis through 2025. If Congress or a federal agency does not
act to again extend these flexibilities, they could expire, and these changes could materially impact our business.
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Evolving interpretations and acceptance of telehealth by medical boards, state attorneys general and other
regulatory orr r administrative bodies require us to monitor our compliance with law in every jurisdiction in which we
operate, on an ongoing basis, and we cannot provide assurance that our activities and arrangements, if challenged, will
be found to be in compliance with the law. Monitoring regulatory crr hanges at the federal and state levels has and will
continue to incur costs for us and may result in making changes to our business operations to ensure continued
compliance. Challenges also exist with respect to coverage and reimbursement of telehealth services by both
commercial and governmental payors. Unless Congress enacts permanent telehealth coverage, the flexibilities and
additional billing codes that are currently availabla e will not be availabla e indefinitely. If telehealth services achieve
coverage, there is no guarantee that reimbursement will be equivalent to in-person care and may negatively impact
our financial condition. Individual and healthcare industry crr oncerns or negative publicity regarding patient
confidff entiality and privacy in the context of telehealth could limit market acceptance of our healthcare services when
delivered remotely. If any of these events occur, it could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition,
results of operations and the trading price of our securities.

TheMedicare Access and CHIP Reauthorization Act of 2015 (“MACRA”) and potential changes to it may have
an adverse effect on our business.

MACRA contains numerous measures that could affect us, including, requirements that physicians
participate in quality measurement programs that differeff ntiate payments to physicians under Medicare based on
quality and cost of care, rather than the quantity of procedurd es performed. The Merit-based Incentive Payment System
(“MIPS”) allows eligible physicians to receive incentive payments based on the achievement of certain quality and
cost metrics, among other measures, and be reduced for those who are underperforming against those same metrics
and measures. We currently anticipate that our affiff liated physicians will continue to be eligible to receive bonus
payments in 2025 through participation in the MIPS, although the amounts of such bonus payments are not expected
to be material. We will continue to operationalize the provisions of MACRA and assess any furff ther changes to the
law or additional regulations enacted pursuant to the law.

We cannot predict with any assurance the ultimate effecff t of MACRA and resulting changes to payments
under GHC Programs, nor can we provide any assurance that they will not have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition, results of operations, cash floff ws and the trading price of our securities. Further, any
fiscal tightening impacting GHC Programs or changes to the structurt e of any GHC Programs could have an adverse
effeff ct on our financial condition, results of operations, cash floff ws and the trading price of our securities.

The Transparency in Coverage Final Rule, which requires certain health plans and issuers to publish pricing
information on in-network and out-of-network providers and make price comparison and cost-sharing
information available to insureds, could have a material impact on our business.

The Transparency in Coverage Final RulRR e, published November 12, 2020, aims to put health pricing
information into the hands of consumers and allow them to select their providers based, in part, on cost. The finff al rule
was phased in between July 2022 and January 2024 and imposed two main requirements. First certain health plans
and insurers are required to publish on a public website machine-readable files containing information on their in-
network negotiated rates, billed charges and allowed amounts paid for outff -of-network providers, and the negotiated
rate and historical net price for prff escription drugs. Second certain health plans and issuers must report to their covered
members, through a self-service pricing tool, certain pricing inforff mation (including the in-network rate and out-of-
network allowed amounts) and cost-sharing obligations for all covered items and services. These requirements remain
subju ect to change, and we cannot predict how the availabia lity of this health pricing information may impact our
business operations and patient volumes. Moreover, Congress is considering legislation that imposes additional
transparency requirements on providers. If patients choose to use services of less costly providers, we could see a
reduction in patient volumes or decide to reduce the prices of our services to compensate, either of which could have
an adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations, cash floff ws and the trading price of our securities.

State budgetary constraints and the uncertainty over the future of Medicaid could have an adverse effecff t on
our reimbursement from Medicaid programs.

The ACA allowed states to expand their Medicaid programs through federal payments that fundff most of the
cost of increasing the Medicaid eligibility income limit from a state’s historic eligibility levels to 133% of the fedff eral
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poverty level. As of December 31, 2024, 40 states, and the District of Columbia, adopted the expansion of Medicaid
eligibility. All of the states in which we operate, however, already cover children in the first year of life and pregnant
women if their household incomes are at or below 133% of the fedff eral poverty level. If states that expanded Medicaid
reduce or eliminate eligibility for certain individuals, the number of patients who are uninsured could increase. Some
states may seek to maintain expanded eligibility and could offset the cost by furff ther reducing payments to providers
of services. In some states, we could experience delayed or reduced Medicaid payment forff services furnished to
program enrollees. Moreover, Democrats in Congress have sought to expand Medicaid or Medicaid-like coverage in
states that have not yet expanded Medicaid. They also have sought to reduce payments to certain hospitals in some of
these states. Should any of these changes take effect, we cannot predict with any assurance the ultimate effeff ct to
reimbursements for ourff services.

Congress and the second Trumr p Administration may also seek subsu tantial reforff ms to Medicaid law and the
ability of states to design Medicaid programs. Any changes, if enacted, could reducd e or eliminate eligibility for certain
individuals or reduce payments to providers of services. As a result, we could experience an increase in the number
of uninsured patients and delayed or reduced Medicaid payment for services furniff shed to program enrollees.

In addition, many states are continuing to collect less tax revenue than they did historically and as a
consequence continue to face budget shortfalff ls and underfunded pension and other obligations. Although shortfalff ls
have been declining in more recent budgetary years, they are still significant by historical standards. The finff ancial
condition of the states in which we do business could lead to reduced or delayed fundingff for Medicaid programs and,
in turn, reducd ed or delayed reimbursement for physician services, which could adversely affect our results of
operations, cash floff ws and finff ancial condition.

Any changes to Medicaid eligibility, enrollment, finff ancing or reimbursement could have a material adverse
effeff ct on our finff ancial condition, results of operations, cash floff ws and the trading price of our securities.

Congress or states have, and may continue to, enact laws restricting the amount out-of-network providers of
services can charge and recover forff such services.

In late 2020, Congress enacted legislation intended to protect patients from “surprise” medical bills when
services are furniff shed by providers who are not in network with the patient’s insurer (the “No Surprises Act” or the
"NSA"). Effectff ive January 1, 2022, if a patient’s insurance plan is subject to the NSA, the patient generally may not
be balance billed in excess of their plan’s in-network cost-sharing amount for the provision of emergency care rendered
by an out-of-network provider at certain in-network or out-of-network facilities. The NSA also prohibits an out-of-
network provider froff m balance billing a patient forff the provision of non-emergency services rendered in connection
with a patient’s visit at certain in-network facilities, unless, for certain services, the patient is notified in advance and
provides consent to being balance billed in accordance with technical requirements set forth in the NSA. Notably,a
however, there are certain services for which a balance billing is always prohibited and consent to do so may never be
obtained, including emergency, anesthesia, pathology, radiology, labora atory, and neonatology services. Providers that
violate these surprise billing prohibitions may be subject to enforff cement action by the Centers forff Medicare and
Medicaid Services (“CMS”) or by states, one or both of which may be tasked with investigating potential non-
compliance as a result of patient complaints, as well as fedff eral civil monetary penalties and any state-specific
penalties. To that end, many states have similar legislation on this topic that continue to evolve.

As noted above, under the NSA, patients may not be balance billed in excess of their in-network cost-sharing
amount. Insurers are required to calculate the patient’s total cost-sharing amount pursuant to rulr es set forff th in the NSA
and its implementing regulations which, in some cases, can be calculated by reference to the appla icable “qualifyingff
payment amount” (or the “QPA,” which is generally defined as the median contracted rate in a specific area) for the
items or services furnished. Patient cost-sharing amounts forff items and services subju ect to the NSA count toward the
patient’s health plan deductible and out-of-pocket cost-sharing limits.

For claims subject to the NSA, including many emergency care services, out-of-network providers (and
facilities, in the emergency care context) are paid an initial payment by the plan. If a provider (or facility, in the
emergency care context) receives a payment denial or is unsatisfied with the out-of-network rate paid by the plan and
the parties are unable to resolve the dispute, either party can initiate an Independent Dispute Resolution (“IDR”)
process, which is essentially an arbir tration process whereby a certified IDR entity evaluates proposed offers frff om both
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the provider/facff ility and the plan and makes a determination based on several facff tors, including, but not limited to,
the QPA. The outcome of each IDR dispute is generally binding on both the provider/facility and plan with respect to
the particular claims at issue in that dispute but may not affeff ct an insurer’s future offersff of payment. The NSA interim
final rulr es establa ishing the IDR process have been subju ect to a series of legal challenges that resulted in the Eastern
District of Texas vacating certain provisions of such rules and related guidance documents in 2023, with the Fifthff
Circuit Court of Appeals affirff ming several of these holdings. In October 2023, CMS issued a proposed rule that
included new provisions governing the IDR process. That and other rulemaking remains ongoing, and litigation related
to the QPA also remains ongoing.

The NSA balance billing prohibitions, coupled with the complexity and uncertainty of the IDR process, could
limit the amount Pediatrix can charge and recover forff items and services we furnish where we have not contracted
with the patient’s insurer, and therefore could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition,
results of operations, cash floff ws and the trading price of our securities. Moreover, these measures could affecff t our
ability to contract with certain payors under historically similar terms andmay cause (and the prospect of these changes
may have caused) payors to terminate their contracts with us and our affiff liated physician practices, furff ther affeff cting
our business, financial condition, operations, cash floff ws and the trading price of our securities.

In addition to the balance billing prohibitions, the NSA also requires certain providers, including Pediatrix,
and facff ilities, to develop and furnish a “Good Faith Estimate” (“GFE”) to individuals that details the expected charges
for a scheduled item or service (although this requirement is currently only being partially enforced with respect to
self-pff ay or uninsured patients). The GFE must include certain specific information such as, among other things, a
detailed list of all items/services to be furnished and the amount the patient should be expected to pay forff those
items/services (which should not ultimately exceed $400 more than the estimated amount set forff th on the GFE, or else
patients can enter a designated arbitration process with the provider) and co-provider and co-facility cost estimates
(though this requirement has not yet become enforceable). The GFE is also subju ect to certain highly technical
formatting, timing, and dispute resolution requirements. The impact of the GFE requirements on the Company remains
uncertain at this time, in part dued to ongoing rulemaking around the NSA, as well as the delayed effective date of
certain provisions of the GFE framework (as noted above related to co-providers and co-facilities and patients other
than self-pff ay and uninsured), uncertainty around operational timeframes, potential penalties and patient reaction,
among other things.

Additionally, the NSA, as well as some of existing state laws, require providers and facff ilities to make certain
disclosures and post certain signage advising patients of their rights under the NSA, as well as disclosures abouta
expected charges (when seeking consent to balance bill or when furnishing a GFE). These requirements impose
administrative burdens that could increase our cost of doing business and expose us to compliance risk.

Expanding eligibility of GHC Programs could adversely affect our reimbursement.

In February 2018, Congress reauthorized the Children’s Health Insurance Program (“CHIP”) through 2027.
Changes to CHIP or the ACA’s expansion of Medicaid coverage could cause patients who otherwise would have
participated in private healthcare insurance programs to participate in GHC Programs, or vice versa, or cause patients
who otherwise would have been covered by CHIP or Medicaid to lose insurance coverage altogether. Additional
reform effoff rts could change the eligibility requirements forff Medicaid and for other GHC Programs, including CHIP,
and could increase the number of patients who participate in such programs or the number of uninsured patients.

In general, payments received fromGHC Programs are substantially less than payments received froff m private
healthcare insurance programs (managed care and other third-party payors). A shift iff n the mix of our payors fromff
private healthcare insurance programs to government payors may result in an increase in our estimated provision for
contractuat l adjustments and uncollectibles and a corresponding decrease in our net revenue, as well as a significant
reduction in our average reimbursement rates. Additionally, if Congress does not act to extend CHIP beyond 2027, or
if Congress extends CHIP but subsu tantially alters the current program, we could be adversely affected if children in
states where we do business lose Medicaid coverage or payments forff services furnished to these children are delayed
or reduced.

Government-funded programs, private insurers or state laws and regulations may limit, reduce or make
retroactive adjud stments to reimbursement amounts or rates.
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A significant portion of our net revenue is derived froff m payments made by GHC Programs, principally
Medicaid, including the managed care plans under the Medicaid program. These government-funded programs, as
well as private insurers, have been and may continue to be subju ect to changes, including increased use of managed
care organizations, value-based purchasing, and new patient care models to control the cost, eligibility forff , use and
delivery orr f healthcare services as a result of budgetary constraints and cost containment pressures dued to unfavff orable
economic conditions, rising healthcare costs and for other reasons, including those described above under Item 1.
Business—“Government Regulation—Government Regulatory Rrr equirements.” Federal and state legislaturt es or
administrators of these government-funded programs and private insurers may attempt other measures to control costs,
including bundling of services and denial of, or reduction in, reimbursement for certain services and treatments. In
addition, increased consolidation among private insurers is resulting in fewer anff d larger third-party payors with
increased negotiating power. As a result, payments froff m government programs or private payors may decrease
significantly.

In recent years, legislative and regulatory crr hanges have resulted in limitations and reducd tions in payments to
healthcare providers for certain services under the Medicare program. For example, Congress established automatic
spending reductions under the Budget Control Act of 2011 (the “BCA”), resulting in a 2% reduction in Medicare
payments that began in 2013 and extend through the firff st six months of the FY 2032 sequestration order. As a result
of the COVID-19 pandemic, this reducd tion was temporarily suspended froff m May 1, 2020 through March 31, 2022,
with subsu equent reductions to 1% from April 1, 2022 until June 30, 2022. The 2% reducd tion was then reinstated and
has been in effeff ct since June 30, 2022. In addition, as a result of ARPA, an additional Medicare payment reduction of
up to 4% was to take effect in January 2022; however, Congress delayed implementation of this reducd tion until
2025. Any downward adjustment in Medicare reimbursement rates may have a detrimental impact on our
reimbursement rates not only forff Medicare patients, but also for patients covered under Medicaid and other third-party
payors, because a state’s Medicaid payments cannot exceed the payments it would have made had those patients been
enrolled in traditional Medicare, and other third-party payors often base their reimbursement rates on a percentage of
Medicare rates. It is diffiff cult to predict whether, when or what other deficit reducd tion initiatives may be proposed by
Congress. We anticipate that the federff al deficit will continue to place pressures on GHC Programs.

Our business may also be materially affeff cted by limitations on, or reductions in, reimbursement amounts or
rates or elimination of coverage for certain individuals or treatments. Our business may also be materially affeff cted by
changes in medical codes forff services that our affiff liated clinicians provide if services under a new code are reimbursed
at a lower rate. Moreover, because government-funded programs generally provide for reimbursements on a fee-
schedule basis rather than on a charge-related basis, we generally cannot increase our revenue from these programs
through increases in the amount we charge for our services. To the extent our costs increase, we may not be able to
recover our increased costs froff m these programs, and cost containment measures and market changes in non-
government-funded insurance plans have generally restricted our ability to recover, or shift tff o non-governmental
payors, these increased costs. In addition, funds we receive from third-party payors are subju ect to audit with respect
to the proper billing for physff ician and ancillary services and, accordingly, our revenue from these programs may be
adjud sted retroactively. Any retroactive adjustments to our reimbursement amounts could have an adverse effecff t on
our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash floff ws and the trading price of our securities.

In addition, our agreements with certain third-party payors are terminable for various reasons. If an agreement
with a third-party payor is terminated, we are generally required to seek reimbursement as an out-of-network provider.
In the event we attempt to balance-bill patients, we may be limited in our ability to do so by certain state and fedff eral
laws and regulations, as discussed abovea . As these laws and regulations continue to develop, it could incentivize
certain third-party payors to terminate agreements as a business strategy which could lower overall reimbursement to
providers. Any reductions in reimbursement amounts could have an adverse effect on our business, financial
condition, results of operations, cash floff ws and the trading price of our securities.

Adverse economic developments in the United States could lead to a reduction in federal government
expenditures, including GHC Programs in which we participate, primarily Medicaid. In addition, if at any time the
federal government is not able to meet its debt payments unless the federal debt ceiling is raised, and legislation
increasing the debt ceiling is not enacted, the fedff eral government may stop or delay making payments on its
obligations, including funding for government programs in which we participate, primarily Medicaid. Failure of the
government to make payments under these programs could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition,
results of operations, cash floff ws and the trading price of our securities. Further, if a federal government shutdown
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were to occur forff a prolonged period of time, federal government payment obligations, including its obligations under
Medicare and Medicaid, may be delayed. Similarly, if state government shutdowns were to occur, state payment
obligations may be delayed. If the federal or state governments faiff l to make payments under these programs on a
timely basis, our business could suffer, and our financial position, results of operations or cash floff ws may be materially
affeff cted.

We may become subject to billing investigations by federal and state government authorities and private
insurers.

Federal and state laws, rules and regulations impose substantial penalties, including criminal and civil fines,
monetary penalties, exclusion froff m participation in government healthcare programs and imprisonment, on entities or
individuals (including any individual corporate officff ers or individual providers deemed responsible) that fraff udulently
or wrongfully bill government-fundeff d programs or other third-party payors forff healthcare services. CMS contracts
with a variety of contractors to audit providers, such as Medicare Administrative Contractors (“MACs”), Unified
Program Integrity Contractors (“UPICs”), and Recovery Audit Contractors (“RACRR s”). These audits can result in
overpayment determinations and recoupments from providers. CMS may also impose Medicare payment suspensions
based on billing irregularities or credible allegations of fraud or Medicare enrollment revocations based on a number
of reasons, including billing irregularities. CMS requires states to maintain a Medicaid RACRR program. States are
required to contract with one or more eligible Medicaid RACs to review Medicaid claims for any overpayments or
underpayments, and to recoup ou verpayments froff m providers on behalf of the state.

Federal laws, along with a growing number of state laws, allow a private person to bring a civil action in the
name of the government for falff se billing violations. See Item 1. Business— “Government Regulation—Fraud and
Abuse Provisions.” Further, identified overpayments froff m Medicare or Medicaid must be refundeff d to the government
within 60 days of identification or the entity could be held liabla e under the federal False Claims Act (“FCA”), including
for treble damages and substantial civil penalties, currently set at $13,946 up to $27,894 per falff se claim or statement
for penalties assessed after January 15, 2024. In addition, our contracts with private insurers often provide such
insurers with audit rights over payments made to us and the abia lity to seek recoupment for oveff rpayments. We believe
that audits, inquiries and investigations from government agencies, government contractors and private insurers will
occur froff m time to time in the ordinary crr ourse of our business, which could result in substantial costs to us, legal
actions by or against us, and a diversion of management’s time and attention. New regulations and heightened
enforcement activity also could materially affeff ct our cost of doing business and our risk of becoming the subju ect of
an audit or investigation. We cannot predict whether any futff urt e audits, inquiries or investigations, or the public
disclosure of such matters, likely would have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of
operations, cash floff ws and the trading price of our securities. See Item 1. Business—“Government Investigations.”

The healthcare industry is highly regulated, and government authorities may determine that we have failed to
comply with applicable laws, rules or regulations.

The healthcare industry arr nd physicians’ medical practices, including the healthcare and other services that
we and our affiff liated physicians provide, are subju ect to extensive and complex federal, state and local laws, rulr es and
regulations, compliance with which imposes subsu tantial costs on us. Applicable U.S. federal and state and non-U.S.
healthcare laws and regulations include the folff lowing:

• the federalff Anti-Kickback Statute, a criminal law, which prohibits, among other things, persons and
entities froff m knowingly and willfully offering, paying, soliciting or receiving any remuneration, directly
or indirectly, in cash or in kind, to induce or reward purchasing, leasing, ordering, or arranging for,
referring, or recommending the purchase, lease or order of any good or service forff which payment may
be made, in whole or in part, under GHC Programs such as Medicare and Medicaid. A person or entity
does not need to have actual knowledge of the statute or specific intent to violate it in order to have
committed a violation. Violations of the fedff eral Anti-Kickbak ck Statutt e can result in significant civil
monetary penalties and criminal fines, as well as imprisonment and exclusion froff m participation in GHC
Programs;

• the federff al civil False Claims Act, which may be enforced through civil whistleblower or qui tam actions
and imposes significant civil penalties, treble damages and potential exclusion from GHC Programs
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against individuals or entities forff , among other things, knowingly presenting, or causing to be presented,
to the federff al government, claims for payment that are falff se or fraudulent or forff making a falff se record or
statement material to an obligation to pay the federff al government or for knowingly and improperly
avoiding, decreasing or concealing an obligation to pay money to the federal government. Further, a
violation of the federal Anti-Kickbak ck Statutt e can serve as a basis forff liabia lity under the federal civil False
Claims Act. There is also the federal Criminal False Claims Act, which is similar to the federalff Civil False
Claims Act and imposes criminal liabia lity on those that make or present a falff se, fictitioff us or fraudulent
claim to the federal government;

• the federalff Civil Monetary Penalties Law (“CMPL”), which authorizes the imposition of substantial civil
monetary penalties against an entity that engages in activities including, among others (1) knowingly
presenting, or causing to be presented, a claim for services not provided as claimed or that is otherwise
false or fraff udulent in any way; (2) arranging for or contracting with an individual or entity that is excluded
from participation in fedff eral health care programs to provide items or services reimbursabla e by a federal
health care program; (3) violations of the fedff eral Anti-Kickback Statutt e; or (4) faiff ling to report and return
a known overpayment;

• the Eliminating Kickbacks in the Recovery Act of 2018 (“EKRA”) establa ishes criminal penalties forff
paying, receiving, soliciting or offering any remuneration in return for referring a patient to a laboratory,
clinical treatment facility or recovery home, or in exchange for an individual using the services of one of
these entities. The EKRA pRR rohibitions apply to services covered by GHC programs and by private health
plans;

• the federalff Physician Payment Sunshine Act, which requires appla icable manufactff urt ers of covered drugs,
devices, biologics, and medical supplu ies forff which payment is availabla e under Medicare, Medicaid or the
Children’s Health Insurance Program, among others, to annually track and report payments and other
transferff s of value provided to U.S.-licensed physicians, teaching hospitals, physician assistants, nurse
practitioners, clinical nurse specialists, certified nurse anesthetists, anesthesiologist assistants and certified
nurse-midwives, as well as certain ownership and investment interests held in the manufacff turer by
physicians and their immediate families;

• the federalff Physician Self-Referff ral Law, commonly referred to as the Stark Law, is a strict liability civil
law that prohibits physicians from making “referrals” for “designated health services,” payable by
Medicare or Medicaid, to entities with which the physician or an immediate famff ily member of the
physician has a “financial relationship,” unless an exception appla ies. The Stark Law furff ther prohibits
entities which have received such referrals from filing claims with Medicare (or billing another individual,
entity or third-party payor) forff those referred services. The term “designated health services” includes,
among other things, inpatient and outpatient hospital services, home health services, and clinical
labora atory srr ervices;

• similar state law provisions pertaining to anti-kickbak ck, feeff splitting, self-referraff l and false claims, and
other fraff ud and abusa e issues which typically are not limited to relationships involving government-funded
programs. In some cases, these laws prohibit or regulate additional conduct beyond what federal law
affeff cts, including applicability to items and services paid by commercial insurers and private pay
patients. Penalties for violff ating these laws can range from physician licensure sanctions, finff es and
criminal sanctions;

• statutt es created by HIPAA, which impose criminal liabia lity for, among other things, knowingly and
willfulff ly executing or attempting to execute a scheme to defraud any healthcare benefitff program,
including private insurance plans, or, in any matter involving a healthcare benefitff program, for knowff ingly
and willfully making materially false, fictitious or fraudulent statements in connection with the delivery
of or payment for heff alth care benefits;

• federal and state regulations that broadly definff e provider and supplu ier affiliation and require providers to
disclose to GHC Programs certain disclosabla e events including, without limitation, current or previous
direct or indirect affiff liations with providers or suppliers having uncollected debt to GHC Programs, being
subju ect to payment suspension, being excluded froff m participation in GHC Programs or had such billing
privileges denied or revoked, and that permit GHC Programs to deny or revoke provider or supplier
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enrollment based upon such affiff liations upon determining that the affiff liations pose an undue risk of fraud,
waste, or abuse;

• state laws that prohibit or limit general business corpor rations from practicing medicine, exercising control
over physicians’ medical decisions or engaging in certain practices or financial arrangements, such as
splitting feesff with physicians. These laws and their interpretations vary from state to state and are enforced
by state courts and regulatory arr uthorities, each with broad discretion, and are subju ect to change and to
evolving interpretations by state boards of medicine and state attorneys general, among others;

• federal and state laws governing participation in GHC Programs could result in denial of our application
to become a participating provider or revocation of our participation or billing privileges, which in turt n,
could cause us to not be able to treat patients covered by the applicable program or prohibit us froff m billing
for the treatment services provided to such patients;

• federal and state laws that prohibit providers from billing and receiving payment froff m Medicare and
Medicaid forff services unless the services are medically necessary,rr adequately and accurately documented,
and billed using codes that accurately reflect the type and level of services rendered;

• federal and state laws and policies that require healthcare providers to maintain licensure, certification, or
accreditation to enroll and participate in the Medicare and Medicaid programs, to report certain changes
in their operations to the agencies that administer these programs;

• reassignment of payment rules that prohibit certain types of billing and collection practices in connection
with claims payable by the Medicare or Medicaid programs;

• laws that regulate debt collection practices, as appla ied to our debt collection practices;

• federal and state laws pertaining to the provision and coverage of services by non-physician practitioners,
such as advanced nurse practitioners, physician assistants and other clinical profesff sionals, physician
supeu rvision of such services and reimbursement requirements that may be dependent on the manner in
which the services are provided and documented; and

• federal laws that impose civil administrative sanctions for, among other violations, inappropriate billing
of services to federal healthcare programs, inappropriately reducing hospital inpatient lengths of stay for
such patients or employing individuals who are excluded froff m participation in federff ally funded healthcare
programs.

In addition, we believe that our business will continue to be subju ect to increasing regulation, the scope and
effeff ct of which we cannot predict. See Item 1. Business—“Government Regulation.”

We may in the future become the subject of regulatory orr r other investigations, audits or proceedings, and our
interpretations of applicable laws, rulr es and regulations may be challenged, which could have a material adverse effect
on our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash floff ws and the trading price of our securities. For
example, in some states, we are dependent on our relationship with affiff liated physician practices, which we do not
own, to provide physician and other clinical services, and our business would be adversely affected if those
relationships were disruptr ed or if our arrangements with our providers are foundff to violate state laws prohibiting the
corporate practice of medicine or feeff splitting, or if our contractuat l relationships with such entities cease to continue.
Our contracts include management services agreements among other agreements with such affiff liated physician
practices, to which these practices reserve exclusive control and responsibility for all aspects of the practice of
medicine and delivery orr f medical services. While we seek to subsu tantially comply with the appla icable state
prohibitions on the corporate practice of medicine and fee splitting, these laws could impact our business operations,
and state offiff cials who administer these laws or other third parties may successfulff ly challenge our contractualt
arrangements, which could subject us to civil and criminal penalties and require us to restructurt e our relationships
with providers to comply with these statutes, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition, and operations. Additionally, state corporate practice of medicine doctrines ofteff n impose penalties on
physicians themselves for aiding the corporate practice of medicine, which could impact physicians participating with
our affiff liated physician practices. See Item 1. Business—“Government Regulation—Fee Splitting; Corporate Practice
of Medicine.”
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Further, regulatory arr uthorities or other parties also could assert that our relationships, including fee
arrangements, among our affiff liated professional contractors, hospital clients or referring physicians violate the anti-
kickbak ck, feeff splitting, EKRA, or self-referral laws and regulations or that we have submu itted falff se claims or otherwise
failed to comply with government program reimbursement requirements. See Item 1. Business—“Government
Regulation—Fraud and Abuse Provisions” and “—Government Regulatory Rrr equirements.” In addition, violations of
these laws are punishable by monetary fines, civil and criminal penalties, exclusion from participation in GHC
Programs, and forff feiture of amounts collected in violation of such laws and regulations, any of which could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash floff ws and the trading price of
our securities. Additionally, federal and state fraff ud and abua se laws, rulrr es and regulations are not static and
amendments, clarifications, revisions, or other modifications to these laws may occur froff m time to time. For instance,
on December 2, 2020, both CMS and OIG issued Final RulRR es revising the federal anff ti-kickbak ck statutt e, the CMPL,
and the Stark Law regulations to foster arrangements that would promote care coordination, advance the delivery ofrr
value-based care, and protect consumers froff m harms caused by fraff ud and abusa e through additional new statutoryt
definitions, safe hff arborr s, and exceptions. Compliance with federal fraff ud and abusa e laws such as the anti-kickback
statutt e, the CMPL, and the Stark Law involves constant monitoring for regulatory crr hanges, agency and court
interpretations, and revisiting of arrangements based on new interprrr etations or clarificff ations, all of which will require
ongoing compliance costs. In addition, these laws and their exceptions and safe hff arborr s are complex and clear
interpretations are not always availabla e. Despite our effortff s to comply, we cannot guarantee that a government agency
will necessarily agree with our interpretations or that one or more of our arrangements will not be subju ect to challenge,
nor can we provide any assurance that they will not have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results
of operations, cash floff ws and the trading price of our securities.

Government authorities or other parties may assert that our business practices violate antitrust laws.

The healthcare industry irr s subject to close antitrust scrutiny. The FTC, the Antitrust Division of the DOJ and
state Attorneys General all actively review and, in some cases, take enforcement action against businesses, particularly
in the healthcare industry.rr Private parties can also bring antitrust suits. Violations of antitrusr t laws may be punishable
by subsu tantial penalties, including significant monetary fines and treble damages, civil penalties, criminal sanctions,
and consent decrees and injunctions prohibiting certain activities or requiring divestiturt e or discontinuance of business
operations. Any of these penalties could have an adverse effecff t on our business, financial condition, results of
operations, cash floff ws and the trading price of our securities.

Our affiliaff ted physicians and other individual providers may not satisfy aff ll conditions of payment or otherwise
appropriately record or document services that they provide.

Our affiliated physicians and other individual providers are responsible for maintaining all required
profesff sional licensures or certifications in good standing, which is generally a condition of reimbursement in GHC
Programs and in private insurance, and for appropra iately recording and documenting the services that they provide.
We use this information to seek reimbursement for their services from third-party payors. In addition, we utilize third-
party contractors to perform certain revenue cycle management funcff tions for healthcare providers, including medical
coding. If our affiliated physicians or other individual providers and third-party contractors do not appropriately
document, or where appla icable, code for their services or our customers’ services, we could be subjected to
administrative, regulatory, civil, or criminal investigations or sanctions and our business, financial condition, results
of operations and cash floff ws could be materially adversely affected. We are further obligated under the federal
overpayment statutt e and FCA to timely report and return any identified overpayments and to maintain reasonable
internal audit mechanisms to identify off verpayments. Failure to timely report and return overpayments to Medicare or
Medicaid could subject us to liability under the federal FCA, and also equivalent false claims acts on the state level.

State healthcare transaction laws could adversely affecff t our operations.

Numerous states have implemented healthcare transaction review laws that typically require healthcare
entities to provide pre-closing notice regarding “material” healthcare transactions to government agencies. These laws
differ froff m the typical change of control processes that ofteff n appla y to licensed healthcare facilities and providers. For
example, these laws generally apply to “healthcare entities” regardless of licensure, and thereforff e appla y to
organizations that ofteff n do not require separate licensure. Furthermore, the reviews are more subsu tantive in naturt e,
ofteff n focusff ing on the impact of the proposed transaction on factff ors such as cost, quality, access, equity and
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competition. Healthcare transaction review law requirements vary srr ignificantly between states. Some states require
notice, while others may require a cost and market impact review. Healthcare transaction review laws may affeff ct the
structurt e and timing of proposed transactions we may enter into or our ability to enter into transactions at all, which
may have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Risks Related to Our Business Strategygy

During 2024, we undertook a transformation of our revenue cycle management function from an outsourced
provider to a hybrid function that utilizes both our corporate personnel as well as third-party service providers.
Our faiff lure to execute a hybrid revenue cycle management function effiff ciently and effeff ctively may have a
material impact on our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and the trading price of
our securities.

We undertook a transformation of our revenue cycle management funcff tion froff m an outsourced provider to a
hybrid function that utilizes both our corporate personnel as well as third-party service providers that we engaged to
supporu t these activities. The success of this plan depends, in part, on our ability for ourff internal operations to handle
certain revenue cycle management funcff tions internally and to integrate the third-party service providers that we have
engaged with our systems in a timely and efficient manner. If we are not able to successfulff ly achieve these objectives,
the anticipated benefits of this transforff mation may not be realized fully or at all or may take longer to realize than
expected. These activities may be complex and time consuming and involve delays or additional and unforeseen
expenses. In connection with this hybrid revenue cycle management funcff tion, we could experience a furff ther reduction
in revenue due to delays in collection effoff rts or the inability to collect from patients or third-party payors, claim
denials, recoupments, or governmental and third-party audits, all of which may impact our profitff ability and cash
flow. Further, the costs associated with any operational problems, delays in collections from payors, and errors and
control issues may impact our ability to realize the intended benefitff s froff m this transformation and may have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash floff ws and the trading price of our
securities.

We currently outsource, and froff m time to time in the future may outsource, a portion of our internal business
functions to third-party providers. Outsourcing these funcff tions has significant risks, and our faiff lure to
successfulff ly manage these risks could materially adversely affect our business, results of operations and
financial condition.

We currently, and from time to time in the future may, outsource portions of internal business funcff tions,
including our revenue cycle management functions, to third-party service providers. These functions are performed
both domestically and in offshore locations, with our oversight. If our outsourcing partners fail to perform their
obligations in a timely manner at satisfactory qrr uality levels, in compliance with regulatory rrr equirements, or if they are
unable to attract or retain sufficient personnel with the necessary skill sets to meet our outsourcing needs, the
effiff ciency, effectiveness and quality of our services could suffer.ff Reliance on third-party providers could have
significant negative consequences, including significant disruprr tions in our operations and significantly increased costs
to undertake such operations, either of which could damage our relationships with our patients and customers.
For example, our results of operations were previously negatively impacted by the performance of a third-party
provider we used in connection with our revenue cycle management function, leading to our decision to transforff m our
revenue cycle management funcff tion. In connection with the previous transition of our revenue cycle management
function, we experienced a reduction in revenue due to delays in collection efforts or the inability to collect fromff
patients or third-party payors, claim denials, recoupments, or governmental and third-party audits, all of which
impacted our profitabia lity and cash floff w. The current or any futff urt e transitions in connection with our revenue cycle
management function may have similar impacts on our business, results of operations and finff ancial condition. In
addition, our reliance on a workforff ce in other countries exposes us to disruptrr ions in the business, political and
economic environment in those regions. Further, any changes to existing laws or the enactment of new legislation
restricting offshff ore outsourcing in the United States, or increasing the cost of using offshore services may adversely
affeff ct our ability to outsource functions to third-party offshff ore service providers. Our ability to manage any diffiff culties
encountered could be largely outside of our control. In addition, federal government and third-party payors may have
prohibitions or restrictions on the use of third-party service providers outside of the United States and/or require notice
for the use of such third-party service providers. Diminished service quality from outsourcing, our inability to utilize
offsff hore service providers or the faiff lure to comply with restrictions on the use of third-party service providers could
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have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash floff ws and the trading price of
our securities.

We may not find suitable acquisition candidates or successfulff ly integrate our acquisitions. Our acquisitions
may expose us to greater business risks and could affeff ct our payor mix.

We have expanded and continue to seek to expand our presence in new and existing metropolitan areas by
acquiring establa ished physician group practices. Our acquisition strategy involves numerous risks and uncertainties,
including:

• We may not be able to identify sff uitabla e acquisition candidates or strategic opportunities or implement
successfulff ly, or realize the expected benefits of, aff ny suitabla e opportunities. In addition, we compete forff
acquisitions with other potential acquirers, some of which may have greater financial or operational
resources than we do. This competition may intensify dff ued to the ongoing consolidation in the healthcare
industry,rr which may increase our acquisition costs.

• We may not be able to complete acquisitions of physician practices or services companies, or we may
complete acquisitions on less favorable terms as a result of changes in tax laws, healthcare fraud and abusea
laws, finff ancial market or other economic or market conditions.

• We may not be able to successfully integrate completed acquisitions, including our recent acquisitions.
Integrating completed acquisitions into our existing operations involves numerous short-term and long-
term risks, including diversion of our management’s attention, failure to retain key personnel, long-term
value of acquired intangible assets and acquisition expenses. In addition, we may be required to comply
with laws, rulrr es and regulations that may diffeff r not only froff m those of the states in which our operations
are currently conducted but from an expansion in the service offerff ings we provide in certain states for
which the laws, rulrr es and regulations may be differeff nt.

• We cannot be certain that any acquired business will continue to maintain its pre-acquisition revenue and
growth rates or be finff ancially successfulff . In addition, we cannot be certain of the extent of any unknown
or contingent liabia lities of any acquired business, including liabia lities forff failure to comply with applicable
laws, or liabia lities relating to medical malpractice claims. Generally, we obtain indemnification agreements
from the sellers of businesses acquired with respect to pre-closing acts, omissions and other similar risks.
It is possible that we may seek to enforce indemnification provisions in the futurff e against sellers who may
no longer have the financial wherewithal to satisfy their obligations to us. Accordingly, we may incur
material liabia lities for paff st activities of acquired businesses.

• We could incur or assume indebtedness and issue equity in connection with acquisitions. The issuance of
shares of our common stock forff an acquisition may result in dilution to our existing shareholders and,
depending on the number of shares that we issue, the resale of such shares could affect the trading price of
our common stock.

• We may acquire businesses that derive a greater portion of their revenue from GHC Programs than what
we recognize on a consolidated basis or that have business models with lower operating margins than ours.
These acquisitions could affect our overall payor mix or operating results in futurff e periods.

• Acquisitions of practices could entail finff ancial and operating risks not fully anticipated. Such acquisitions
could divert management's attention and our resources.

• An acquisition could be subject to challenge under the antitrusr t laws either before or afteff r it is
consummated. Such a challenge could involve subsu tantial legal costs and divert management’s attention
and resources and could result in us having to abandona the transaction or make a divestiture.

If we are not successfulff in integrating an acquisition, we may decide to dispose of such acquisition and may
do so at a loss or record impairments in connection with such a disposition.



41

We may not be able to successfulff ly execute our same-unit and organic growth strategies.

In addition to our acquisition growth strategy, we seek opportunities forff increasing revenue from our existing
operations through same-unit and organic growth strategies. We also seek opportunities to grow organically outside
of our existing operations. We may not be able to successfulff ly execute our same-unit and organic growth strategies
for reasons including the folff lowing:

• We may not be able to expand the services that our affiff liated physicians provide to our hospital partners.

• We may not be able to attract referrals to our offiff ce-based practices or neonatology transports to our
hospital-based units.

• We may not be able to execute new contractuat l arrangements with hospitals, including through joint
ventures, where we either currently provide or do not currently provide physician services.

• We may not be able to work with our hospital partners to develop integrated services programs forff which
we become a multi-specialty provider of solutions within the maternal-fetal, newborn and pediatric
continuum of care.

• We may not accurately project same-unit and organic growth performance, including projections of
revenue and operating expenses, or we may experience a shift in the mix of services that certain of our
customers request from us, potentially resulting in lower margins.

In addition, certain of our organic growth strategies may involve risks and uncertainties similar to those forff
our acquisition strategy. See “We may not find suitabla e acquisition candidates or successfulff ly integrate our
acquisitions. Our acquisitions may expose us to greater business risks and could affect our payor mix.”

We may not effeff ctively manage our growth.

We have historically experienced growth in our business, including growth outside of our core physician
specialties. Growth in the number of our employees and affilff iated physicians has in the past placed significant demands
on our financial, operational and management resources. Significant growth may impair our ability to provide our
services effiff ciently and to manage our employees adequately. Our future results of operations could be adversely
affeff cted if we are unable to manage our growth effeff ctively.

Hospitals or other customers may terminate their agreements with us, our physicians may lose the ability to
provide services in hospitals or administrative feesff paid to us by hospitals may be reduced.

Our net revenue is derived primarily from feeff -forff -service billings for patient care and other services provided
by our affiff liated physicians and froff m administrative feeff s paid to us by hospitals. See Item 1. Business—“Relationships
with Our Partners—Hospitals.” Our hospital partners or other customers may cancel or not renew their contracts with
us, may reduce or eliminate our administrative feeff s in the future, or refusff e to pay us our administrative feeff s if we failff
to honor the terms of our agreement or faiff l to meet certain performance metrics under those agreements. Further,
consolidation of hospitals, healthcare systems or other customers could adversely affect our ability to negotiate with
these entities. Adverse economic conditions, including decreased federal and state fundingff to hospitals, could
influence futurff e actions of our hospital partners or other customers. In addition, hospitals may froff m time to time
cancel or delay certain elective procedures in order to address increasing demand for beds by otheff r patients. To the
extent that our arrangements with our hospital partners or other customers are canceled or are not renewed or replaced
with other arrangements having at least as favff orable terms, our business, financial condition and results of operations
could be adversely affecff ted. In addition, to the extent our affiff liated physicians lose their privileges in hospitals or
hospitals enter into arrangements with or employ other physicians, including our existing affiff liated physicians, our
business, financial condition, results of operations and cash floff ws could be adversely affected.

Risks Related to Operating our Businessp g
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We are dependent upon our key management personnel forff our futff ure success and loss of our key management
and other personnel or an inability to attract new management and other personnel could impact our business.

Our success depends to a significant extent on the continued contributions of our key management personnel
for the management of our business and implementation of our business strategy. We experienced significant
management turnover in 2024 and the further loss of or changes in key management personnel could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash floff ws and the trading price of our
securities. Management transition is often difficult and inherently causes some loss of institutt ional knowledge and a
learning curve for neff w executives, which could negatively affect our results of operations and finff ancial condition. Our
ability to execute our business strategies may be adversely affectedff by the uncertainty associated with any such
transition, and the time and attention from the board and management needed to fill vacant roles and train new
employees could disrupt our buu siness. Competition is intense for qualified employees, and the loss of qualified
employees or an inability to attract, retain and motivate additional highly skilled employees required forff the operation
and growth of our business could hinder our ability to successfulff ly carry out our strategy.

Our quarterly results will likely fluff ctuate from period to period.

We have historically experienced and expect to continue to experience quarterly fluctuations in net revenue
and net income. For example, we typically experience negative cash floff w froff m operations in the firff st quarter of each
year, principally as a result of bonus payments to affiff liated physicians as well as discretionary matching contributions
for participants in our qualified contributory srr avings plans. In addition, a significant number of our employees and
associated profesff sional contractors (primarily affiff liated physicians) exceed the level of taxable wages forff social
security contributions during the first and second quarters. As a result, we incur a significantly higher payroll tax
burden and our net income is lower during those quarters. Moreover, a lower number of calendar days are present in
the firff st and second quarters of the year as compared to the remainder of the year. Because we provide services in the
NICU on a 24-hours-a-day basis, 365 days a year, any reduction in service days will have a corresponding reduction
in net revenue. In addition, any reducd tion in office days in our offiff ce-based practices will also have a corresponding
reduction in net revenue. We also have significant fixff ed operating costs, including costs for ourff affiff liated physicians,
and as a result, are highly dependent on patient volume and capacity utilization of our affiff liated physicians to sustain
profitaff bia lity. Quarterly results may also be impacted by the timing of acquisitions and any fluctuation in patient
volume. As a result, our results of operations for any quarter are not indicative of results of operations for any future
period or full fiscal year.

We may write-off intangible assets, such as goodwill.

The carrying value of our intangible assets, which consists primarily of goodwill related to our acquisitions,
is subju ect to testing at least annually, and more frequently if impairment indicators exist. Under current accounting
standards, goodwill is tested for impairment on at least an annual basis and more freff quently if impairment indicators
exist, and we have been subju ect to impairment losses as circumstances have changed after acquisition. For example,
during 2024, we recorded a non-cash impairment charge of $150.6 million. If we record additional impairment losses
related to our goodwill in the futurff e, it could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of
operations, cash floff ws and the trading price of our securities.

We are subject to medical malpractice and other lawsuits that may not covered by insurance.

Our business entails an inherent risk of claims of medical malpractice against our affiff liated physicians and
us. We may also be subject to other lawsuits which may involve large claims and significant defenff se costs. Although
we currently maintain liabia lity insurance coverage intended to cover professional liabia lity and other claims, there can
be no assurance that our insurance coverage will be adequate to cover liabia lities arising out of claims asserted against
us where the outcomes of such claims are unfavff orable to us. Generally, we self-insure our liabia lities to pay retention
amounts for profff esff sional liabia lity matters through a wholly owned captive insurance subsu idiary. Liabia lities in excess
of our insurance coverage, including coverage for professional liabia lity and other claims, could have a material adverse
effeff ct on our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash floff ws and the trading price of our securities. See
Item 1. Business—“Other Legal Proceedings” and— “Professional and General Liability Coverage.”
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The reserves that we have established related to our professional liability losses are subject to inherent
uncertainties and if actual costs exceed our estimates this may lead to a reduction in our net earnings.

We have establa ished reserves forff losses and related expenses that represent estimates involving actuarial
projections. These actuat rial projections are developed at a given point in time and represent our expectations of the
ultimate resolution and administration of costs of losses incurred with respect to profesff sional liabia lity risks for the
amount of risk retained by us. Insurance reserves are inherently subju ect to uncertainty. Our reserve estimates are based
on actuarial valuations using historical claims, demographic factff ors, industry trr rends, severity and exposure facff tors and
other actuat rial assumptions. The estimates of projeo cted ultimate losses are developed at least annually. Our reserves
have been, and could furff ther be, significantly affeff cted should current and futurff e occurrences differ froff m historical
claim trends and expectations. While claims are monitored closely when estimating reserves, the complexity of the
claims and wide range of potential outcomes often hamper timely adjud stments to the assumptions used in these
estimates. Actuat l losses and related expenses may deviate, perhaps substantially, froff m the reserve estimates reflected
in our financial statements. If our estimated reserves are determined to be inadequate, we have been and could furtff her
be required to increase reserves at the time the deficiency is determined. See Item 7. Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—“Application of Critical Accounting Policies and
Estimates—Professional Liabia lity Coverage.”

We are subject to litigation risks.

From time to time, we are involved in various litigation matters and claims, including regulatory prr roceedings,
administrative proceedings, governmental investigations, and contract disputes, as they relate to our services and
business. We may facff e potential claims or liabia lity for, among other things, breach of contract, defamation, libel,
fraud, negligence or data breaches. Our contracts with hospitals generally require us to indemnify tff hem and their
affiff liates for losses resulting froff m the negligence of our affiff liated physicians and other clinicians. We may also face
employment-related litigation, including claims of age discrimination, sexual harassment, gender discrimination,
immigration violations, or other local, state, and federff al labora law violations. Because of the uncertain nature of
litigation and insurance coverage decisions, the outcome of such actions and proceedings cannot be predicted with
certainty and an unfavff orable resolution of one or more of them could have an adverse effect on our business, financial
condition, results of operations, cash floff ws and the trading price of our securities. In addition, legal feesff and costs
associated with prosecuting and defending litigation matters could have an adverse effect on our business, financial
condition, results of operation and the trading price of our securities.

We may not be able to collect reimbursements for our services from third-party payors.

A significant portion of our net revenue is derived froff m reimbursements froff m various third-party payors,
including GHC Programs, private insurance plans and managed care plans, forff services provided by our affiff liated
profesff sional contractors. We are responsible for submitting reimbursement requests to these payors and collecting the
reimbursements, and we assume the financial risks relating to uncollectible and delayed reimbursements. In the current
healthcare environment, payors continue effoff rts to control expenditures for heff althcare, including revisions to coverage
and reimbursement policies. Due to the nature of our business and our participation in government-funded and private
reimbursement programs, we are involved froff m time to time in inquiries, reviews, audits and investigations by
governmental agencies and private payors of our business practices, including assessments of our compliance with
coding, billing and documentation requirements. We may be required to repay these agencies or private payors if a
finding is made that we were incorrectly reimbursed within a certain time period, or we may become involved in
disputes with payors and could be subjected to pre-payment and post-payment reviews, which can be time-consuming
and result in non-payment or delayed payment forff the services we provide. We may also experience difficulties in
collecting reimbursements because third-party payors may seek to reduce or delay reimbursements to which we are
entitled forff services that our affiff liated physicians have provided, they experience administrative issues that result in a
delay in reimbursements, or pursuant to binding arbir tration proceedings for out-of-network items or services. Further,
GHC Programs, private insurance plans and managed care plans are increasingly requiring that services we provide
be reviewed and appa roved prior to provision of such services. These prior authorization reviews increase our
administrative costs and delay payments, which materially impact our business. In addition, GHC Programs may deny
or revoke our application to become a participating provider if we do not disclose certain events relating to our
affiff liates or for other reasons that could cause us to not be able to provide services to patients or prohibit us fromff
billing forff such services. GHC Programs may also suspend our payments pending an audit or investigation, which
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could last forff an extended period of time. If we are not reimbursed fulff ly or in a timely manner forff such services or
there is a finding that we were incorrectly reimbursed, our revenue, cash floff ws and finff ancial condition could be
materially, adversely affected. In addition, we may choose to challenge certain GHC reimbursement decisions through
administrative appea al mechanisms. Any backlog in appea als may further affect our ability to collect reimbursement for
services rendered.

In addition, adverse economic conditions could affecff t the timeliness and amounts received froff m our third-
party and government payors which would impact our short-term liquidity needs.

Risks Related to our Capital Structurep

Our current indebtedness and any future indebtedness could adversely affect us by reducing our flexibility to
respond to changing business and economic conditions and expose us to interest rate risk to the extent of any
variable rate debt. In addition, a certain portion of our interest expense may not be deductible.

As of December 31, 2024, our total indebtedness was $615.6 million, of which $400.0 million was at fixed
interest rates and $215.6 million was at variable rates. We also had $450.0 million of additional borrowing capacity
under our revolving line of credit which was subjeb ct to a variabla e interest rate. Other debt we incur also could be
variable rate debt. In addition, United States tax law places certain limitations on the deducd tibility of interest expense
at a percentage of taxable income. If interest rates continue to increase, any variable rate debt will create higher debt
service requirements, and if interest expense increases beyond a specified percentage of taxable income, a portion of
that interest expense may not be deductible forff income tax purposr es, which could adversely affect our results of
operations and cash floff ws.

We have limited restrictions on incurring subsu tantial additional indebtedness in the futurff e. Our current
indebtedness and any future increases in leverage could have adverse consequences on us, including:

• a substantial portion of our cash flow from operations will be required to service interest and principal
payments on our debt and will not be availabla e forff operations, working capital, capital expenditures,
expansion, acquisitions, dividends or general corporate or other purposes;

• our ability to obtain additional finff ancing in the futurff e may be impaired;

• we may be more highly leveraged than our competitors, which may place us at a competitive disadvantage;

• our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and industry mrr ay be limited; and

• we may be more vulnerabla e in the event of a downturn in our business, our industry orr r the economy in
general.

Our abia lity to make payments on and to refinff ance our debt will depend on our ability to generate cash in the
future. This, to a certain extent, is subject to general economic, business, financial, competitive, legislative, regulatory,
and other factors that are beyond our control. We cannot assure you that our business will generate suffiff cient cash
flow from operations or that future borrowings will be availabla e under our revolving line of credit in an amount
sufficient to enable us to pay our debt or to fund our other liquidity needs.

Any faiff lure to make payments of interest and principal on our outstanding indebtedness on a timely basis
would likely result in other defaults, disrupt our opeu rations and cause a reducd tion of our credit rating, which could
further harm our ability to finance or refinff ance our obligations and business operations.

If our cash flows and capital resources are insufficient to fund our debtff service requirements, we may be
forced to reduce or delay acquisitions or other investments, or to seek additional capital, or restructurt e or refinff ance
our indebtedness. Our ability to restructurt e or refinff ance our debt will depend on the condition of the capia tal markets
and our financial condition at such time. We cannot assure you that we will be able to refinance any of our debt,
including our revolving line of credit and senior notes, on commercially reasonable terms or at all.
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Provisions of our articles and bylaws could deter takeover attempts, but our business could be negatively
affeff cted as a result of shareholder activism.

Our Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation, as amended, authorize our Board of Directors to issue
up to 1,000,000 shares of undesignated preferred stock and to determine the powers, preferences anff d rights of these
shares without shareholder appra oval. This preferred stock could be issued with voting, liquidation, dividend and other
rights superior to those of the holders of common stock. The issuance of preferred stock under some circumstances
could have the effeff ct of delaying, deferring or preventing a change in control. In addition, provisions in our Amended
and Restated Articles of Incorpor ration, as amended, and Bylaws, including those relating to calling shareholder
meetings, taking action by written consent and other matters, could render it more diffiff cult or discourage an attempt
to obtain control of Pediatrix through a proxy contest or consent solicitation, however, there is no assurance that these
provisions would have such an effect. These provisions could limit the price that some investors might be willing to
pay in the future for shares of our common stock. Notwithstanding these provisions, we could, and have, become the
target of activist shareholders who acquire ownership positions in our common stock and seek to influff ence our
company. Responding to actions by activist shareholders can be costly and time-consuming, disrupt our busr iness and
divert the attention of our Board of Directors, management and employees. Additionally, perceived uncertainties as
to our future direction, including the composition of our Board of Directors, as a result of shareholder activism may
lead to the perception of a change in the direction of our business or other instability, which may be exploited by our
competitors, cause concern to our current or potential customers and acquisition candidates, and make it more diffiff cult
for us to attract and retain qualified personnel, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition, results of operations, and cash flows and the trading prices of our securities. In addition, the trading prices
of our securities may experience periods of increased volatility as a result of shareholder activism.

Risks Related to Labor

We may not be able to successfulff ly recruit, onboard and retain qualified physicians and other clinicians and
other personnel, and our compensation expense forff existing clinicians and other personnel may increase.

We are dependent upon our ability to recruir t and retain a suffiff cient number of qualified physicians and other
clinicians and other personnel to service existing units at hospitals and our affiff liated physician practices and expand
our business. We compete with many types of healthcare providers, including teaching, research and government
institutt ions, hospitals and health systems and other practice and services groups, forff the services of qualified clinicians.
The U.S. is currently experiencing and is expected to continue to experience a nationwide healthcare professional
shortage. Due to this increased exit froff m healthcare practice and lack of sufficient new talent to replace them, our
recruir ting effortff s have become increasingly more competitive. Wemay not be able to continue to recruir t new clinicians
or other personnel or renew contracts with existing clinicians or other personnel on acceptabla e terms. We have and
may seek to renew clinician contracts prior to their existing renewal date for various reasons, including to move
clinicians to a diffeff rent compensation strucr ture. We may not be successfulff in these early renewal efforts, and furff ther,
clinical compensation may increase as a result of incremental compensation incentives that may be required by
clinicians to agree to the change in compensation strucr ture. In addition, the recruirr ting and onboarding process forff
certain of our physicians and other clinicians can take several months, or longer, to complete due to various
requirements, including state licensing and hospital credentialing. Further, if the demand exceeds the supplu y forff
physicians and other clinicians and personnel either in general or in specific markets, we could experience an increase
in compensation expense, including premium pay and agency labor costs. If we are unable to recruir t new physicians,
renew contracts on acceptable terms or onboard physicians, clinicians and other personnel in a reasonable period of
time, our ability to service existing or new hospital units and staff existing or new offiff ce-based practices could be
adversely affected. In addition, if we experience a higher rate of growth in compensation expense, our business,
financial condition, results of operations, cash floff ws and the trading price of our securities could be adversely affected.

A significant number of our affiff liated physicians or other clinicians could leave our affiliated physician
practices or our affiff liated physician practices may be unable to enforff ce the non-competition covenants of
departed physicians.

Our affiliated professional contractors usually enter into employment agreements with our affiff liated
physicians. Certain of our employment agreements can be terminated without cause by any party upon prior written
notice. In addition, subsu tantially all of our affiff liated physicians have agreed not to compete within a specified
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geographic area forff a certain period afteff r termination of employment. The law governing non-compete agreements
and other forms of restrictive covenants varies froff m state to state. Although we believe that the non-competition and
other restrictive covenants appla icable to our affiff liated physicians are reasonable in scope and durd ation and thereforeff
enforceabla e under appla icable state law, courts and arbitrators in some states may be reluctant to enforce non-compete
agreements and restrictive covenants against physicians. In addition, we have and may incur significant legal feesff to
pursue enforcement of such agreements and restrictive covenants. Further, the Federal Trade Commission issued a
final rulr e that would prohibit employers from using non-compete clauses with workers. The rulrr e would have been
effeff ctive September 4, 2024, but is currently enjoinn ed pending legal challenges. Certain states also have enacted or
proposed prohibitions on using non-compete clauses with workers, including healthcare providers. Our affiff liated
physicians or other clinicians may leave our affiff liated physician practices for a variety of reasons, including in order
to provide services for other types of healthcare providers, such as teaching, research and government institutt ions,
hospitals and health systems and other practice groups. If a subsu tantial number of our affiff liated physicians or other
clinicians leave our affiff liated physician practices, we could incur significant legal fees to pursue enforcement of certain
covenants within employment agreements or if our affiff liated physician practices are unable to enforce the non-
competition covenants in the employment agreements, our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash
flows could be adversely affected.

Information Systems, Cybersecurity and Data Privacy Risksy , y y y

We may not be able to maintain effeff ctive and effiff cient inforff mation systems or properly safegff uard our
information systems.

Our operations are dependent on uninterruptu ed perforff mance of our information systems. Failure to maintain
reliabla e information systems, disruptu ions in our existing information systems or the implementation of new systems
could disrupt busu iness operations or cause errors and delays in billings and collections, diffiff culty satisfying
requirements under hospital contracts, disputes with patients and payors, violations of patient privacy, confidff entiality,
and other regulatory rrr equirements, increased administrative expenses and other adverse consequences.

Information security risks have generally increased in recent years because of new technologies and tactics
of cyber criminals. Despite our layered security controls and our continuous monitoring and testing (by both internal
and external parties) of such controls, experienced cyber criminals have been and may be able to penetrate our
information systems, misappropriate or compromise sensitive patient or personnel information or proprietary or
confidff ential information, create system disruptrr ions or cause shutdowns. They also may be able to develop and deploy
viruses, worms and other malicious software programs that disable our systems or otherwise exploit security
vulnerabia lities, or attempt to fraff udulently induce employees to take actions, including to release confidff ential or
sensitive information or make fraudulent payments, through illegal electronic spamming, phishing or other tactics.
For example, in February 2rr 024, Change Healthcare, a subsidiary of UnitedHealth Group and a major processor of
U.S. medical claims, was the subju ect of a well-publicized cyberattack. This event caused significant delays and
disruptr ions in payments to hospitals, physicians, pharmacists, and other health care providers across the country,
including us. While this cyberattack did not have a material impact on us or our operations, futurff e cyber attacks on us
or our third-party providers could have a material impact on our business.

A faiff lure in or breach of our information systems as a result of cybersecurity attacks or other tactics could
disrupt our busr iness, has resulted and may result in the disclosure or misuse of PHI, personal information, or
confidff ential or proprietary business information, and has caused or may cause financial loss, damage our reputation,
increase our administrative expenses, and expose us to additional risk of liabia lity to fedff eral or state governments,
individuals, or classes of individuals. Although we believe that we have reasonable and appropriate information
security procedurd es and other safeguards in place, as cybersecurity threats continue to evolve, we have been and may
be required to expend additional resources to continue to enhance our information security measures or to investigate
and remediate information security vulnerabia lities. Our remediation effortff s may not be successfulff and could result in
interruptu ions to our operations (including, without limitation, our billing processes), delays or cessation of service and
loss of existing or potential customers. In addition, breaches of our security measures and the unauthorized
dissemination of patient healthcare and other sensitive information, personal information, or proprietary or
confidff ential information aboa ut us, our patients, clients or customers, or other third-parties, could expose such persons
to the risk of finff ancial or medical identity theft.ff It could also expose us or such persons to a risk of loss or misuse of
this information, result in litigation, or potential liabia lity, cause damage to our brand and reputation or otherwise harm
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our business. Under certain circumstances, we could also be excluded temporarily or permanently from certain
commercial or GHC Programs. Any of these disruprr tions or breaches of security could have an adverse effect on our
business, financial condition, results of operations, cash floff ws and the trading price of our securities.

We may experience diffiff culties implementing or enhancing technology, software and processes.

We are engaged in various implementation and enhancement efforts for neff w technology, software and
processes. These solutions are designed to provide greater effiff ciency and fleff xibility across our enterprise. In
implementing and enhancing various solutions and processes, we may experience significant delays, increased costs
and other difficulties. Any significant disruptr ion or deficff iency in the design and implementation of these solutions and
processes could adversely affecff t our ability to operate our business. While we have invested significant resources in
planning and projeo ct management, unforff eseen implementation or enhancement issues may arise. In addition, our
effortff s to centralize various business processes and functions within our organization in connection with our system
implementations may disrupt our opeu rations. Any implementation or enhancement issues or business operation
disruptr ions could have a material effeff ct on our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash floff ws, internal
control over finff ancial reporting and the trading price of our securities.

Hospitals could limit our ability to use our inforff mation management systems in our units by requiring us to
use their own inforff mation management systems.

Our inforff mation management systems are used to support our day-to-day operations and ongoing clinical
research and business analysis. If a hospital prohibits us from using our own information management systems, it may
interruptu the efficient operation of our information systems which, in turn, may limit our ability to operate important
aspects of our business, including billing and reimbursement as well as research and education initiatives. This
inability to use our information management systems at hospital locations may have an adverse effect on our business,
financial condition, results of operations and cash floff ws.

Federal and state laws concerning the privacy and security of personal information may increase our costs and
limit our ability to collect and use that information. Any faiff lure or perceived faiff lure by us to comply with such
laws and regulations may harm our business and operations.

The global data protection landscapea is rapidla y evolving, and we may be or become subju ect to or affeff cted by
numerous federal and state laws, rules and regulations govern the collection, dissemination, use, security and
confidff entiality of personal inforff mation, including individually identifiabla e health information. These laws include, forff
example and without limitation:

• Federal and state laws related to the confidentiality, privacy and security of personal information,
including PHI, that limit the manner in which we may use and disclose that information, impose
obligations to safeguard that information and require that we notify third parties in the event of a breach.
For example, HIPAA limits how Covered Entities and Business Associates may use and disclose PHI,
provides certain rights to individuals with respect to their PHI, imposes certain obligations for
safeguarding the confidff entiality, integrity, and availabia lity of PHI that is electronically transmitted or
electronically stored, and imposes notificff ation requirements in the event of a breach of unsecured PHI;

• Other fedff eral and state laws establa ish additional requirements for protff ecting the privacy and security of
identifiable consumer health information. For instance, the state of Washington enacted the “My Health
My Data Act” which regulates “consumer health data” which is defined as “personal information that is
linked or reasonably linkable to a consumer and that identifies a consumer’s past, present, or futureff
physical or mental health.” The “My Health My Data Act” provides exemptions for PHI and similar
information maintained by a covered entity or business associate in compliance with HIPAA, personal
data collected in the context of certain research activities, including data subju ect to 45 C.F.R. Parts 46, 50,
and 56, and personal inforff mation that has been de-identified. Nevada also enacted a similar Consumer
Health Data Privacy Law, and Connecticut amended its consumer privacy law to include provisions
specific to consumer health information. Additional states have contemplated enacting similar laws;

• Several states have enacted comprehensive consumer privacy laws with data privacy rights, such as the
CCPA, as amended by the CPRA. While these laws generally include exemptions for PHI and similar
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information maintained by a covered entity or business associate in compliance with HIPAA, personal
information that is generated in connection with certain clinical trials, and personal information that has
been de-identified, they add layers of complexity to compliance in the U.S. market, and could increase
our compliance costs and adversely affect our business;

• Federal and state consumer protection laws, including the FTC’s authority under Section 5 of the Federal
Trade Commission Act, prohibit unfaiff r and deceptive acts and practices related to privacy and data
security. The FTC and many state attorneys general interprrr et these federal anff d state consumer protection
laws to require transparency, faiff rness, and accountability for the processing and security of personal
information, including health-related inforff mation. For instance, the FTC's enforcement of the Health
Breach Notification RulRR e has increased in recent years; and

• Federal and state laws regulating the conduct of research with human subju ects, which include restrictions
and requirements relating to the confidff entiality of information collected or generated about huma an
subju ects participating in research.

As part of our business operations, including our medical record keeping, third-party billing, research and
other services, we collect and maintain PHI and other personal information in paper and electronic forff mat. Standards
related to personal information, whether implemented pursuant to HIPAA, state laws, federal or state agency actions
or otherwise, could have a significant effeff ct on the manner in which we handle and our ability to collect, generate,
and maintain personal information, including PHI, and how we communicate with payors, providers, patients and
others. Compliance with these standards, which are diverse and complex, could impose significant costs on us or limit
our ability to offeff r services, thereby negatively impacting the business opportunities availabla e to us.

In addition to the laws abovea , we may see more stringent state and federal privacy legislation in futff urt e years,
including potential changes to HIPAA, the enactment of a broad federal consumer privacy law, and the enactment of
additional consumer privacy laws or health privacy laws in various states. The enactment of such legislation and
increased focus on daff ta protection may be more likely as the increase in cyber attacks has once again put a spotlight
on data privacy and security in the U.S. and other jurisdictions. We cannot predict where new legislation might arise,
the scope of such legislation, or the potential impact to our business and operations.

Further, we are also subject to a provision of the federff al 21st Century Cures Act and related regulations that
are intended to faciff litate the appropra iate exchange of electronic health information ("EHI"). Beginning in 2020, the
U.S. Department of Health and Human Services’ ("HHS") Offiff ce of the National Coordinator forff Health Information
Technology (“ONC”) promulgated finff al rules to support access, exchange, and use of EHI. Specifically, the
information blocking regulations were implemented as part of the 21st Century Cures Act, and are primarily designed
to facilitate technology interoperabia lity and enabla e the free floff w of EHI. The original information blocking regulations
compliance date was April 5, 2021 and the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (“HHS”) subsu equently
issued a finff al rule called the HTI-1 Rule that, among other things, revised the information blocking regulations,
effeff ctive March 11, 2024.On August 5, 2024, ONC published in the Federal Register a proposed rule called the HTI-
2 Proposed Rule that, among other things, will further revise the information blocking regulations, if finff alized. Under
the 21st Century Cures Act, health care providers that violate the information blocking prohibition will be subju ect to
appropriate disincentives. On July 1, 2024, the HHS published in the Federal Register a final rulr e to establish such
disincentives, effeff ctive July 31, 2024. Developers of certified information technology and health information
networks/health information exchanges, however, may be subju ect to civil monetary penalties of up tu o $1 million per
violation (adjud sted for inflaff tion). The HHS Offiff ce of Inspector General (“OIG”) has the authority to impose such
penalties and on July 3, 2023, published a final rulrr e in the Federal Register codifying new authority in regulation,
which became effeff ctive September 1, 2023. On July 29, 2024, HHS published a statement in the Federal Register that,
among other things, announced a reorganization of certain roles and functions and renamed ONC the Assistant
Secretary frr orff Technology Policy and Offiff ce of the National Coordinator forff Health Information Technology, or
ASTP/ONC. The impact on the information blocking rulrr es to our business is currently unclear.

On December 1, 2022, the HHS Offiff ce for Civil Rights issued, and subsu equently updated on March 18, 2024,
and June 26, 2024, a bulletin on the requirements under HIPAA for online tracking technologies (e.g., cookies, pixels)
to protect the privacy and security of PHI. This bulletin outlined the HHS OCR’s position on the use of online tracking
technology vendors, when certain information received by such vendors constitutt es PHI under HIPAA, and
accordingly, when business associate agreements must be executed between covered entities, like the Company, and
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such vendors. We may incur additional expense to comply with this bulletin and futurff e guidance froff m the HHS OCR's
on online tracking technologies, and agency’s heightened focus on website tracking technologies could pose
enforcement risk to the Company in the future.

If we are alleged to not comply with existing or new laws, rules and regulations related to PHI or other
personal information we could be subject to litigation and to sanctions that include monetary fines, civil or
administrative penalties, civil damage awards or criminal penalties, and incur reputational harm and a negative market
perception. For example, entities that are found to be in violation of HIPAA as a result of a breach of unsecured PHI,
a complaint about privacy practices or an audit by HHS may be subjeb ct to significant civil, criminal and administrative
fines and penalties and/or additional reporting and oversight obligations if required to enter into a resolution agreement
and corrective action plan with HHS to settle allegations of HIPAA non-compliance. HIPAA has ranges of increasing
minimum penalty amounts tiered according to the entity’s degree of culpability. Breaches of unsecured PHI may also
result in unexpected costs to us, upwards of millions of dollars, through third party litigation, contractuat l breach
resolution, breach notificff ation and remediation. In addition, we may experience reputational harm and a negative
market perception when it comes to protecting patient data and other personal information that could influff ence our
future operations. HIPAA also authorizes state Attorneys General to filff e suit on behalf of their residents forff alleged
violations of HIPAA. Courts may award damages, costs and attorneys’ fees related to violations of HIPAA in such
cases. While HIPAA does not create a private right of action allowing individuals to sue us in civil court forff violations
of HIPAA, its standards have been used as the basis forff establa ishing the dutd y of care in state civil suits such as those
for negligence or recklessness.

Our compliance with frequently changing and increasingly burdensome regulations and requirements may
cause us to incur substantial costs or require us to change our business practices, which may impact our financial
condition. Any such claim, proceeding or action could harm our reputation, brand and business, force us to incur
significant expenses in defense of such proceedings, distract our management, increase our costs of doing business,
result in a loss of customers and suppliers or an inability to process credit card payments and may result in the
imposition of monetary penalties. We may also be contractuat lly required to indemnify aff nd hold harmless third parties
from the costs or consequences of non-compliance with any laws, regulations or other legal obligations relating to
privacy or consumer protection or any inadvertent or unauthorized use or disclosure of data that we store or handle as
part of operating our business.

Risks Related to Competition and Consolidationp

Our industry is highly competitive.

The healthcare industry irr s highly competitive and subju ect to continual changes in the methods by which
services are provided and the manner in which healthcare providers are selected and compensated. Because our
operations consist primarily of physician services provided within hospital-based units, we compete with other
healthcare services companies and physician groups for contracts with hospitals to provide our services to patients.
We also face competition froff m hospitals themselves to provide our services.

Further, consolidation within the healthcare industry crr ould strengthen certain competitors that provide
services to hospitals and other customers. Companies in other healthcare industry srr egments, some of which have
greater financial and other resources than ours, may become competitors in providing neonatal, maternal-fetal or other
pediatric subspecialty care. Additionally, we face coff mpetition froff m healthcare-focused and other private equity firms.
We may not be able to continue to compete effectively in this indusd try,rr additional competitors may enter metropolitan
areas where we operate, and this increased competition may have an adverse effect on our business, financial
condition, results of operations, cash floff ws and the trading price of our securities.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

ITEM 1C. CYBERSECURITY
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Cybersecurity Risk Management and Strategy

We have developed and implemented a cybersecurity risk management program intended to protect the
confidff entiality, integrity and availability of our critical systems and information. As part of this program, we have
processes in place that are designed to assess, identify aff nd manage material risks froff m cybersecurity threats, which
are part of the Company’s overall enterprise risk management process and have been embedded in the Company’s
operating procedurd es, internal controls and information systems.

We design and assess our program based on various cybersecurity frameworks, such as the National Institutet
of Standards and Technology (“NIST”) 800-53, including derivatives such as NIST Cybersecurity Framework
(“CSF”) and HITRUSRR T, as well as NIST 800-66 and the Center for Internet Security (“CIS”). Recently we have
obtained HITRUST certification for oneff of our core clinical applications, however this does not mean that overall we
meet any particular technical standards, specificff ations, or requirements, but only that we use these standards as a guide
to help us design and assess our program.

We rely on a multidisciplinary trr eam, including our information security organization, legal department,
management, and third-party service providers, as described further below, to assess, identify,ff and manage
cybersecurity threats and risks.

Our cybersecurity risk management program includes:

• risk assessments designed to help identify mff aterial cybersecurity risks to our critical systems, information,
services, and our broader enterprrr ise information technology (“IT”) environment, including monitoring
and evaluating our threat environment and our risk profile;ff

• a security governance council principally responsible for management’s oversight of our IT security;

• the use of external service providers, where appropriate, to assess, test, or otherwise assist with aspects of
our cybersecurity controls;

• a third-party risk management process forff service providers, suppliers and vendors covering compliance
and technical controls;

• cybersecurity awareness training for ourff employees, incident response personnel and senior management;
and

• a cybersecurity incident response plan with established procedurd es for assessing and responding to
cybersecurity incidents, and that includes having an experienced incident response firff m on retainer.

For information on the Company’s cybersecurity-related risks, see “Information Systems, Cybersecurity and
Data Privacy Risks” in Item 1A. Risk Factors in this Form 10-K. While to date we have not identified any breaches
from known cybersecurity threats, including as a result of any prior cybersecurity incidents, that have materially
affeff cted or are reasonably likely to materially affect us, including our business strategy, results of operations, or
financial condition, the sophistication of cybersecurity threats continues to increase, and the preventive actions we
take to reduce the risk of cybersecurity incidents and protect our systems and information may be insufficff ient.
Accordingly, no matter how well our program is designed or implemented, we will not be abla e to anticipate all security
breaches, and we may not be able to implement effecff tive preventive measures against such security breaches in a
timely manner.

Cybersecurity Governance

Our Board of Directors considers cybersecurity risk as part of its risk oversight function and oversees
management’s implementation of our cybersecurity risk management program. Our Board of Directors has elected to
exercise direct oversight over this area, rather than acting through one of its committees, given the increasing
importance of cybersecurity matters and the cross-functional impacts of technology on our business. Our Board of
Directors receives reports at least twice per year from members of senior management, including our Chief
Information Security Offiff cer (“CISO”) and Chief Compliance Officer, regarding the Company’s information systems
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and technology and associated policies, processes, and practices for managing and mitigating cybersecurity and
technology-related risks. Our Board of Directors also meets with external advisors to discuss technology and
cybersecurity risks appla icable to the Company and obtains perspectives which inform senior management’s
discussions with our Board of Directors. Our Board of Directors has delegated oversight of the process for determining
disclosure required with respect to cybersecurity incidents to its Audit Committee.

At the management level, our information security organization is led by our CISO, who is responsible for
cybersecurity risk management, with oversight by our Board of Directors. Our CISO has more than 20 years of
experience in information security and IT risk management. He has specific experience in the folff lowing information
security areas: security governance and policy, information security strategy and planning, penetration testing,
vulnerabia lity management, cybersecurity threat intelligence, incident response, third party risk management, cloud
security, appla ication security, identity and access management, data loss prevention, and security awareness.

Our CISO is informed abouta and monitors prevention, detection, mitigation, and remediation effortff s through
regular communication and reporting froff m professionals in the information security organization, many of whom hold
cybersecurity certificff ations such as a Certified Information Systems Security Profesff sional ("CISSP"), Certifieff d Data
Privacy Solutions Engineer ("CDPSE"), or Security+ and through the use of technological tools and software and
results froff m third-party audits. Our cybersecurity incident response fraff mework is governed by a cybersecurity incident
response plan, which sets out our approach for categorizing, responding to, and mitigating cybersecurity incidents.
We have an incident response team comprised of our CISO, executive leaders, management and internal and external
legal counsel, whose primary responsibilities include:

• Evaluating and validating the impact of an incident;

• Approving certain incident response countermeasures and remediation actions;

• Escalating incidents and response countermeasures for approvaa l; and

• Acting in an advisory capaa city in supporu t of cybersecurity incident remediation, as appropriate.

We have also establa ished a security governance council (the “Council”) to furff ther strengthen our
cybersecurity risk management activities across the Company. The Council includes our Chief Executive Offiff cer,
Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Offiff cer and Treasurer, Executive Vice President, General Counsel, Chief
Administrative Officer and Secretary, Senior Vice President, Operations, Senior Vice President and Chief Information
Offiff cer, Senior Vice President, People Services, Vice President and Chief Information Security Offiff cer, Vice
President, Chief Compliance Officff er, and Associate Vice President, Internal Audit. The Council meets quarterly and
is responsible for management’s oversight of our IT security in a cohesive and holistic manner that is designed to
enable optimal decision-making.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our corporate office building, which we own, is located in Sunrise, Florida and contains 80,000 square feet
of offiff ce space. We also lease space in medical offiff ce buildings affiff liated with hospitals and other facilities forff our
business and medical offices, and other needs. We believe that our facilities and the equipment used in our business
are in good condition, in all material respects, and suffiff cient forff our present needs.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The information required by this Item is included in and incorporated herein by reference to Item 1. Business
of this Form 10-K under “Government Investigations” and “Other Legal Proceedings.”

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not appla icable.
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PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANRR T’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Common Stock

Our common stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange (the “NYSE”) under the symbol “MD.”

As of February 14, 2025, we had 163 holders of record of our common stock, and the closing sales price on
that date for our common stock was $14.05 per share. We believe that the number of beneficff ial owners of our common
stock is greater than the number of record holders because a significant number of shares of our common stock is held
through brokerage firms in “street name.”

Dividend Policy

We did not declare or pay any cash dividends on our common stock in 2024, 2023, or 2022. The payment of
any futurff e dividends will be at the discretion of our Board of Directors and will depend upon, among other things,
future earnings, results of operations, capital requirements, our general finff ancial condition, general business conditions
and contractual restrictions on payment of dividends, if any, as well as such other factff ors as our Board of Directors
may deem relevant. Our credit agreement (the “Credit Agreement”) imposes certain limitations on our ability to
declare and pay cash dividends. See Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations—“Liquidity and Capital Resources.”
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Perforff mance Graph

The folff lowing graph compares the cumulative total shareholder returt n on $100 invested on December 31,
2019 in our common stock against the cumulative total return of the S&P 500 Index, S&P 600 Health Care Index, and
the NYSE Composite Index. The returnst are calculated assuming reinvestment of dividends. The graph covers the
period from December 31, 2019 through December 31, 2024. The stock price performance included in the graph is
not necessarily indicative of future stock price performance.

The perfor rmance gragg pha shall not be deemed incorporated by refee rence by any general statement
incorporating by rb eference this annual repore t into any filing under the Securities Act of 1933 or the SecuSS rities
Exchange Act of 1934, excepte to the extee ent that we specifii cally incorporate this iii nformation by refee rence, and shall
not otherwise be deedd med filff ed under such acts.tt

Base Period Years Ended December 31,
Company/Index 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

Pediatrix Medical Group, Inc. $ 100.00 $ 88.31 $ 97.91 $ 53.47 $ 33.47 $ 47.21
S&P 500 Index $ 100.00 $ 116.26 $ 147.29 $ 118.84 $ 147.64 $ 182.05
S&P 600 Health Care $ 100.00 $ 131.41 $ 138.98 $ 102.25 $ 99.53 $ 102.90
NYSE Composite Index $ 100.00 $ 104.40 $ 123.37 $ 109.14 $ 121.13 $ 137.26

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

During the three months ended December 31, 2024, we withheld 57,056 shares of our common stock to
satisfy minimum statutory withholding obligations in connection with the vesting of restricted stock.

Period

Total Number
of Shares

Repurchased (a)

Average
Price
Paid per
Share

Total Number of
Shares

Purchased
as part of

the Repurchase
Program

Approximate
Dollar

Value of Shares
that May Yet
Be Purchased
Under the
Repurchase
Programs (a)

October 1 – October 31, 2024 57,056 (b) $ 11.26 — (a)
November 1 – November 30, 2024 — — — (a)
December 1 – December 31, 2024 — — — (a)
Total 57,056 $ 11.26 — (a)
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a) We have two active repurchase programs. Our July 2013 program allows us to repurchase shares of our common stock up to an
amount sufficient to offset the dilutive impact from the issuance of shares under our equity compensation programs. Our August
2018 repurchase program allows us to repurchase up to an au dditional $500.0 million of shares of our common stock, of which we
repurchased $497.1 million as of December 31, 2024.

b) Shares withheld to satisfy nominal minimum statutort y wrr ithholding obligations in connection with the vesting of restricted stock.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Equity Securities

During the three months ended December 31, 2024, we did not sell any unregistered shares of our equity
securities.

Equity Compensation Plans

Inforff mation regarding equity compensation plans is set forff th in Item 12 of this Form 10-K and is incorporated
herein by reference.
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ITEM 6. RESERVED
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ITEM 7.MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSIONANDANALYSISOF FINANCIALCONDITIONANDRESULTS
OF OPERATRR IONS

The folff lowing discussion highlights the principal facff tors that have affeff cted our financial condition and results
of operations as well as our liquidity and capital resources for the periods described. This discussion should be read
in conjunction with our Consolidated Financial Statements and the related notes included in Item 8 of this Form 10-
K. This discussion contains forward-looking statements. Please see the explanatory nrr ote concerning “Forward-
Looking Statements” preceding Part I of this Form 10-K and Item 1A. Risk Factors forff a discussion of the
uncertainties, risks and assumptions associated with these forff ward-looking statements. The operating results for the
periods presented were not significantly affeff cted by inflation.

This section generally discusses 2024 and 2023 items and year-to-year comparisons between 2024 and 2023.
Discussions of 2022 items and year-to-year comparisons between 2023 and 2022 are not included in this Form 10-K
and can be found in “Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in
Part II, Item 7 of the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K forff the fisff cal year ended December 31, 2023 filed with
the SEC on February 20, 2024 (the “2023 Annual Report”) and are incorporated herein by reference.

OVERVIR EW

Pediatrix is a leading provider of physician services including newborn, maternal-fetal and other pediatric
subspeu cialty care. Our national network is comprised of affilff iated physicians who provide clinical care in 36 states.
At December 31, 2024, our national network comprised approxia mately 2,335 affiff liated physicians, including 1,335
physicians who provide neonatal clinical care, primarily within hospital-based neonatal intensive care units
(“NICUs”), to babies born prematurely or with medical complications. We have 490 affiff liated physicians who provide
maternal-fetal anff d obstetrical medical care to expectant mothers experiencing complicated pregnancies primarily in
areas where our affiff liated neonatal physicians practice. Our network also includes other pediatric subspecialists,
including 240 physicians providing hospital-based pediatric care, over 230 physicians providing pediatric intensive
care, and 20 physicians providing pediatric surgical care.

General Economic Conditdd iott ns and Other Factorstt

Our operations and performance depend significantly on economic conditions. During the year ended
December 31, 2024, the percentage of our patient service revenue being reimbursed under government-sponsored or
funded healthcare programs (“GHC Programs”) decreased as compared to the year ended December 31, 2023. We
could, however, experience shifts toff ward GHC Programs if changes occur in economic behaviors or population
demographics within geographic locations in which we provide services, including an increase in unemployment and
underemployment as well as losses of commercial health insurance. Payments received froff m GHC Programs are
subsu tantially less forff equivalent services than payments received froff m commercial insurance payors. In addition, costs
of managed care premiums and patient responsibility amounts continue to rise, and accordingly, we may experience
lower net revenue resulting froff m increased bad debt dued to patients’ inability to pay forff certain services. See Item 1A.
Risk Factors, in this Form 10-K forff additional discussion on the general economic conditions in the United States and
recent developments in the healthcare industry trr hat could affect our business.

Practice PorPP tfolff ioll Managea ment Plan anll d ImpII airmi ent of Lo ong-Li- ved Assets

During the second quarter of 2024, we formalized our physician practice optimization plans, resulting in a
decision to exit almost all of our affiff liated offiff ce-based practices, other than maternal-fetal medicine. Over the course
of many years, we expanded our pediatric service lines and footprint to provide specialized care to more patients,
including through our offiff ce-based portfolff io of practices. This added complexity to our operations over time and,
accordingly, increased costs that resulted in operating challenges primarily for our offiff ce-based portfolff io of practices.
Recognizing this and our need to adapt to the current healthcare climate, durd ing the second quarter, we made the
decision to return to a hospital-based and maternal-fetal medicine-focused organization. Accordingly, a recoverabia lity
assessment forff each impacted individuad l physician practice was performed, and the estimated futurff e cash floff ws related
to the physician practices did not supporu t the carrying value of the specifically identified individual long-lived assets.
As a result, we recorded fixed asset impairments of $20.1 million, operating lease right-of-use asset impairments of
$12.5 million and intangible asset impairments of $7.7 million durd ing the year ended December 31, 2024. The
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operating lease right-of-use impairments are recorded within the transformational and restructurt ing related expenses
line item. As of December 31, 2024, the planned exits of our pediatric office-based practices were completed.

Exit of Primary ar nd Urger nt Care Service Line

During 2024, we made the decision to exit our primary arr nd urgent care service line based on a review of the
cost and time that would be required to build the platforff m to scale. The total loss on disposal of these businesses was
$11.0 million.

“Surprrr ise” Billinii g Legislation

In late 2020, Congress enacted the No Surprises Act (“NSA”) legislation intended to protect patients fromff
“surprise” medical bills when certain services are furniff shed by providers who are not in-network with the patient’s
insurer. Effeff ctive January 1, 2022, if a patient’s insurance plan or coverage is subju ect to the NSA, providers are not
permitted to send such patient an unexpected or “surprise” medical bill that arises from out-of-network emergency
care provided at certain out-of-network faciff lities or at certain in-network facilities by out-of-network emergency
providers, as well as nonemergency care provided at certain in-network facilities by out-of-network providers without
the patient’s informed consent (as defined by the NSA). Many states have legislation on this topic and will continue
to modify and review their laws pertaining to surprise billing.

For claims subju ect to the NSA, insurers are required to calculate the patient’s total cost-sharing amount
pursuant to rulr es set forff th in the NSA and its implementing regulations which, in some cases, can be calculated by
reference to the applicable qualifying payment amount for the items or services received. The patient’s cost-sharing
amount for out-of-network services covered by the NSA must be no more than the patient’s in-network cost-sharing
amounts. Patient cost-sharing amounts forff items and services subju ect to the NSA count toward the patient’s health
plan deductible and out-of-pocket cost-sharing limits. For claims subju ect to the NSA, providers are generally not
permitted to balance bill patients beyond this cost-sharing amount. An out-of-network provider is only permitted to
bill a patient more than the cost-sharing amount allowed under the NSA forff certain types of services if the provider
satisfies all aspects of an informed consent process set forth in the NSA’s implementing regulations. Providers that
violate these surprise billing prohibitions may be subject to enforcement actions by CMS or by states, one or both of
which may be tasked with investigating potential non-compliance as a result of patient complaints, as well as any
state-specific penalties enforff cement action and federal civil monetary penalties.

For claims subject to the NSA, including many emergency care services, out-of-network providers will be
paid an initial amount determined by the plan; if a provider is not satisfied with the initial amount paid for the services,
the provider can pursue recourse through an independent dispute resolution ("IDR") process. The outcome of each
IDR dispute is generally binding on both the provider and payor with respect to the particular claims at issue in that
dispute but may not affeff ct an insurer’s future offersff of payment. Accordingly, we cannot predict how these IDR results
will compare to the rates that our affiff liated physicians customarily receive for their services. These measures could
limit the amount we can charge and recover for services we furnish where we have not contracted with the patient’s
insurer, and therefore could have a material adverse effecff t on our business, financial condition, results of operations,
cash floff ws and the trading price of our securities. See Item 1A. Risk Factors “Congress or states have, and may
continue to, enact laws restricting the amount out-of-network providers of services can charge and recover forff such
services.”

Healthll care Refoe rm

The ACA has altered how health care is delivered and reimbursed in the U.S. and contains various provisions,
including the establishment of health insurance exchanges to faciff litate the purchase of qualified health plans, expanded
Medicaid eligibility, subsu idized insurance premiums and additional requirements and incentives for busff inesses to
provide healthcare benefits. Other provisions of the ACA have expanded the scope and reach of the FCA and other
healthcare fraff ud and abusa e laws. The status of the ACA may be subju ect to change as a result of political, legislative,
regulatory, and administrative developments, as well as judicial proceedings. As a result, we could be affected by
potential changes to various aspects of the ACA, including changes to subsidies, healthcare insurance marketplaces
and Medicaid expansion. We cannot say forff certain whether there will be additional futurff e challenges to the ACA or
what impact, if any, such challenges may have on our business. Changes resulting froff m various legal proceedings,



58

and any legislative or administrative change to the current healthcare finff ancing system, could have a material adverse
effeff ct on our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash floff ws and the trading price of our securities.
See Item 1A. Risk Factors “Potential healthcare reforff m efforff ts may have a significant effecff t on our business.”

In addition to the ACA, there could be changes to other GHC Programs, such as a change to the Medicaid
program design or Medicaid coverage and reimbursement rates set forth under federalff or state law. These changes, if
implemented, could eliminate the guarantee that everyonerr who is eligible and appla ies forff Medicaid benefitsff would
receive them and could potentially give states new authority to restrict eligibility, cut benefits and/or make it more
difficult for people to enroll. See Item 1. Business – “Relationship With Our Partners – Government Regulatory
Requirements” and see also Item 1A. Risk Factors “Potential healthcare reforff m efforts may have a significant effeff ct
on our business.” Moreover, the expiration of the COVID-19 national emergency and public health emergency
declarations in May 2023 may impact the coverage for and access to certain services for Medicaid patients. Expiration
of the national emergency and public health emergency declarations will also end waivers for the provision of certain
services, and returning our services to a pre-pandemic regulatory srr tate similarly may increase our exposure to legal,
regulatory, compliance and clinical risks.

Medicaid Expanxx sion

The ACA also allows states to expand their Medicaid programs through federal payments that fundff most of
the cost of increasing the Medicaid eligibility income limit froff m a state’s historic eligibility levels to 133% of the
federal poverty level. See Item 1. Business – “Relationship With Our Partners – Third-Party Payors.” All of the states
in which we operate, however, already cover children in the first year of life aff nd pregnant women if their household
income is at or below 133% of the federalff poverty level. Recently, Democrats in Congress have sought to expand
Medicaid or Medicaid-like coverage in states that have not yet expanded Medicaid. They also have sought to reduce
payments to certain hospitals in some of these states. See Item 1A. Risk Factors – “State budgetary constraints and
the uncertainty over the future of Medicaid could have an adverse effect on our reimbursement from Medicaid
programs.” Should any of these changes take effect, we cannot predict with any assurance the ultimate effeff ct on
reimbursements for ourff services.

RCM Services Agreement

On October 30, 2023, we provided notice to R1RCM that we were terminating that certain Services
Agreement, dated May 12, 2021, as amended, by and between our wholly owned subsidiary PMG Services, Inc. and
R1RCM, effecff tive as of December 15, 2023 (the "Services Agreement"). Our termination of the Services Agreement
was in connection with R1RCM’s perforff mance, specifically R1RCM's faiff lure to meet certain service levels set forth
in the Services Agreement. R1RCM was the primary prr rovider of our enterprise revenue cycle management services.
During 2024, we transitioned to a hybrid revenue cycle management funcff tion that utilizes both our corporate personnel
and a new third party RCM provider. See Item 1A. Risk Factors “During 2024, we undertook a transformation of
our revenue cycle management funcff tion from an outsourced provider to a hybrid function that utilizes both our
corporate personnel as well as third-party service providers. Our failure to execute a hybrid revenue cycle management
function efficff iently and effectively may have a material impact on our business, financial condition, results of
operations, cash floff ws and the trading price of our securities.”

2024 Acquisition Activity

During 2024, we acquired one maternal-fetal medicine practice. Based on our experience, we expect that we
can improve the results of acquired physician practices in various ways, including improved collections, identificff ation
of growth initiatives and operating and cost savings based uponu the significant infraff structurt e that we have developed.

Goodwill Impaim rmii ent

Goodwill is tested for impairment on at least an annual basis, in accordance with the subsequent measurement
provisions of the accounting guidance for goodwff ill. Consistent with prior years, we performed our annual impairment
analysis in the third quarter, specifically as of July 31, 2024. At that date, we elected to perform a quantitative
assessment and determined no impairment existed.
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During the second quarter of 2024, we experienced a triggering event, due to a sustained decline in our stock
price and a market capitalization below our book equity value. This assessment resulted in a non-cash impairment
charge of $126.4 million forff the year ended December 31, 2024. Recognition of this non-cash charge against goodwill
resulted in a tax benefitff which generated an additional deferff red tax asset of $24.2 million that increased our book
value. An incremental non-cash charge was required to reducd e our book value to its previously determined fair value.
Accordingly, we recorded the incremental non-cash charge of $24.2 million forff a total non-cash charge of $150.6
million.

Transforff matirr on and Restructuringii Related IniII tiaii tives

From time to time we develop strategic initiatives across our organization, in both our shared services
functions and our operational infraff structurt e, with a goal of generating improvements in our general and administrative
expenses and our operational infraff structurt e. We have included the expenses, which in certain cases represent
estimates, related to such activity on a separate line item in our consolidated statements. During 2024, our
transforff mation and restrucrr turing related expenses relate specifically to our practice portfolff io management activities,
revenue cycle management transition activities and position eliminations across various shared services and operations
departments.

Geographic Coverage

During 2024 and 2023, approximately 67% of our net revenue from continuing operations was generated by
operations in our five largest states. During 2024 and 2023, our five largest states consisted of Texas, Florida, Georgia,
Californiff a, and Washington. During both 2024 and 2023, our operations in Texas accounted for approxia mately 32%
of our net revenue.

Payor Mix

We bill payors for profff esff sional services provided by our affiff liated physicians to our patients based uponu rates
for specific services provided. Our billed charges are substantially the same forff all parties in a particular geographic
area regardless of the party responsible for paying the bill for our services. We determine our net revenue based uponu
the differeff nce between our gross feeff s forff services and our estimated ultimate collections from payors. Net revenue
differs from gross feesff due to (i) managed care payments at contracted rates, (ii) GHC Program reimbursements at
government-established rates, (iii) various reimbursement plans and negotiated reimbursements froff m other third-
parties, and (iv) discounted and uncollectible accounts of private-pay patients.

Our payor mix is composed of contracted managed care, government, principally Medicaid, other third-
parties and private-pay patients. We benefit froff m the fact that most of the medical services provided in the NICU are
classified as emergency services, a category trr ypically classified as a covered service by managed care payors.

The folff lowing is a summary of our payor mix, expressed as a percentage of net revenue from continuing
operations, exclusive of administrative fees and miscellaneous revenue, forff the periods indicated:

Years Ended December 31,
2024 2023

Contracted managed care 70% 67%
Government 24% 26%
Other third-parties 4% 5%
Private-pay patients 2% 2%

100% 100%

The payor mix shown in the tabla e abovea is not necessarily representative of the amount of services provided
to patients covered under these plans. For example, the gross amount billed to patients covered under GHC Programs
for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 represented approxia mately 53% and 55%, respectively, of our total
gross patient service revenue. These percentages of gross revenue and the percentages of net revenue provided in the
tabla e abovea include the payor mix impact of acquisitions completed through December 31, 2024.
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Quarterly Results

We have historically experienced and expect to continue to experience quarterly fluctuations in net revenue
and net income. These fluctuations are primarily due to the folff lowing factors:

• There are fewer calendar days in the first and second quarters of the year, as compared to the third and
fourth quarters of the year. Because we provide services in NICUs on a 24-hours-a-day basis, 365 days a
year, any reduction in service days will have a corresponding reduction in net revenue.

• The majority of physician services provided by our offiff ce-based practices consist of office visits and
scheduled procedurd es that occur durd ing business hours. As a result, volumes at those practices fluctuate
based on the number of business days in each calendar quarter.

• A significant number of our employees and our associated profesff sional contractors, primarily physicians,
exceed the level of taxable wages forff social security during the first and second quarters of the year. As a
result, we incur a significantly higher payroll tax burden and our net income is lower during those quarters.

We have significant fixff ed operating costs, including physician compensation, and, as a result, are highly
dependent on patient volume and capacity utilization of our affiff liated profesff sional contractors to sustain profitff ability.
Additionally, quarterly results may be affected by the timing of acquisitions and fluff ctuat tions in patient volume. As a
result, the operating results for any quarter are not necessarily indicative of results for any future period or for the full
year.

Application of Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The preparation of finff ancial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States (“GAAP”) requires estimates and assumptions that affeff ct the reporting of assets, liabia lities, revenue and
expenses, and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabia lities. Note 2 to our Consolidated Financial Statements
provides a summary of our significant accounting policies, which are all in accordance with GAAP. Certain of our
accounting policies are critical to understanding our Consolidated Financial Statements because their appla ication
requires management to make assumptions about future results and depends to a large extent on management’s
judgment, because past results have fluff ctuat ted and are expected to continue to do so in the futurff e.

We believe that the appla ication of the accounting policies described in the folff lowing paragraphs is highly
dependent on critical estimates and assumptions that are inherently uncertain and highly susceptible to change. For all
of these policies, we caution that futurff e events rarely develop exactly as estimated, and the best estimates routinely
require adjud stment. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates and assumptions, including those discussed below.

Revenue Recogno itiontt

We recognize patient service revenue at the time services are provided by our affiff liated physicians. Our
perforff mance obligations relate to the delivery orr f services to patients and are satisfied at the time of service.
Accordingly, there are no performance obligations that are unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied at the end of the
reporting period with respect to patient service revenue. Almost all of our patient service revenue is reimbursed by
GHC Programs and third-party insurance payors. Payments for services rendered to our patients are generally less
than billed charges. We monitor our revenue and receivables from these sources and record an estimated contractualt
allowance to properly account for the anticipated differeff nces between billed and reimbursed amounts.

Accordingly, patient service revenue is presented net of an estimated provision for contractuat l adjustments
and uncollectibles. Management estimates allowances for contractuat l adjustments and uncollectibles on accounts
receivable based upon historical experience and other factors, including days sales outstanding (“DSO”) forff accounts
receivable, evaluation of expected adjud stments and delinquency rates, past adjustments and collection experience in
relation to amounts billed, an aging of accounts receivable, current contract and reimbursement terms, changes in
payor mix and other relevant information. Collection of patient service revenue we expect to receive is normally a
function of providing complete and correct billing information to the GHC Programs and third-party insurance payors
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within the various filing deadlines and typically occurs within 30 to 60 days of billing. Contractuat l adjustments result
from the difference between the physician rates for services performed and the reimbursements by GHC Programs
and third-party insurance payors forff such services. The evaluation of these historical and other factors involves
complex, subju ective judgments. On a routine basis, we compare our cash collections to recorded net patient service
revenue and evaluate our historical allowance forff contractuat l adjustments and uncollectibles based upon the ultimate
resolution of the accounts receivable balance. These procedurd es are completed regularly in order to monitor our
process of establishing appropra iate reserves for contractuat l adjustments. We have not recorded any material
adjud stments to prior period contractuat l adjustments and uncollectibles in the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023,
or 2022.

Some of our agreements require hospitals to pay us administrative feeff s. Some agreements provide for feesff if
the hospital does not generate sufficient patient volume in order to guarantee that we receive a specified minimum
revenue level. We also receive feeff s froff m hospitals for administrative services performed by our affiff liated physicians
providing medical director or other services at the hospital.

DSO is one of the key factors that we use to evaluate the condition of our accounts receivable and the related
allowances for contractuat l adjustments and uncollectibles. DSO refleff cts the timeliness of cash collections on billed
revenue and the level of reserves on outstanding accounts receivable. Any significant change in our DSO results in
additional analyses of outstanding accounts receivable and the associated reserves. We calculate our DSO using a
three-month rolling average of net revenue. Our net revenue, net income and operating cash floff ws may be materially
and adversely affected if actuat l adjustments and uncollectibles exceed management’s estimated provisions as a result
of changes in these factors. As of December 31, 2024, our DSO was 47.6 days. We had approximately $1.34 billion
in gross accounts receivable forff continuing operations outstanding at December 31, 2024, and considering this
outstanding balance, based on our historical experience, a reasonably likely change of 0.5% to 1.50% in our estimated
collection rate would result in an impact to net revenue of $6.4 million to $19.1 million. The impact of this change
does not include adjud stments that may be required as a result of audits, inquiries and investigations from government
authorities and agencies and other third-party payors that may occur in the ordinary course of business. See Note 19
to our Consolidated Financial Statements in this Form 10-K.

Profesff sional Liabiliii tyii Coveragea

We maintain profesff sional liabia lity insurance policies with third-party insurers generally on a claims-made
basis, subju ect to self-insured retention, exclusions and other restrictions. Our self-iff nsured retention under our
profesff sional liabia lity insurance program is maintained primarily through a wholly owned captive insurance subsidiary.
We record liabilities forff self-iff nsured amounts and claims incurred but not reported based on an actuarial valuation
using historical loss information, claim emergence patterns and various actuarial assumptions. Liabia lities forff claims
incurred but not reported are not discounted. The average lag period from the date a claim is reported to the date it
reaches final settlement is approximately four years, although the factff s and circumstances of individual claims could
result in lag periods that vary from this average. Our actuarial assumptions incorporate multiple complex
methodologies to determine the best liability estimate for claims incurred but not reported and the futurff e development
of known claims, including methodologies that focus on indusd try trr rends, paid loss development, reported loss
development and industry-barr sed expected pure premiums. The most significant assumptions used in the estimation
process include the use of loss development facff tors to determine the future emergence of claim liabia lities, the use of
frequency and trend facff tors to estimate the impact of economic, judicial and social changes affecting claim costs, and
assumptions regarding legal and other costs associated with the ultimate settlement of claims. The key assumptions
used in our actuarial valuations are subject to constant adjud stments as a result of changes in our actual loss history arr nd
the movement of projected emergence patterns as claims develop. We evaluate the need for professional liabia lity
insurance reserves in excess of amounts estimated in our actuarial valuations on a routine basis, and as of December
31, 2024, based on our historical experience for continuing operations, a reasonably likely change of 4.0% to 10.0%
in our estimates would result in an increase or decrease to net income of $3.5 million to $8.7 million. However,
because many factors can affeff ct historical and futff urt e loss patterns, the determination of an appropra iate profesff sional
liability reserve involves complex, subjective judgment, and actuat l results may vary srr ignificantly from estimates.

Goodwill
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We record acquired assets, including identifiabla e intangible assets and liabia lities at their respective fairff
values, recording to goodwill the excess of purchase price over the fair value of the net assets acquired. Goodwill is
tested for impairment at a reporting unit level on at least an annual basis in accordance with the subsequent
measurement provisions of the accounting guidance forff goodwill. When testing goodwill for impairment, we may
assess qualitative factff ors to determine whether it is more likely than not that the faiff r value of our single reporting unit
is less than its carrying amount, including goodwill. Alternatively, we may bypass this qualitative assessment and
perforff m the quantitative goodwill impairment test. We may use income and market-based valuation appra oaches to
determine the fair value of our reporting units. These approaches focus on various significant assumptions, including
the weighted average cost of capital discount factor, revenue growth rates and market multiples forff revenue and
earnings before interest, taxes and depreciation and amortization (“EBITDA”).We also consider the economic outlook
for the healthcare services industry arr nd various other factff ors durd ing the testing process, including hospital and
physician contract changes, local market developments, changes in third-party payor payments and other publicly
availabla e inforff mation.

Non-GAAP Measures

In our analysis of our results of operations, we use various GAAP and certain non-GAAP financial measures.
We have incurred certain expenses that we do not consider representative of our underlying operations, including
transforff mational and restructurt ing related expenses. Accordingly, we report adjusted earnings before interest, taxes
and depreciation and amortization (“Adjusted EBITDA”) froff m continuing operations, definff ed as income (loss) from
continuing operations before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization, and transformational and restructuring
related expenses. Adjusted earnings per share (“Adjud sted EPS”) froff m continuing operations has also been furff ther
adjud sted for these items and consists of diluted income (loss) froff m continuing operations per common and common
equivalent share adjusted forff amortization expense, stock-based compensation expense, transforff mational and
restructurt ing related expenses and any impacts from discrete tax events. For the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023
and 2022, both Adjusted EBITDA and Adjud sted EPS are being furff ther adjud sted to exclude loss on disposal of
businesses, impairment losses and the impacts froff m loss on the early extinguishment of debt, as relevant. We have
included Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EPS in this Form 10-K because each is a key measure used by our
management and board of directors to evaluate our operating performance, generate future operating plans and make
strategic decisions.

We believe these measures, in addition to income (loss) froff m continuing operations, net income (loss) and
diluted net income (loss) from continuing operations per common and common equivalent share, provide investors
with usefulff supplu emental information to compare and understand our underlying business trends and performance
across reporting periods on a consistent basis. These measures should be considered a supplement to, and not a
subsu titute for, financial performance measures determined in accordance with GAAP. In addition, since these non-
GAAP measures are not determined in accordance with GAAP, they are susceptible to varyingrr calculations and may
not be comparable to other similarly titled measures of other companies. We encourage investors to review our
financial statements and publicly-filed reports in their entirety and not to rely on any single finff ancial measure.

For a reconciliation of each of Adjud sted EBITDA from continuing operations and Adjusted EPS from
continuing operations to the most directly comparabla e GAAP measures for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023
and 2022, refer to the tabla es below (in thousands, except per share data).
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Years Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022

(Loss) income from continuing operations attributable to
Pediatrix Medical Group, Inc. $ (99,069 ) $ (60,408 ) $ 62,568
Interest expense 40,743 42,075 39,695
Income tax (benefit) provision (2,272 ) 12,049 18,806
Depreciation and amortization expense 32,226 36,171 35,636
Transforff mational and restructuring related expenses 64,260 2,219 27,312
Impairment losses 178,435 168,312 —
Loss on disposal of businesses 9,699 — —
Loss on early extinguishment of debt — — 57,016

Adjud sted EBITDA from continuing operations attributable to
Pediatrix Medical Group, Inc. $ 224,022 $ 200,418 $ 241,033

Years Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022

Weighted average diluted shares outstanding 83,330 82,201 84,121
(Loss) income from continuing operations and
diluted (loss) income from continuing operations
per share attributable to Pediatrix Medical Group,
Inc. $ (99,069 ) $ (1.19 ) $ (60,408 ) $ (0.73 ) $ 62,568 $ 0.74
Adjud stments (1):
Amortization (net of tax of $2,373, $2,010 and
$2,242) 7,120 0.09 6,032 0.07 6,727 0.08
Stock-based compensation (net of tax of
$2,473, $3,081 and $3,596) 7,420 0.09 9,242 0.11 10,788 0.13
Transforff mational and restructuring related
expenses (net of tax of $16,065, $555 and
$6,828) 48,195 0.58 1,664 0.02 20,484 0.24
Impairment losses (net of tax of $31,633 and
$42,078) 146,802 1.76 126,234 1.54 — —
Loss on disposal of businesses (net of tax of
$2,425) 7,274 0.09 — — — —
Loss on early extinguishment of debt (net of
tax of $14,254 ) — — — — 42,762 0.51
Net impact froff m discrete tax events 7,912 0.09 20,825 0.25 (3,370 ) (0.04 )

Adjud sted income and diluted EPS from continuing
operations attributable to Pediatrix Medical
Group, Inc. $ 125,654 $ 1.51 $ 103,589 $ 1.26 $ 139,959 $ 1.66

(1) A blended tax rate of 25% was used to calculate the tax effeff cts of the adjud stments forff the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively, other
than for impairment losses forff the year ended December 31, 2024, due to a portion of the expenses being non-deductible.
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RESULTS OF OPERATRR IONS

The folff lowing tabla e sets forff th, forff the periods indicated, certain information related to our continuing
operations expressed as a percentage of our net revenue:

Years Ended December 31,
2024 2023

Net revenue 100.0% 100.0%
Operating expenses:
Practice salaries and benefits 71.6 72.6
Practice supplies and other operating expenses 5.9 6.3
General and administrative expenses 11.8 11.4
Depreciation and amortization 1.6 1.8
Transforff mational and restructuring related expenses 3.2 0.1
Goodwill impairment 7.4 7.4
Long-lived asset impairments 1.4 —
Loss on disposal of businesses 0.5 —
Total operating expenses 103.4 99.6

(Loss) income from operations (3.4 ) 0.4
Non-operating expense, net (1.6 ) (2.8 )

Loss from continuing operations before income taxes (5.0 ) (2.4 )
Income tax benefitff (provision) 0.1 (0.6 )

Loss from continuing operations (4.9 )% (3.0 )%

Year Ended December 31, 2024 as Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2023

Our net revenue was $2.01 billion forff the year ended December 31, 2024, as compared to $1.99 billion forff
2023. The increase in revenue of $18.3 million, or 0.9%, was primarily attributable to an increase in same-unit revenue,
partially offsff et by a decrease in revenue from non-same unit activity, primarily resulting froff m practice dispositions.
Same units are those units at which we provided services for the entire current period and the entire comparabla e period.
Same-unit net revenue increased by $81.4 million, or 4.8%. The increase in same-unit net revenue was comprised of
an increase of $47.8 million, or 2.8%, froff m net reimbursement-related factors, and $33.6 million, or 2.0%, related to
patient service volumes. The net increase in revenue related to net reimbursement-related facff tors was primarily due
to an increase in revenue resulting from a favorable shift iff n payor mix and an increase in administrative feesff from our
hospital partners. The increase in revenue from patient service volumes was related to increases across all of our
service lines.

Practice salaries and benefits decreased by $7.4 million, or 0.5%, to $1.44 billion forff the year ended
December 31, 2024, as compared to $1.45 billion for 2023.ff The $7.4 million decrease was primarily related to non-
same unit activity, primarily resulting froff m practice dispositions, partially offset by an increase in clinical
compensation expense, including incentive compensation based on practice results and benefitff s, all at our existing
units. The net increase in benefitff s primarily reflects increases in payroll taxes and group insurance costs.

Practice supplies and other operating expenses decreased by $7.1 million, or 5.7%, to $117.7 million forff the
year ended December 31, 2024, as compared to $124.8 million for 2023.ff The decrease was primarily attributable to
non-same unit activity, primarily resulting froff m practice dispositions.

General and administrative expenses primarily include all billing and collection funcff tions and all other
salaries, benefits, supplies and operating expenses not specifically identifiable to the day-to-day operations of our
physician practices and services. General and administrative expenses increased by $10.9 million, or 4.8%, to $238.4
million forff the year ended December 31, 2024, as compared to $227.5 million forff 2023. The net increase of $10.9
million is primarily related to increases in incentive compensation based on financial results and salaries expense forff
enhancement of revenue cycle management staffing, partially offsff et by lower expenses from net staffiff ng reductions,
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travel, information technology and insurance expenses. General and administrative expenses as a percentage of net
revenue was 11.8% for the year ended December 31, 2024, as compared to 11.4% forff the same period in 2023.

Depreciation and amortization expense was $32.2 million forff the year ended December 31, 2024, as
compared to $36.2 million forff 2023. The decrease was primarily related to lower depreciation resulting froff m fixff ed
asset impairments recognized during 2024.

Transforff mational and restructurt ing related expenses were $64.3 million forff the year ended December 31,
2024, as compared to $2.2 million for 2023.ff The expenses during 2024 reflect lease impairment and severance
expenses resulting froff m our practice portfolff io management activities, revenue cycle management transition activities,
and position eliminations across various shared services and operations departments. The expenses during 2023 are
directly related to the termination of our prior contract for revenue cycle management services.

Goodwill impairment was $150.6 million and $148.3 million forff the years ended December 31, 2024 and
2023, respectively.

Long-lived asset impairments were $27.8 million forff the year ended December 31, 2024, resulting fromff
practice portfolff io management activities.

Loss on disposal of businesses was $9.7 million forff the year ended December 31, 2024, primarily resulting
from the disposals of the primary and urgent care practices.

Loss from operations was $68.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2024, as compared to income from
operations of $7.3 million forff 2023. Our operating margin was (3.4)% forff the year ended December 31, 2024, as
compared to 0.4% for the same period in 2023. The decrease in our operating margin was primarily due to impairment
activity, transformational and restructurt ing expenses and loss on disposal of businesses, partially offsff et by net
favorable impacts froff m same-unit results dued to higher revenue. Excluding the impairment activity, transformational
and restrucr turing related expenses and loss on disposal of businesses, our income from operations was $183.7 million
and $157.9 million, and our operating margin was 9.1% and 7.9% for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023,
respectively. We believe excluding the impacts froff m the impairment activity, transformational and restructuring
related activity and loss on disposal of businesses provides a more comparable view of our operating income and
operating margin.

Total non-operating expenses were $32.6 million forff the year ended December 31, 2024, as compared to
$55.7 million for 2023.ff The net decrease in non-operating expenses was primarily related to an impairment loss of
$20.0 million in the prior year related to a cost-method investment, an increase in investment income on higher cash
balances and lower interest expense dued to lower debt balances.

Our effective income tax rate (“tax rate”) was 2.2% for the year ended December 31, 2024, compared to
(24.9)% forff the year ended December 31, 2023. The tax rates forff the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 are
not meaningful as calculated dued to the pre-tax loss and related tax effects of the non-cash goodwill impairment
charges in each period. Excluding the effecff t of these items, our effeff ctive tax rate was 45.5% and 35.8% for the years
ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. The tax rate for the year ended December 31, 2024 reflects net
discrete tax expense of $7.9 million, primarily related to a reduction in the carrying value of deferred tax assets due to
practice management portfolff io activities as well as stock-based compensation shortfalff ls. The tax rate forff the year
ended December 31, 2023 includes net discrete tax expense of $7.9 million, primarily related to the tax charge
associated with the impairment of a cost-method investment as well as stock-based compensation shortfalff ls. After
excluding discrete tax impacts and goodwill impairment-related effeff cts forff the years ended December 31, 2024 and
2023, our tax rates were 29.4% and 27.9%, respectively. We believe excluding discrete tax impacts and goodwill
impairment-related impacts on our tax rate provides a more comparable view of our effeff ctive income tax rate.

Loss from continuing operations was $99.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2024, as compared to
$60.4 million for 2023. Adjud sted EBITDA from continuing operations was $224.0 million forff the year ended
December 31, 2024, as compared to $200.4 million forff 2023. The increase in our Adjud sted EBITDA was primarily
due to net favff orable impacts in our same-unit results, primarily from higher revenue.
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Diluted net loss per common and common equivalent share was $1.19 on weighted average shares
outstanding of 83.3 million forff the year ended December 31, 2024, as compared to $0.73 on weighted average shares
outstanding of 82.2 million for 2023.ff Adjud sted EPS was $1.51 for the year ended December 31, 2024, as compared to
$1.26 for 2023.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

As of December 31, 2024, we had $229.9 million of cash and cash equivalents attributable to continuing
operations as compared to $73.3 million at December 31, 2023. Additionally, we had working capia tal attributable to
continuing operations of $205.5 million at December 31, 2024, an increase of $111.0 million froff m our working capital
from continuing operations of $94.5 million at December 31, 2023. The increase in working capital is primarily due
to net favff orable impacts in our same-unit results, primarily from an increase in revenue.

Cash Flows

Cash provided by (used in) operating, investing and financing activities froff m continuing operations is summarized
as follows (in thousands):

Years Ended
December 31,

2024 2023
Operating activities $ 217,250 $ 146,081
Investing activities (35,406 ) (48,176 )
Financing activities (14,485 ) (25,715 )

Operatintt g Activitiestt

We generated cash floff w froff m operating activities forff continuing operations of $217.3 million and $146.1
million forff the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. The net increase in cash floff w of $71.2 million
for the year ended December 31, 2024, as compared to the year ended December 31, 2023, was primarily due to
increases in cash floff w froff m accounts payable and accruer d expenses, other long-term assets, income taxes and long-
term profesff sional liabia lities.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, cash floff w froff m accounts receivable forff continuing operations
was $10.3 million, as compared to $26.3 million forff the same period in 2023.

DSO is one of the key factors that we use to evaluate the condition of our accounts receivable and the related
allowances for contractuat l adjustments and uncollectibles. DSO refleff cts the timeliness of cash collections on billed
revenue and the level of reserves on outstanding accounts receivable. Our DSO for continuing operations was 47.6
days at December 31, 2024 as compared to 50.5 days at December 31, 2023. The 2.9 days decrease in DSO was
primarily due to improved cash collections at existing units.

Our cash floff w froff m operating activities is significantly affecff ted by the payment of physician incentive
compensation. A large majority of our affiff liated physicians participate in our performance-based incentive
compensation program and almost all of the payments due under the program are made annually in the firff st quarter.
As a result, we typically experience negative cash floff w froff m operations in the firff st quarter of each year and funff d our
operations during this period with cash on hand or funds borff rowed under our Credit Agreement. In addition, during
the firff st quarter of each year, we use cash to make any discretionary matching contributions for participants in our
qualifieff d contributory srr avings plans.

Investing Activitiestt

During the year ended December 31, 2024, our net cash used in investing activities of $35.4 million consisted
primarily of capia tal expenditures of $22.0 million, net purchases from maturt ities or sale of investments of $12.1
million and acquisition payments of $8.2 million. During the year ended December 31, 2023, our net cash used in
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investing activities forff continuing operations of $48.2 million consisted primarily of capia tal expenditures of $33.3
million, net purchases frommaturt ities or sale of investments of $9.0 million and acquisition payments of $6.7 million.

Financii ing Activitiestt

During the year ended December 31, 2024, our net cash used in finff ancing activities of $14.5 million primarily
consisted of payments of $12.5 million on our Term A Loan (as defined below). During the year ended December 31,
2023, our net cash used in finff ancing activities forff continuing operations of $25.7 million primarily consisted of
payments of $12.5 million on our Term A Loan, other activity of $8.8 million and net payments on our Credit
Agreement of $4.0 million.

Liquidity

On February 11, 2022, we issued $400.0 million of 5.375% unsecured senior notes due 2030 (the “2030
Notes”). We used the net proceeds from the issuance of the 2030 Notes, together with $100.0 million drawn under
our Revolving Credit Line (as definff ed below), $250.0 million of Term A Loan and approxia mately $308.0 million of
cash on hand, to redeem (the “Redemption”) the 2027 Notes, which had an outstanding principal balance of $1.0
billion, and to pay costs, fees and expenses associated with the Redemption and the Credit Agreement Amendment
(as definff ed below).

Interest on the 2030 Notes accruer s at the rate of 5.375% per annum, or $21.5 million, and is payable semi-
annually in arrears on February 1rr 5 and August 15. Our obligations under the 2030 Notes are guaranteed on an
unsecured senior basis by the same subsidiaries and affilff iated professional contractors that guarantee the Amended
Credit Agreement (as defined below). The indenture under which the 2030 Notes are issued, among other things,
limits our ability to (1) incur liens, (2) enter into sale and lease-back transactions, and (3) merge or dispose of all or
subsu tantially all of our assets, in all cases, subjeb ct to a number of customary exceptions. Although we are not required
to make mandatory redemption or sinking fund payments with respect to the 2030 Notes, upon the occurrence of a
change in control, we may be required to repurchase the 2030 Notes at a purchase price equal to 101% of the aggregate
principal amount of the 2030 Notes repurchased plus accruerr d and unpaid interest.

Also in connection with the Redemption, we amended and restated the Credit Agreement (the “Credit
Agreement”, and such amendment and restatement, the “Credit Agreement Amendment”), concurrently with the
issuance of the 2030 Notes. The Credit Agreement, as amended by the Credit Agreement Amendment (the “Amended
Credit Agreement”), among other things, (i) refinanced the prior unsecured revolving credit facility with a $450.0
million unsecured revolving credit facility, including a $37.5 million sub-facility forff the issuance of letters of credit
(the “Revolving Credit Line”), and a new $250.0 million term A loan facility (“Term A Loan”) and (ii) removed
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as the administrative agent under the Credit Agreement and appointed Bank of America,
N.A. as the administrative agent for the lenders under the Amended Credit Agreement.

The Amended Credit Agreement matures on February 1rr 1, 2027 and is guaranteed on an unsecured basis by
subsu tantially all of our subsu idiaries and affiliated profesff sional contractors. At our option, borrowings under the
Amended Credit Agreement bear interest at (i) the Alternate Base Rate (defined as the highest of (a) the prime rate as
announced by Bank of America, N.A., (b) the Federal Funds Rate plus 0.50% and (c) Term Secured Overnight
Financing Rate (“SOFR”) forff an interest period of one month plus 1.00% with a 1.00% floor) plus an appla icable
margin rate of 0.50% for the first two fiscal quarters after the date of the Credit Agreement Amendment, and thereafterff
at an applicable margin rate ranging froff m 0.125% to 0.750% based on our consolidated net leverage ratio or (ii) Term
SOFR rate (calculated as the Secured Overnight Financing Rate published on the applicable Reuters screen page plus
a spread adjustment of 0.10%, 0.15% or 0.25% depending on if we select a one-month, three-month or six-month
interest period, respectively, for the applicable loan with a 0% floff or), plus an applicable margin rate of 1.50% for the
first two full fiscal quarters after the date of the Credit Agreement Amendment, and thereafteff r at an appla icable margin
rate ranging from 1.125% to 1.750% based on our consolidated net leverage ratio. The Amended Credit Agreement
also provides for otheff r customary fees and charges, including an unused commitment fee with respect to the Revolving
Credit Line ranging from 0.150% to 0.200% of the unused lending commitments under the Revolving Credit Line,
based on our consolidated net leverage ratio.
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The Amended Credit Agreement contains customary crr ovenants and restrictions, including covenants that
require us to maintain a minimum interest coverage ratio, a maximum consolidated net leverage ratio and to comply
with laws, and restrictions on the abia lity to pay dividends, incur indebtedness or liens and make certain other
distributions subju ect to baskets and exceptions, in each case, as specified therein. Failure to comply with these
covenants would constitute an event of defauff lt under the Amended Credit Agreement, notwithstanding the abia lity of
the company to meet its debt service obligations. The Amended Credit Agreement includes various customary
remedies for the lenders folff lowing an event of default, including the acceleration of repayment of outstanding amounts
under the Amended Credit Agreement. In addition, we may increase the principal amount of the Revolving Credit
Line or incur additional term loans under the Amended Credit Agreement in an aggregate principal amount such that
on a pro forma basis after giving effeff ct to such increase or additional term loans, we are in compliance with the
financial covenants, subject to the satisfaction of specified conditions and additional caps in the event that the
Amended Credit Agreement is secured.

At December 31, 2024, we had no outstanding indebtedness under the Revolving Credit Line, which had an
availabla e borrowing capacity of $450.0 million. For additional inforff mation on our total indebtedness, see Note 13 to
our Consolidated Financial Statements in this Form 10-K. At December 31, 2024, we believe we were in compliance,
in all material respects, with the finff ancial covenants and other restrictions applicable to us under the Amended Credit
Agreement and the 2030 Notes.

The purchase of common stock by participants in our 1996 Non-Qualifieff d Employee Stock Purchase Plan,
as amended (the “ESPP”), generated cash proceeds of $3.6 million, $4.9 million and $5.4 million for the years ended
December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively. Because purchases under the ESPP are dependent on several facff tors,
including the market price of our common stock, we cannot predict the timing and amount of any futurff e proceeds.

We maintain profesff sional liabia lity insurance policies with third-party insurers, subju ect to self-insured
retention, exclusions and other restrictions. We self-insure our liabilities to pay self-iff nsured retention amounts under
our profesff sional liabia lity insurance coverage through a wholly owned captive insurance subsu idiary. We record
liabia lities forff self-iff nsured amounts and claims incurred but not reported based on an actuarial valuation using historical
loss information, claim emergence patterns and various actuarial assumptions. Our total liabia lity related to professional
liabia lity risks at December 31, 2024 was $287.9 million, of which $30.4 million is classified as a current liability
within accounts payable and accruer d expenses in the Consolidated Balance Sheet. In addition, there is a corresponding
insurance receivabla e of $28.5 million recorded as a component of other assets for certain profesff sional liabia lity claims
that are covered by insurance policies.

At December 31, 2024, the Company had long term capia tal requirements comprised primarily of $400.0
million in senior notes, $49.9 million of operating lease liabia lities and $5.7 million of finance lease liabia lities. At
December 31, 2024, our total liabia lity for uncertain tax positions was $2.9 million.

We anticipate that funds geneff rated froff m operations, together with our current cash on hand and funff ds
availabla e under our Amended Credit Agreement, will be suffiff cient to finff ance our working capital requirements, fund
anticipated acquisitions and capital expenditures, fund expenses related to our transforff mational and restructuring
activities, fund our share repurchase programs and meet our contractuat l obligations as described abovea for at least the
next 12 months from the date of issuance of this Form 10-K.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We are subject to market risk primarily from exposure to changes in interest rates based on our financing,
investing and cash management activities. We intend to manage interest rate risk through the use of a combination of
fixed rate and variable rate debt. We borrow under our Amended Credit Agreement at various interest rate options
based on the Alternate Base Rate or Term SOFR rate depending on certain financial ratios. At December 31, 2024,
we had an outstanding principal balance of $215.6 million on our Amended Credit Agreement under our Term A
Loan. Considering the total outstanding balance, a 1% change in interest rates would result in an impact to income
before income taxes of $2.2 million per year.
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

The folff lowing Consolidated Financial Statements and Financial Statement Schedule of Pediatrix Medical
Group, Inc. and its subsu idiaries, together with the report thereon of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (PCAOB ID 238),
are included in this Form 10-K on the pages set forth below:
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Schedule II – Valuation and Qualifyff ing Accounts forff the Years Ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 99
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Pediatrix Medical Group, Inc.

Opinions on the FinFF ancial Stattt ementt ts and IntII ertt nal ConCC trol over Finaii ncial Reporting

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Pediatrix Medical Group, Inc. and its subsu idiaries
(the "Company") as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, and the related consolidated statements of income and
comprehensive income, of equity and of cash floff ws for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2024, including the related notes and finff ancial statement scheduld e listed in the accompanying index
(collectively referff red to as the "consolidated financial statements"). We also have audited the Company's internal
control over finff ancial reporting as of December 31, 2024, based on criteria established in Internal Controt l -
Integrate ed Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
(COSO).

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above pra esent faiff rly, in all material respects, the
financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, and the results of its operations and its cash
flows forff each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2024 in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material
respects, effeff ctive internal control over finff ancial reporting as of December 31, 2024, based on criteria established in
Internal Controt l - Integrate ed Framework (2013) issued by the COSO.

Basis fii orff Opinions

The Company's management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements, for maintaining effeff ctive
internal control over finff ancial reporting, and forff its assessment of the effeff ctiveness of internal control over finff ancial
reporting, included in Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting appearing under
Item 9A. Our responsibility is to express opinions on the Company’s consolidated financial statements and on the
Company's internal control over finff ancial reporting based on our audits. We are a public accounting firff m registered
with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent
with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federalff securities laws and the appla icable rules and
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and
perforff m the audits to obtain reasonable assurance abouta whether the consolidated financial statements are free of
material misstatement, whether dued to error or fraff ud, and whether effeff ctive internal control over finff ancial reporting
was maintained in all material respects.

Our audits of the consolidated financial statements included performing procedurd es to assess the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether dued to error or fraff ud, and performing procedurd es that
respond to those risks. Such procedurd es included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles
used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements. Our audit of internal control over finff ancial reporting included obtaining an
understanding of internal control over finff ancial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and
testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our
audits also included performing such other procedurd es as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe
that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.

Defie niii tioii n and Limiii tatioii ns of Internal Contrott l over Financii ial Reportingii

A company’s internal control over finff ancial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliabia lity of financial reporting and the preparation of finff ancial statements for external purposr es in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over finff ancial reporting
includes those policies and procedurd es that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and faiff rly refleff ct the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable
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assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to prr ermit preparation of finff ancial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonablea
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s
assets that could have a material effect on the finff ancial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over finff ancial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Also, projeo ctions of any evaluation of effectiveness to futurff e periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedurd es may
deteriorate.

Critical Audit Mii atMM tett rs

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the consolidated
financial statements that was communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that (i)
relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the consolidated financial statements and (ii) involved our
especially challenging, subju ective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter
in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by
communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the
accounts or disclosures to which it relates.

Valuation of Po atient Services Accounts Rtt eceivable - Allowance forff Contrat ctual Adjudd stmett nts att nd Uncollectibles

As described in Notes 2 and 5 to the consolidated financial statements, patient service revenue is recognized at the
time services are provided by the Company’s affilff iated physicians. Payments forff services rendered are generally less
than billed charges. Contractuat l adjustments result from the difference between the physician rates for services
perforff med and the reimbursements by third-party payors forff such services. Patient service revenue is presented net
of an estimated provision for contractuat l adjustments and uncollectibles. Management estimates the allowance forff
contractuat l adjustments and uncollectibles on accounts receivabla e based upon historical experience and other
factors, including days sales outstanding for accounts receivable, evaluation of expected adjud stments and
delinquency rates, past adjustments and collection experience in relation to amounts billed, an aging of accounts
receivable, current contract and reimbursement terms, changes in payor mix and other relevant information. Patient
services accounts receivable makes up a significant portion of the Company’s consolidated net accounts receivable
balance of $260.0 million as of December 31, 2024.

The principal considerations for our determination that performing procedurd es relating to valuation of patient
services accounts receivable—allowance forff contractuat l adjustments and uncollectibles is a critical audit matter is
the significant judgment by management to determine the estimated allowance to adjust the patient services accounts
receivable to the amount that will be collected in the futurff e under the terms of third-party payor contracts, which in
turn led to a high degree of auditor judgment, subju ectivity, and effort in performing procedurd es and evaluating the
audit evidence obtained related to the valuation of patient services accounts receivable.

Addressing the matter involved performing procedurd es and evaluating audit evidence in connection with forming
our overall opinion on the consolidated financial statements. These procedurd es included testing the effectiveness of
controls relating to the valuation of patient accounts receivable, which included controls over management’s model,
data, and assumptions used to estimate the allowance forff contractuat l adjustments and uncollectibles froff m third
parties. These procedures also included, among others, (i) evaluating management’s process for deveff loping the
allowance forff contractuat l adjustments and uncollectibles; (ii) testing the completeness and accuracy of underlying
data used in the model; (iii) evaluating the historical accuracy of management’s process for deveff loping the estimate
of the amount which will ultimately be collected by comparing actuat l cash collections to the previously recorded
patient services accounts receivable; and (iv) developing an independent expectation of the amount expected to be
collected by management. Developing an independent expectation involved calculating the percentage of cash
collections as compared to the recorded patient services accounts receivable balance as of the end of the prior year
and comparing that percentage to management’s collection expectation used to determine the current year allowance
for contractual adjustments and uncollectibles.
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/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Miami, Florida
February 20, 2025

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 1999.
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Pediatrix Medical Group, Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(in thousands, except share data)

December 31,
2024 2023

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 229,940 $ 73,258
Short-term investments 118,566 104,485
Accounts receivable, net 259,990 272,313
Prepaid expenses 13,410 13,525
Income taxes receivable 12,614 7,565
Other current assets 5,087 12,308
Total current assets 639,607 483,454

Property and equipment, net 39,172 75,639
Goodwill 1,242,606 1,384,166
Intangible assets, net 11,595 21,240
Operating and finance lease right-of-use assets 39,267 70,294
Deferred income tax assets 103,855 102,852
Other assets 76,598 82,165

Total assets $ 2,152,700 $ 2,219,810
LIABILITIES & SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accruerr d expenses $ 398,690 $ 350,798
Current portion of debt and finff ance lease liabia lities, net 20,545 14,913
Current portion of operating lease liabia lities 12,704 21,076
Income taxes payable 2,171 2,159
Total current liabia lities 434,110 388,946

Long-term debt and finff ance lease liabia lities, net 597,119 618,421
Long-term operating lease liabia lities 31,945 47,238
Long-term profesff sional liabia lities 257,455 251,284
Deferred income tax liabia lities 34,246 34,308
Other liabia lities 32,887 30,552
Total liabia lities 1,387,762 1,370,749

Commitments and contingencies
Shareholders’ equity:

Preferred stock; $.01 par value; 1,000,000 shares authorized; none issued — —
Common stock; $.01 par value; 200,000,000 shares authorized; 85,866,000 and
84,018,023 shares issued and outstanding, respectively 859 840

Additional paid-in capital 1,013,690 999,906
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (1,071) (2,214)
Retained deficit (248,540) (149,471)
Total shareholders’ equity 764,938 849,061
Total liabia lities and shareholders' equity $ 2,152,700 $ 2,219,810

The accompanying notes are an integrag l part of thett se Consolidatdd ed Financial StateSS ments.tt
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Pediatrix Medical Group, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income

(in thousands, except forff per share data)

Years Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022

Net revenue $ 2,012,919 $ 1,994,640 $ 1,972,021
Operating expenses:
Practice salaries and benefitsff 1,440,827 1,448,275 1,383,319
Practice supplies and other operating expenses 117,748 124,800 121,669
General and administrative expenses 238,437 227,542 231,397
Depreciation and amortization 32,226 36,171 35,636
Transforff mational and restructuring related expenses 64,260 2,219 27,312
Goodwill impairment 150,644 148,312 —
Long-lived asset impairments 27,791 — —
Loss on disposal of businesses 9,699 — —
Total operating expenses 2,081,632 1,987,319 1,799,333
(Loss) income from operations (68,713) 7,321 172,688

Investment and other income 5,771 4,338 3,671
Interest expense (40,743) (42,075) (39,695)
Impairment of strategic investment — (20,000) —
Loss on early extinguishment of debt — — (57,016)
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiff liates 2,344 2,057 1,722

Total non-operating expenses (32,628) (55,680) (91,318)
(Loss) income from continuing operations before income taxes (101,341) (48,359) 81,370

Income tax benefitff (provision) 2,272 (12,049) (18,806)
(Loss) income from continuing operations (99,069) (60,408) 62,564
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax — — 3,767
Net (loss) income (99,069) (60,408) 66,331
Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest — — 4

Net (loss) income attributable to Pediatrix Medical Group, Inc. $ (99,069) $ (60,408) $ 66,335
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax
Unrealized holding gain (loss) on investments, net of tax of $374, $527 and
$1,694 1,143 1,521 (5,051)
Total comprehensive (loss) income attributable to Pediatrix Medical
Group, Inc. $ (97,926) $ (58,887) $ 61,284

Per common and common equivalent share data:
(Loss) income from continuing operations:
Basic $ (1.19) $ (0.73) $ 0.75
Diluted $ (1.19) $ (0.73) $ 0.74

Income from discontinued operations:
Basic $ — $ — $ 0.04
Diluted $ — $ — $ 0.05

Net (loss) income attributable to Pediatrix Medical Group, Inc.:
Basic $ (1.19) $ (0.73) $ 0.79
Diluted $ (1.19) $ (0.73) $ 0.79

Weighted average common shares:
Basic 83,330 82,201 83,467
Diluted 83,330 82,201 84,121

The accompanying notes are an integrag l part of thett se Consolidatdd ed Financial StateSS ments.tt
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Pediatrix Medical Group, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Equity

(in thousands)

Common Stock

Number of
Shares Amount

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

Retained
Deficit Total Equity

Balance at December 31, 2021 86,423 $ 864 $ 1,049,696 $ (153,868 ) $ 896,692
Net income — — — 66,335 66,335
Dissolution of and net loss attributable to
noncontrolling interests(1) — — 8 (214 ) (206 )
Unrealized holding loss on investments, net
of tax (1) — — — (5,051 ) (5,051 )
Common stock issued under employee
stock purchase plan 287 3 5,393 — 5,396
Issuance of restricted stock 841 8 (8 ) — —
Stock-based compensation expense — — 16,977 — 16,977
Forfeitures of restricted stock (60 ) (1 ) 1 — —
Repurchased common stock (4,544 ) (45 ) (88,466 ) — (88,511 )
Balance at December 31, 2022 82,947 $ 829 $ 983,601 $ (92,798 ) $ 891,632
Net loss — — — (60,408 ) (60,408 )
Unrealized holding gain on investments, net
of tax (1) — — — 1,521 1,521
Common stock issued under employee
stock purchase plan 407 4 4,908 — 4,912
Issuance of restricted stock 964 10 (10 ) — —
Stock-based compensation expense — — 12,323 — 12,323
Forfeitures of restricted stock (239 ) (2 ) 2 — —
Repurchased common stock (61 ) (1 ) (918 ) — (919 )
Balance at December 31, 2023 84,018 $ 840 $ 999,906 $ (151,685 ) $ 849,061
Net loss — — — (99,069 ) (99,069 )
Unrealized holding gain on investments, net
of tax (1) — — — 1,143 1,143
Common stock issued under employee
stock purchase plan 467 5 3,633 3,638
Issuance of restricted stock 1,649 17 (17 ) — —
Stock-based compensation expense — — 11,868 — 11,868
Forfeitures of restricted stock (90 ) (1 ) 1 — —
Repurchased common stock (178 ) (2 ) (1,701 ) — (1,703 )
Balance at December 31, 2024 85,866 $ 859 $ 1,013,690 $ (249,611 ) $ 764,938

(1) Presented within retained deficit as the balance is immaterial.

The accompanying notes are an integrag l part of thett se Consolidatdd ed Financial StateSS ments.tt
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Pediatrix Medical Group, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(in thousands)
Years Ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022
Cash flows froff m operating activities:
Net (loss) income $ (99,069 ) $ (60,408 ) $ 66,335
Income from discontinued operations — — (3,767 )
Adjud stments to reconcile net (loss) income to net cash provided fromff
operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 32,226 36,171 35,636
Amortization of premiums, discounts and issuance costs 954 1,239 1,765
Impairment losses 178,435 168,312 —
Loss on disposal of business 9,699 — —
Loss on early extinguishment of debt — — 57,016
Stock-based compensation expense 11,868 12,323 16,127
Deferred income taxes (2,130 ) 3,239 (22,771 )
Other (2,972 ) (3,167 ) 144
Changes in assets and liabia lities:
Accounts receivable 10,292 26,276 (5,543 )
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 3,497 514 15,928
Other long-term assets 33,728 22,851 17,196
Accounts payable and accruerr d expenses 51,140 (11,921 ) 420
Income taxes (payable) receivable (5,037 ) (21,677 ) 18,225
Long-term profesff sional liabia lities 17,303 837 5,600
Other liabia lities (22,684 ) (28,508 ) (19,999 )
Net cash provided by operating activities – continuing
operations 217,250 146,081 182,312
Net used in operating activities – discontinued
operations (10,677 ) (8,756 ) (15,371 )
Net cash provided by operating activities 206,573 137,325 166,941

Cash flows froff m investing activities:
Acquisition payments, net of cash acquired (8,167 ) (6,667 ) (28,167 )
Purchases of investments (64,546 ) (31,893 ) (17,346 )
Proceeds froff m maturt ities or sales of investments 52,494 22,905 16,889
Purchases of property and equipment (22,022 ) (33,328 ) (29,708 )
Other 6,835 807 1,378

Net cash used in investing activities (35,406 ) (48,176 ) (56,954 )
Cash flows froff m finff ancing activities:
Borrowings on credit agreement 235,500 470,000 830,000
Payments on credit agreement (235,500 ) (474,000 ) (826,000 )
Redemption of senior notes, including call premium — — (1,046,880 )
Proceeds froff m issuance of senior notes and term loan — — 650,000
Payments on term loan (12,500 ) (12,500 ) (9,375 )
Payments for credit faciff lity amendment and financing costs — — (8,621 )
Payments of contingent consideration liabia lities (1,167 ) (1,817 ) —
Payments on finance lease obligations (2,888 ) (2,618 ) (2,916 )
Proceeds froff m issuance of common stock 3,638 4,912 5,396
Repurchases of common stock (1,703 ) (919 ) (88,511 )
Other 135 (8,773 ) 9,353

Net cash used in finff ancing activities (14,485 ) (25,715 ) (487,554 )
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 156,682 63,434 (377,567 )

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 73,258 9,824 387,391
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 229,940 $ 73,258 $ 9,824
Supplu emental disclosure of cash floff w information:

Cash paid for:
Interest $ 40,003 $ 42,278 $ 116,235
Income taxes $ 4,673 $ 30,835 $ 26,908

Non-cash investing and financing activities:
Equipment finff anced through finance leases $ — $ 132 $ 282
Property and equipment included in accounts payable $ 1,400 $ 2,874 $ 2,589

The accompanying notes are an integragg l part of to hese Consolidatdd ed Financial StateSS ments.tt
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Pediatrix Medical Group, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1. General:

The principal business activity of Pediatrix Medical Group, Inc. (“Pediatrix” or the “Company”) and its
subsu idiaries is to provide neonatal, maternal-fetal and other pediatric subspeu cialty physician services. During 2024,
the Company exited almost all of its affiliated office-based practices, other than maternal-fetal medicine. Additionally,
the Company exited its primary arr nd urgent care service line durd ing 2024 based on a review of the cost and time that
would be required to build the platforff m to scale.

The Company has contracts with affiff liated business corporations or profesff sional associations, limited liabia lity
companies and partnerships (“affiff liated professional contractors”), which are separate legal entities that provide
physician services in certain states. The Company and its affiff liated professional contractors also have contracts with
hospitals and other healthcare facilities to provide physician services, which include (i) feeff -for-service contracts,
whereby hospitals and other customers agree, in exchange for the Company’s services, to authorize the Company and
its healthcare professionals to bill and collect the charges for medical services rendered by the Company’s affiliated
healthcare professionals, and (ii) administrative feeff contracts, whereby the Company is assured a minimum revenue
level.

2. Summary of Significff ant Accounting Policies:

Principles of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements include all the accounts of the Company and its subsu idiaries combined
with the accounts of the affiff liated professional contractors with which the Company currently has specific management
arrangements. The Company’s agreements with affiff liated professional contractors provide that the term of the
arrangements are in most cases permanent, subject only to termination by the Company, except in the case of gross
negligence, fraud or bankruptcy of the Company. The Company has the right to receive income, both as ongoing fees
and as proceeds from the sale of its interest in the Company’s affiliated professional contractors, in an amount that
fluctuates based on the performance of the affiliated professional contractors and the change in the faiff r value of the
Company’s interest in the affiff liated profesff sional contractors. The Company has exclusive responsibility for the
provision of all non-medical services required forff the day-to-day operation and management of the Company’s
affiff liated profesff sional contractors and establa ishes the guidelines for the employment and compensation of the
physicians. In addition, the agreements provide that the Company has the right, but not the obligation, to purchase, or
to designate a person(s) to purchase, the stock of the Company’s affiliated professional contractors forff a nominal
amount. Separately, in its sole discretion, the Company has the right to assign its interest in the agreements. Based
upon the provisions of these agreements, the Company has determined that the affiff liated professional contractors are
variable interest entities and that the Company is the primary beneficiary arr s definff ed in the accounting guidance forff
consolidation. All significant intercompany and interaffiff liate accounts and transactions have been eliminated.

The Company is a party to a joint venture in which it owns a 37.5% economic interest. The Company
accounts forff this joint venture under the equity method of accounting because the Company exercises significant
influence over, but does not control, this entity.

Accounting Estimates and Assumptions

The preparation of finff ancial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States (“GAAP”) requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affeff ct the reported amounts of
assets and liabia lities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabia lities at the date of the finff ancial statements and the
reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting periods. Significant estimates and assumptions are
involved in the calculation of the Company's allowance forff contractuat l adjustments and uncollectibles on accounts
receivable, liabia lities forff self-iff nsured amounts and claims incurred but not reported related to the Company’s
profesff sional liabia lity risks and the faiff r value of goodwill. Actual results could diffeff r froff m those estimates.
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Segment Reporting

The Company has one reportabla e segment, which is also its single reporting unit, for purposes of presenting
financial inforff mation in accordance with the accounting guidance forff segment reporting. The reportabla e segment
provides physician services including newborn, maternal-fetal, and other pediatric subspecialty care. Financial results
for all practices are managed on a consolidated basis. The chief operating decision maker ("CODM") assesses
perforff mance and decides how to allocate resources based on net income and total assets as reported in our
Consolidated Financial Statements. The CODM considers variances in our consolidated net income compared to
budget and forecast when making decisions about reinvesting profits into the segment or for other purposes, including
acquisitions. The Company's CODM is the Chief Executive Officff er.

The folff lowing tabla e summarizes the Company’s net patient service revenue from continuing operations by
service line (in percentages):

Years Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022

Neonatology and other pediatric subspecialties 83% 84% 84%
Maternal-fetal medicine 17% 16% 16%

100% 100% 100%

The CODM reviews consolidated expense information as part of the evaluation of segment performance.
Significant segment expenses are practice salaries and benefits and general and administrative expenses as reported
on our Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income. See the Consolidated Financial Statements
for the Company's segment revenue, significant segment expenses, other segment expenses and net income.

Revenue Recognition

Patient service revenue is recognized at the time services are provided by the Company’s affilff iated
physicians. The Company’s performance obligations related to the delivery orr f services to patients are satisfied at the
time of service. Accordingly, there are no performance obligations that are unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied at the
end of the reporting period with respect to patient service revenue. Almost all of the Company’s patient service revenue
is reimbursed by GHC Programs and third-party insurance payors. Payments for services rendered to the Company’s
patients are generally less than billed charges. The Company monitors its revenue and receivables from these sources
and records an estimated contractuat l allowance to properly account for the anticipated differences between billed and
reimbursed amounts.

Accordingly, patient service revenue is presented net of an estimated provision for contractuat l adjustments
and uncollectibles. The Company estimates allowances for contractuat l adjustments and uncollectibles on accounts
receivable based upon historical experience and other factors, including days sales outstanding (“DSO”) forff accounts
receivable, evaluation of expected adjud stments and delinquency rates, past adjustments and collection experience in
relation to amounts billed, an aging of accounts receivable, current contract and reimbursement terms, changes in
payor mix and other relevant information. Contractual adjustments result froff m the difference between the physician
rates forff services performed and the reimbursements by GHC Programs and third-party insurance payors forff such
services.

Collection of patient service revenue the Company expects to receive is normally a funcff tion of providing
complete and correct billing information to the GHC Programs and third-party insurance payors within the various
filing deadlines and typically occurs within 30 to 60 days of billing.

Some of the Company’s hospital agreements require hospitals to pay the Company administrative feeff s. Some
agreements provide for feesff if the hospital does not generate sufficient patient volume in order to guarantee that the
Company receives a specified minimum revenue level. The Company also receives fees from hospitals for
administrative services performed by its affiliated physicians providing medical director or other services at the
hospital.
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Accounts receivable are primarily amounts due unded r feeff -forff -service contracts froff m third-party payors, such
as insurance companies, self-insured employers and patients and GHC Programs geographically dispersed throughout
the United States and its territories. Concentration of credit risk relating to accounts receivable is limited by the
number, diversity and geographic dispersion of the business units managed by the Company, as well as by the large
number of patients and payors, including the various governmental agencies in the states in which the Company
provides services. Receivables from GHC Programs made up approximately 19% and 20% of net accounts receivable
related to continuing operations at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash equivalents are defined as all highly liquid finff ancial instruments with maturt ities of 90 days or less fromff
the date of purchase. The Company’s cash equivalents typically consist of demand deposits, amounts on deposit in
money market accounts and funds invested in overnight repurchase agreements. Cash equivalent balances may, at
certain times, exceed federalff ly insured limits. Certain cash equivalents carried by the Company are subject to the fairff
value provisions of the accounting guidance forff fair value measurements. See “Fair Value Measurements” below.

Investments

Investments consist primarily of corporate securities, municipal debt securities, federal home loan securities
and certificates of deposit. The Company classifies its investments as availabla e forff sale. Although there is no stated
expectation that the investments will be sold within one year, the investments are availabla e for usff e, if needed, and
accordingly are classified as short-term. Such investments are carried at fair value with any unrealized gains and losses
reported as a component of other accumulated comprehensive income or loss.

The Company made an investment in a pediatric primary, urgent care and telehealth company durd ing 2021,
and the Company elected to measure such investment using the cost method as it did not have a readily determinable
fair value. During the fourff th quarter of 2023, the Company recorded a $20.0 million impairment charge related to this
cost-method investment as the value of the investment was deemed to be fulff ly impaired based on significant
unfavff orable events that took place at the underlying entity in the fourff th quarter of 2023.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at original purchase cost. Depreciation of property and equipment is
computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the underlying assets. Estimated useful
lives are generally 30 years for buildings; three to seven years forff medical equipment, computer equipment, software
and furniff ture; and the lesser of the usefulff life off r the remaining lease term for leasehold improvements and finance
leases. Upon sale or retirement of property and equipment, the related cost and accumulated depreciation are
eliminated from the respective accounts and any resulting gain or loss is included in earnings.

Business Acquisitions

The Company accounts forff all business acquisitions at fair value and expenses acquisition costs as they are
incurred. Any identifiabla e assets acquired and liabia lities assumed are recognized and measured at their respective fairff
values on the acquisition date. If information abouta facts and circumstances existing as of the acquisition date is
incomplete at the end of the reporting period in which a business acquisition occurs, the Company will report
provisional amounts forff the items for which the accounting is incomplete. The measurement period ends once the
Company receives suffiff cient information to finff alize the fair values; however, the period will not exceed one year from
the acquisition date. Any adjud stments to provisional amounts that are identified during the measurement period are
recognized in the reporting period in which the adjud stment amounts are determined.

In connection with certain acquisitions, the Company enters into agreements to pay additional amounts in
cash or common stock based on the achievement of certain performance measures, generally for up to tu hree years
ending afteff r the acquisition dates. The Company measures this contingent consideration at faiff r value at the acquisition
date and records such contingent consideration as a liability or equity on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets
on the acquisition date. The fair value of each contingent consideration liabia lity is remeasured at each reporting period
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with any change in fair value recognized as income or expense within income from operations in the Company’s
Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

The Company records acquired assets and assumed liabia lities at their respective faiff r values under the
acquisition method of accounting. Goodwill represents the excess of purchase price over the fair value of the net assets
acquired. Intangible assets with finite lives, principally physician and hospital agreements, are recognized apart fromff
goodwill at the time of acquisition based on the contractuat l-legal and separabia lity criteria establa ished in the accounting
guidance. Intangible assets with finite lives are amortized on either an accelerated basis based on the annual
undiscounted economic cash floff ws associated with the particular intangible asset or on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives. Intangible assets with finite lives are amortized over periods of one to 20 years.

Goodwill is tested for impairment at a reporting unit level on at least an annual basis in accordance with the
subsu equent measurement provisions of the accounting guidance for goodwff ill. When testing goodwill for impairment,
the Company may assess qualitative facff tors for its reporting unit to determine whether it is more likely than not that
the faiff r value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, including goodwill. Alternatively, the Company may
bypass this qualitative assessment and perform the quantitative goodwill impairment test.

The Company completed annual impairment tests for its continuing operations in the third quarter of each of
2024, 2023 and 2022 and determined that goodwill was not impaired. For 2024, the Company performed a quantitative
assessment. As the Company consists of only one reporting unit, and is publicly traded, management estimates the
fair value of its reporting unit utilizing the Company’s market capitalization, multiplying the number of actuat l shares
of common stock outstanding by its stock price and applyinga an additional premium to give effect to the Company’s
best estimate of a control premium. With respect to the estimated control premium used in its analysis, the Company
believes that it is reasonable to expect that a market participant would pay a premium to obtain a controlling interest
in the Company. The Company considers inforff mation froff m the public markets for prff emiums on acquisitions in its
industry arr nd also considered other facff tors, such as the value that may arise froff m the ability to take advantage of
synergies and other benefits that flow from control over another entity.

For 2023 and 2022, the Company elected to perform a qualitative assessment, focused on various factors
including macroeconomic conditions, market trends, specific reporting unit finff ancial performance and other entity
specific events, to determine if it was more likely than not that the faiff r value of its single reporting unit exceeded its
carrying value, including goodwill. The Company considered the economic outlook for the healthcare services
industry arr nd various other facff tors during the testing process, including hospital and physician contract changes, local
market developments, changes in third-party payor payments, and other publicly availabla e information.

The Company experienced triggering events during the second quarter of 2024 and durd ing the fourth quarter
of 2023 resulting in non-cash goodwill impairment charges of $150.6 million and $148.3 million, respectively. See
Note 8 – Goodwill and Intangible Assets for more inforff mation.

Long-Lived Assets

The Company is required to evaluate long-lived assets, including intangible assets subject to amortization,
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of the assets may not be fully
recoverabla e. The recoverabia lity of such assets is measured by a comparison of the carrying value of the assets to the
future undiscounted cash flows beforff e interest charges to be generated by the assets. If long-lived assets are impaired,
the impairment to be recognized is measured as the excess of the carrying value over the fair value. Long-lived assets
held for disposal are reported at the lower of the carryirr ng value or faiff r value less disposal costs.

As part of the Company's decision to exit almost all of its affiff liated office-based practices, other than
maternal-fetalff medicine, a recoverabia lity assessment forff long-lived assets for each individual physician practice was
performed and the estimated futurff e cash floff ws related to the physician practices did not supporu t the carrying value of
the specifically identified individual long-lived assets. As a result, durd ing the year ended December 31, 2024, the
Company recorded fixed asset impairments of $20.1 million, operating lease right-of-use asset impairments of $12.5
million and intangible asset impairments of $7.7 million. The operating lease right-of-use impairments are recorded
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within the transformational and restructurt ing related expenses line item in the Company's Consolidated Statements of
Income and Comprehensive Income. The Company does not believe there are any indicators that would require an
adjud stment to such assets or their estimated periods of recovery at December 31, 2024.

Common Stock Repurchases

The Company repurchases shares of its common stock as authorized from time to time by its Board of
Directors. The Company treats repurchased shares of its common stock as retired, as any repurchased shares become
authorized but unissued shares. The reacquisition cost of repurchased shares is recorded as a reducd tion in the respective
components of shareholders’ equity.

Profesff sional Liability Coverage

The Company maintains professional liabia lity insurance policies with third-party insurers generally on a
claims-made basis, subject to deductibles or self-insured retention, exclusions and other restrictions. The Company’s
self-iff nsured retention under its profesff sional liabia lity insurance program is maintained primarily through a wholly
owned captive insurance subsidiary. The Company records an estimate of liabilities forff self-iff nsured amounts and
claims incurred but not reported based on an actuarial valuation using historical loss information, claim emergence
patterns and various actuarial assumptions. Liabia lities for claims incurred but not reported are not discounted.

Income Taxes

The Company records deferred income taxes using the liability method, whereby deferred tax assets and
liabia lities are determined based on the difference between the finff ancial statement and tax bases of assets and liabia lities
using enacted tax rates in effeff ct for the year in which the differences are expected to reverse. If it is more likely than
not that all or a portion of deferff red tax assets will not be realized, a valuation allowance is provided against such
deferred tax assets. In making such determination, the Company considers all availabla e positive and negative evidence,
including future reversals of existing taxable temporary drr iffereff nces, projeo cted future taxable income, tax-planning
strategies and results of recent operations.

The accounting guidance for uncff ertain tax positions prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement
attribute forff financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax
return. The guidance also requires policy disclosures regarding penalties and interest and extensive disclosures
regarding increases and decreases in uncertain tax positions as a result of tax positions taken in a current or prior
period, settlements with taxing authorities and any lapsa e of an appla icable statutt e of limitations. Additional qualitative
discussion is required forff any tax position that may result in a significant increase or decrease in uncertain tax positions
within a 12-month period froff m the Company's reporting date.

Stock Incentive Plans

The Company grants stock-based awards consisting primarily of restricted stock to key employees under its
Amended and Restated 2008 Incentive Compensation Plan. The Company measures the cost of employee services
received in exchange for stock-based awards based on grant-date faiff r value and allocates the resulting compensation
expense over the corresponding requisite service period using the graded vesting attribution method. The Company
also performs analyses to estimate forfeitures of stock-based awards on an annual basis and adjusts the estimates as
necessary based on the number of awards that ultimately vest.

Net Income Per Common Share

Basic net income per common share is calculated by dividing net income by the weighted average number
of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted net income per common share is calculated by dividing net
income by the weighted average number of common and potential common shares outstanding during the period.
Potential common shares consist of outstanding restricted stock, deferred stock and stock options, as appla icable, and
is calculated using the treasury srr tock method.

Fair Value Measurements
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The accounting guidance establishes a faiff r value hierarchy that prioritizes valuation inputs into three levels
based on the extent to which inputs used in measuring faiff r value are observable in the market. Each fair value
measurement is reported in one of three levels:

Level 1 – inputs are based upon unadjusu ted quoted prices for identical instruments traded in active markets.

Level 2 – inputs are based upon quotu ed prices for similar instrumrr ents in active markets, quoted prices for
identical or similar instrumrr ents in markets that are not active, and model-based valuation techniques forff which
all significant assumptions are observable in the market or can be corroborated by observable market data forff
subsu tantially the full term of the assets or liabilities.

Level 3 – inputs are generally unobservable and typically reflect management’s estimates of assumptions that
market participants would use in pricing the asset or liabia lity. The fair values are therefore determined using
model-based techniques that include option pricing models, discounted cash floff w models, and similar
techniques.

The folff lowing tabla e presents information about the Company’s finff ancial instruments that are accounted for
at fair value on a recurring basis at December 31, 2024 and 2023 (in thousands):

Fair Value
Fair Value
Category

December 31,
2024

December 31,
2023

Assets:
Money market fundsff Level 1 $ 9,295 $ 2,814
Short-term investments Level 2 118,566 104,485
Mutual funds Level 1 18,581 17,687

The folff lowing tabla e presents information about the Company’s finff ancial instruments that are not carried at
fair value at December 31, 2024 and 2023 (in thousands):

December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Carrying
Amount

Fair
Value

Carrying
Amount

Fair
Value

Liabilities:
2030 Notes 400,000 382,000 400,000 357,000

The carrying amounts of cash equivalents, accounts receivable and accounts payable and accrued expenses
approximate fair value dued to the short maturt ities of the respective instrumrr ents.

3. CARES Act:

In March 2020, the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (“CARES Act”) was signed into
law. The CARES Act is a relief package intended to assist many aspects of the American economy, including
providing aid to the healthcare industry to rrr eimburse healthcare providers for lost revenue and expenses attributable
to COVID-19. The Department of Health and Human Services (“HHS”) administered this program and began
disbursing funds in April 2020, of which the Company’s affilff iated physician practices within continuing operations
received an aggregate of $13.3 million during the year ended December 31, 2022.

In addition, the CARES Act also provided forff deferred payment of the employer portion of social security
taxes through the end of 2020, and while the Company utilized this deferral option throughout 2020, it repaid all of
the deferff red amounts as of December 31, 2022.
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4. Investments:

Investments held are summarized as follows (in thousands):

December 31,
2024 2023

Corporate securities $ 46,411 $ 57,878
U.S. Treasury srr ecurities 40,590 22,674
Municipal debt securities 22,294 14,649
Federal home loan securities 6,640 5,670
Certificff ates of deposit 2,631 3,614

$ 118,566 $ 104,485

5. Accounts Receivable and Net Revenue:

Accounts receivable, net consists of the folff lowing (in thousands):

December 31,
2024 2023

Gross accounts receivable $ 1,335,135 $ 1,379,213
Allowance forff contractuat l adjustments and
uncollectibles (1,075,145 ) (1,106,900 )

$ 259,990 $ 272,313

Net revenue consists of the folff lowing (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022

Net patient service revenue $ 1,723,604 $ 1,716,368 $ 1,688,818
Hospital contract administrative feesff 286,684 275,677 262,931
Other revenue 2,631 2,595 20,272

$ 2,012,919 $ 1,994,640 $ 1,972,021

The folff lowing is a summary of the Company’s payor mix, expressed as a percentage of net revenue, exclusive
of administrative feeff s and other miscellaneous revenue, forff the periods indicated:

Years Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022

Contracted managed care 70% 67% 66%
Government 24% 26% 26%
Other third-parties 4% 5% 6%
Private-pay patients 2% 2% 2%

100% 100% 100%

Accounts receivable consist primarily of amounts dued from GHC Programs and third-party insurance payors
for services provided by the Company’s affiliated physicians.

Net revenue consists primarily of gross billed charges for services provided by the Company’s affiliated
physicians less an estimated allowance forff contractuat l adjustments and uncollectibles to properly account for the
anticipated differences between gross billed charge amounts and expected reimbursement amounts.
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The Company's contractual adjustments and uncollectibles as a percentage of gross patient service revenue
vary slightly each year depending on several factors, including improved managed care contracting, changes in
reimbursement from state Medicaid programs and other GHC Programs, shifts in the percentage of patient services
being reimbursed under GHC Programs and annual price increases.

The Company’s annual price increases typically increase contractuat l adjustments as a percentage of gross
patient service revenue. This increase is primarily due to Medicaid and other GHC Programs that generally provide
for reimbursements on a fee-schedule basis rather than on a gross charge basis. When the Company bills these
programs, like other payors, on a gross-charge basis, it also increases its provision for contractuat l adjustments and
uncollectibles by the amount of any price increase, resulting in a higher contractuat l adjustment percentage.

Some of the Company’s hospital agreements require hospitals to pay the Company administrative feeff s. Some
agreements provide for feesff if the hospital does not generate sufficient patient volume in order to guarantee that the
Company receives a specified minimum revenue level. The Company also receives fees from hospitals for
administrative services performed by its affiliated physicians providing medical director or other services at the
hospital.

6. Property and Equipment:

Property and equipment consists of the folff lowing (in thousands):

December 31,
2024 2023

Building $ 8,286 $ 8,286
Land 2,032 2,032
Equipment and other 155,361 208,036

165,679 218,354
Accumulated depreciation (126,507 ) (142,715 )

$ 39,172 $ 75,639

The Company recorded depreciation expense of $22.7 million, $28.1 million and $26.7 million for the years
ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

7. Business Combinations:

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company completed the acquisition of one maternal-fetff al
medicine practice forff total consideration of $9.7 million, of which $6.5 million was paid in cash at closing and
$3.2 million was recorded as a contingent consideration liabia lity. The acquisition expanded the Company’s national
network of physician practices across women’s and children’s services. In connection with this acquisition, the
Company recorded tax deducd tible goodwill of $9.1 million, fixed assets of $0.4 million and other intangible assets
consisting primarily of physician and hospital agreements of $0.2 million.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company completed the acquisition of one pediatric urology
practice for total cash consideration of $5.0 million and recorded tax deducd tible goodwill of $0.4 million, other
intangible assets consisting primarily of physician and hospital agreements of $4.5 million and fixed assets of $0.1
million.

8. Goodwill and Intangible Assets:

Goodwill was $1.24 billion and $1.38 billion at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. Goodwill is
tested for impairment on at least an annual basis, in accordance with the subsequent measurement provisions of the
accounting guidance for goodwff ill. Consistent with prior years, the Company performed its annual impairment test in
the third quarter of 2024 and determined that goodwill was not impaired.
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During the second quarter of 2024, the Company experienced a triggering event, due to a sustained decline
in its stock price and a market capitalization below the Company's book equity value. As a result, the Company
perforff med an interim goodwill impairment assessment. This assessment resulted in a non-cash impairment charge of
$126.4 million, representing the amount by which the Company's book value exceeded its implied fair value, based
on its market capia talization plus an estimated control premium.

Recognition of this non-cash charge against goodwill resulted in a tax benefitff which generated an additional
deferred tax asset of $24.2 million that increased the Company's book value. An incremental non-cash charge was
required to reducd e the Company's book value to its previously determined fair value. Accordingly, the Company
recorded the incremental non-cash charge of $24.2 million forff a total non-cash charge of $150.6 million. A 1% change
in the control premium used would have impacted the non-cash impairment charge by approxia mately $7.7 million.

During the fourff th quarter of 2023, the Company experienced a triggering event, due to a sustained decline in
its stock price and a market capia talization below the Company's book equity value. As a result, the Company
perforff med an interim goodwill impairment assessment. This assessment resulted in a non-cash impairment charge of
$125.0 million, representing the amount by which the Company's book value exceeded its implied fair value, based
on its market capia talization plus an estimated control premium. Consideration was first given to other individual and
group long-lived assets, and no impairment was considered necessary orr n such assets.

Recognition of this non-cash charge against goodwill resulted in a tax benefitff which generated an additional
deferred tax asset of $23.3 million that increased the Company's book value. An incremental non-cash charge was
required to reducd e the Company's book value to its previously determined fair value. Accordingly, we recorded the
incremental non-cash charge of $23.3 million for a total non-cash charge of $148.3 million. A 1% change in the control
premium used would have impacted the non-cash impairment charge by approxia mately $9.0 million.

Intangible assets, net, consist of the following (in thousands):

December 31, 2024
Gross
Carrying
Value

Accumulated
Amortization

Net Carrying
Value

Physician and hospital agreements $ 66,190 $ (61,606 ) $ 4,584
Other technology 9,603 (2,592 ) 7,011

$ 75,793 $ (64,198 ) $ 11,595

December 31, 2023
Gross
Carrying
Value

Accumulated
Amortization

Net Carrying
Value

Physician and hospital agreements $ 105,577 $ (88,775) $ 16,802
Other technology 8,591 (4,153) 4,438

$ 114,168 $ (92,928) $ 21,240

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company recorded intangible assets related to acquisitions
totaling $0.2 million, consisting primarily of physician and hospital agreements. The weighted-average amortization
period for these physician and hospital agreements is approximately 20 years.

Amortization expense forff intangible assets was $7.1 million, $5.6 million and $6.4 million for the years ended
December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Amortization expense forff existing intangible assets for the next five years is expected to be as follows (in
thousands):
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2025 $ 4,858
2026 3,026
2027 1,301
2028 491
2029 366

9. Discontinued Operations and Loss on Disposal of Businesses:

During 2024, the Company made the decision to exit its primary arr nd urgent care service line based on a
review of the cost and time that would be required to build the platforff m to scale. The total loss on disposal of these
two businesses was $11.0 million and is reflected as a component of loss on disposal of businesses in the Company's
Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income for the year ended December 31, 2024.

The Company divested its anesthesiology services and radiology services medical groups in May 2020 and
December 2020, respectively. During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company recorded a net decrease to
the losses on sale of $3.8 million, primarily for certain transaction related true upsrr . The net changes to the losses on
sale are refleff cted as a component of discontinued operations, net of income taxes, in the Company’s Consolidated
Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income for the year ended December 31, 2022.

10. Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses:

Accounts payable and accrued expenses consist of the following (in thousands):

December 31,
2024 2023

Accounts payable $ 46,431 $ 34,588
Accruer d salaries and incentive compensation 215,357 193,112
Accruer d payroll taxes and benefits 35,450 36,545
Accruer d professional liabia lities 30,430 32,039
Accruer d interest 8,159 8,262
Other accrued expenses 62,863 46,252

$ 398,690 $ 350,798

11. Operating Leases:

The Company primarily leases property under operating leases for its medical and business offices, storage
space and temporary hrr ousing forff medical staff. For leases with terms greater than 12 months, the Company records
the related asset and obligation at the present value of the lease payment using a discount rate that reflects the
Company’s estimated incremental borrowing rate. Certain of the Company’s leases include rental escalation clauses
and renewal options that are factff ored into the determination of lease payments when appropriate. Operating leases forff
offiff ce equipment are not material, and thereforff e are excluded froff m the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet.

The table below presents the operating lease-related right-of-use assets and related liabia lities recorded on the
Company’s balance sheet and the weighted average remaining lease term and discount rate as of December 31, 2024
and 2023 (dollars in thousands):
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December 31,
2024 2023

Assets:
Operating lease right-of-use assets $ 34,089 $ 61,693
Liabilities:
Current portion of operating lease liabia lities 12,704 21,076
Long-term portion of operating lease liabia lities 31,945 47,238
Other Inforff mation:
Weighted-average remaining lease term 4.2 years 4.6 years
Weighted average discount rate 5.9% 5.5%

The table below presents certain information related to the lease costs for operating leases during the years
ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 (in thousands):

December 31,
2024 2023

Operating lease costs $ 20,194 $ 23,200
Variable lease costs 6,999 5,854
Other operating lease costs 3,329 3,613
Total operating lease costs $ 30,522 $ 32,667

The table below presents supplemental cash floff w inforff mation related to operating leases during the years
ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 (in thousands):

December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Operating cash floff ws for operating leases $ 34,532 $ 35,747

The table below reconciles the undiscounted cash floff ws for each of the first fivff e years and total of the
remaining years to the operating lease liabilities recorded on the balance sheet as of December 31, 2024 (in thousands):

December 31,
2024

2025 $ 13,691
2026 12,230
2027 9,688
2028 6,363
2029 3,271
Thereafter 4,644
Total minimum lease payments 49,887
Less: Amount of payments representing interest (5,238 )
Present value of future minimum lease payments 44,649
Less: Current obligations (12,704 )
Long-term portion of operating leases $ 31,945

12. Accrued Professional Liabilities:

At December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company’s total accruer d professional liabia lities of $287.9 million and
$283.3 million, respectively, included incurred but not reported loss reserves of $179.4 million and $178.1 million,
respectively, and loss reserves forff reported claims of $108.5 million and $105.2 million, respectively. Of the total
liabia lity at December 31, 2024, $30.4 million is classified as a current liabia lity within accounts payable and accruedr
expenses in the Consolidated Balance Sheet. In addition, there is a corresponding insurance receivable of $28.5 million
recorded as a component of other assets forff certain profesff sional liabia lity claims that are covered by third-party
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insurance policies. These reserves include the accruer d professional liabia lities forff the Company’s continuing operations
as reflected in the table below as well as certain retained profesff sional liabia lities related to the Company’s formff er
anesthesiology and radiology medical groups that were divested in 2020.

The activity related to the Company’s accruer d professional liabia lity for continuing operations, excluding the
retained profesff sional liabia lities related to the Company’s forff mer anesthesiology and radiology medical groups, forff the
years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022 is as follows (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022

Balance at beginning of year $ 202,596 $ 199,561 $ 190,127
Liabilities recognized, offsff et by insurance
receivable 1,230 (5,510 ) (2,692 )
Provision (adjustment) forff losses related to:
Current year 52,273 55,144 53,180
Prior years (8,316 ) (7,551 ) (4,056 )

Total provision for losses 43,957 47,593 49,124
Claim payments related to:
Current year (891 ) (97 ) (73 )
Prior years (24,946 ) (38,951 ) (36,925 )

Total payments (25,837 ) (39,048 ) (36,998 )
Balance at end of year $ 221,946 $ 202,596 $ 199,561

The net increases in the Company’s total accruer d professional liabia lity for the years ended December 31,
2024 and 2023 were primarily related to certain changes in the Company’s claims experience that impacted its
provision for losses.

13. Line of Credit, Long-Term Debt and Finance Lease Obligations:

On February 11, 2022, the Company issued $400.0 million of 5.375% unsecured senior notes due 2030 (the
“2030 Notes”). The Company used the net proceeds froff m the issuance of the 2030 Notes, together with $100.0 million
drawn under the Revolving Credit Line (as definff ed below), $250.0 million of Term A Loan (as definff ed below) and
approximately $308.0 million of cash on hand, to redeem (the “Redemption”) the 2027 Notes, which had an
outstanding principal balance of $1.0 billion, and to pay costs, fees and expenses associated with the Redemption and
the Credit Agreement Amendment (as defined below).

Interest on the 2030 Notes accruer s at the rate of 5.375% per annum, or $21.5 million, and is payable semi-
annually in arrears on February 15 arr nd August 15, beginning on August 15, 2022. The Company's obligations under
the 2030 Notes are guaranteed on an unsecured senior basis by the same subsu idiaries and affiliated professional
contractors that guarantee the Amended Credit Agreement (as defined below). The indenture under which the 2030
Notes are issued, among other things, limits the Company's abia lity to (1) incur liens and (2) enter into sale and lease-
back transactions, and also limits the Company's abia lity to merge or dispose of all or subsu tantially all of its assets, in
all cases, subject to a number of customary exceptions. Although the Company is not required to make mandatory
redemption or sinking fund payments with respect to the 2030 Notes, upon the occurrence of a change in control, the
Company may be required to repurchase the 2030 Notes at a purchase price equal to 101% of the aggregate principal
amount of the 2030 Notes repurchased plus accruer d and unpaid interest.

Also in connection with the Redemption, the Company amended its credit agreement (the “Credit
Agreement”, and such amendment, the "Credit Agreement Amendment"), concurrently with the issuance of the 2030
Notes. The Credit Agreement Amendment, among other things, (i) refinanced the prior unsecured revolving credit
facility with a $450.0 million unsecured revolving credit facility, including a $37.5 million sub-facility for the issuance
of letters of credit (the “Revolving Credit Line”), and a new $250.0 million term A loan facility (“Term A Loan”) and
(ii) removed JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as the administrative agent under the Credit Agreement and appointed
Bank of America, N.A. as the administrative agent for the lenders.
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The Credit Agreement, as amended by the Credit Agreement Amendment (the “Amended Credit
Agreement”) maturt es on February 11, 2027 and is guaranteed on an unsecured basis by subsu tantially all of the
Company's subsidiaries and affiliated professional contractors. At the Company's option, borrowings under the
Amended Credit Agreement bear interest at (i) the Alternate Base Rate (defined as the highest of (a) the prime rate as
announced by Bank of America, N.A., (b) the Federal Funds Rate plus 0.50% and (c) Term Secured Overnight
Financing Rate ("SOFR") forff an interest period of one month plus 1.00% with a 1.00% floor) plus an appla icable
margin rate of 0.50% for the first two fiscal quarters after the date of the Credit Agreement Amendment, and thereafterff
at an applicable margin rate ranging from 0.125% to 0.750% based on the Company's consolidated net leverage ratio
or (ii) Term SOFR rate (calculated as the Secured Overnight Financing Rate published on the applicable Reuters
screen page plus a spread adjustment of 0.10%, 0.15% or 0.25% depending on if the Company selects a one-month,
three-month or six-month interest period, respectively, for the applicable loan with a 0% floff or), plus an applicable
margin rate of 1.50% for the first two full fiscal quarters after the date of the Credit Agreement Amendment, and
thereafter at an applicable margin rate ranging froff m 1.125% to 1.750% based on the Company's consolidated net
leverage ratio. The Amended Credit Agreement also provides for otheff r customary fees and charges, including an
unused commitment feeff with respect to the Revolving Credit Line ranging from 0.150% to 0.200% of the unused
lending commitments under the Revolving Credit Line, based on the Company's consolidated net leverage ratio.

The Amended Credit Agreement contains customary crr ovenants and restrictions, including covenants that
require the Company to maintain a minimum interest coverage ratio, a maximum consolidated net leverage ratio and
to comply with laws, and restrictions on the abia lity to pay dividends, incur indebtedness or liens and make certain
other distributions subju ect to baskets and exceptions, in each case, as specified therein. Failure to comply with these
covenants would constitute an event of defauff lt under the Amended Credit Agreement, notwithstanding the abia lity of
the Company to meet its debt service obligations. The Amended Credit Agreement includes various customary
remedies for the lenders folff lowing an event of default, including the acceleration of repayment of outstanding amounts
under the Amended Credit Agreement. In addition, the Company may increase the principal amount of the Revolving
Credit Line or incur additional term loans under the Amended Credit Agreement in an aggregate principal amount
such that on a pro forma basis afteff r giving effecff t to such increase or additional term loans, the Company would be in
compliance with the finff ancial covenants, subju ect to the satisfaction of specified conditions and additional caps in the
event that the Amended Credit Agreement is secured.

The carrying value of the Company’s long-term debt was $611.2 million and $622.2 million at December
31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, and consisted of the following (in thousands):

December 31, 2024

Principal

Unamortized
Debt Issuance

Costs Total
Senior notes $ 400,000 $ (3,638 ) $ 396,362
Revolving credit line — (523 ) (523 )
Term A loan 215,625 (291 ) 215,334
Total $ 615,625 $ (4,452 ) $ 611,173

December 31, 2023

Principal

Unamortized
Debt Issuance

Costs Total
Senior notes $ 400,000 $ (4,354) $ 395,646
Revolving credit line — (1,006) (1,006)
Term A loan 228,125 (559) 227,566
Total $ 628,125 $ (5,919) $ 622,206

The Company presents issuance costs related to long-term debt liabilities, other than revolving credit and
term loan arrangements, as a direct deducd tion froff m the carrying value of that long-term debt. The Company had no
outstanding letters of credit at December 31, 2024. At December 31, 2024, the Company had an availabla e balance on
its Amended Credit Agreement of $450.0 million.
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The carrying values of the Company’s variabla e rate Revolving Credit Line and Term A Loan approximate
fair value dued to the short-term nature of the interest rates. The estimated faiff r value of the Company’s 2030 Notes
was estimated using trading prices as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, as Level 2 inputs to estimate fair
value forff relevant periods and are summarized as folff lows (in thousands):

December 31,
2024 2023

2030 Notes 382,000 357,000

The Company’s finff ance lease obligations, primarily related to equipment used in its newborn hearing screen
program, consist of the following (in thousands):

December 31,
2024 2023

Finance lease obligations $ 5,341 $ 9,241
Less: Current portion (1,795 ) (2,413 )
Long-term portion $ 3,546 $ 6,828

14. Income Taxes:

The components of the income tax (benefit) provision are as folff lows (in thousands):

December 31,
2024 2023 2022

Federal:
Current $ (1,286 ) $ 8,040 $ 38,877
Deferred (880 ) 1,467 (19,679 )

(2,166 ) 9,507 19,198
State:
Current 1,144 770 2,700
Deferred (1,250 ) 1,772 (3,092 )

(106 ) 2,542 (392 )
Total $ (2,272 ) $ 12,049 $ 18,806

The Company files its tax returt n on a consolidated basis with its subsu idiaries, and its affiff liated professional
contractors file taff x returns ont an individual basis.

The effective tax rate for continuing operations was 2.2%, (24.9)% and 23.1% for the years ended December
31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively. The effeff ctive tax rate for the year ended December 31, 2024 includes $12.5
million of expense related to non-cash impairment charges related to goodwill. The effective tax rate for the year
ended December 31, 2023 includes $17.8 million of expense related to non-cash impairment charges related to
goodwill and a cost-method investment.

The differeff nces between the effeff ctive rate and the United States fedff eral income tax statutory rate are as
follows:
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December 31,
2024 2023 2022

Tax at statutory rate 21.00% 21.00% 21.00%
State income tax, net of federal benefitff 3.26 2.79 1.53
Non-deductible expenses (1.39 ) (4.43 ) 1.48
Equity compensation adjustments (1.80 ) (3.98 ) 1.35
Change in accruar l estimates relating to
uncertain tax positions (0.22 ) 0.67 (3.28 )
Change in valuation allowance (6.35 ) (13.82 ) 1.72
Goodwill impairment (12.38 ) (26.67 )
Other, net 0.12 (0.48 ) (0.69 )
Effeff ctive tax rate 2.24% (24.92 )% 23.11%

All of the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabia lities are classified as long-term. The significant
components of deferred income tax assets and liabia lities are as follows (in thousands):

December 31,
2024 2023

Allowance for uncolff lectible accounts $ 122,742 $ 139,998
Reserves and accruals 68,128 59,218
Stock-based compensation 1,691 3,022
Operating loss and other carryforwards 47,869 34,739
Capia tal loss carryforwards 412,392 422,809
Operating lease assets 12,332 19,133
Property and equipment 2,734 2,056
Other 914 5,520

Deferred tax assets before valuation
allowance 668,802 686,495
Less: Valuation allowance (425,395 ) (435,940 )
Deferred tax assets, net of valuation
allowance 243,407 250,555

Gross deferred tax liabilities:
Amortization (161,983 ) (162,538 )
Operating lease liabia lities (9,687 ) (17,342 )
Other (2,128 ) (2,131 )
Total deferred tax liabilities (173,798 ) (182,011 )
Net deferred tax assets $ 69,609 $ 68,544

The Company’s net deferred tax assets were $69.6 million as of December 31, 2024, as compared to $68.5
million at December 31, 2023. The increase in net deferred tax assets of $1.1 million durd ing the year ended December
31, 2024 was primarily related to increases in deferred tax assets for reserves and accruar ls of $8.9 million, operating
loss and other carryforwards of $13.1 million and valuation allowance of $10.5 million, partially offsff et by decreases
for allowance for uncolff lectible accounts of $17.3 million, capital loss carryforwards of $10.4 million and other of $4.6
million. The decrease in valuation allowance of $10.5 million primarily related to the effeff ct of expiring capital loss
carryforwards of $16.9 million, partially offsff et by a current year increase of $6.4 million.

For the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, income tax expense of $1.8 million, $1.9 million
and $1.1 million, respectively, was recognized for excess tax deficiencies associated with stock-based compensation.

The Company has $1.67 billion of capital loss carryforwards as of December 31, 2024 which were generated
from the disposal of its forff mer anesthesiology and radiology services medical groups, of which the majority expire in
2025. As of December 31, 2024, management has determined that it is more likely than not that the tax benefits related
to these carryforwards will not be realized and has recorded a fulff l valuation allowance against the related deferred tax
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assets. Additionally, the Company had net operating loss carryforwards for fedff eral and state tax purposes totaling
$72.3 million, $56.4 million and $46.7 million at December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively. With respect to
the December 31, 2024 balance, $13.5 million expires at various times froff m 2033 through 2042, and $58.8 million
does not expire.

As of December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, the Company’s liabia lity for uncertain tax positions, excluding
accruer d interest and penalties, was $2.4 million, $2.4 million and $2.8 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2024,
the Company had $2.4 million of uncertain tax positions that, if recognized, would favff orably impact its effective tax
rate.

The folff lowing tabla e summarizes the activity related to the Company’s liabia lity for uncertain tax positions for
the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022

Balance at beginning of year $ 2,449 $ 2,838 $ 4,928
(Decreases) increases related to prior year
tax positions (47 ) 70 379
Increases related to current year tax
positions — 200 800
Decreases related to lapse of statutt es
of limitation — (659 ) (3,269 )

Balance at end of year $ 2,402 $ 2,449 $ 2,838

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company decreased its liabia lity for uncertain tax positions by
$0.4 million, primarily related to expiration of statutes of limitation, partially offsff et by additional taxes on current year
positions. In addition, the Company anticipates that its liability for uncertain tax positions will decrease by $0.6 million
over the next 12 months.

The Company includes interest and penalties related to income tax liabia lities in income tax expense. During
the year ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, the Company included $0.3 million, $0.2 million and $0.3 million,
respectively, of interest and penalties in income tax expense. At December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company's accrued
liabia lity for interest and penalties related to income tax liabia lities totaled $0.5 million and $0.3 million, respectively.

The Company is currently subju ect to U.S. Federal and various state income tax examinations for the tax years
2021 through 2023.

15. Common and Common Equivalent Shares:

The calculation of shares used in the basic and diluted net income per share calculation forff the years ended
December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022 is as follows (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022

Weighted average number of common
shares outstanding 83,330 82,201 83,467
Weighted average number of dilutive common
share equivalents (a) — — 654
Weighted average number of common and common
equivalent shares outstanding 83,330 82,201 84,121

Antidilutive securities (restricted stock and stock
options, as relevant) not included in the diluted net
income per common share calculation 333 1,115 406
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(a) Due to a loss forff the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, 0.6 million and 0.4 million incremental shares, respectively,
are not included because the effect would be antidilutive.

16. Stock Incentive Plans and Stock Purchase Plans:

The Company's Amended and Restated 2008 Incentive Compensation Plan (the "2008 Incentive Plan")
provides for grff ants of stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, deferred stock, and other stock-related
awards and performance awards that may be settled in cash, stock or other property.

Under the 2008 Incentive Plan, options to purchase shares of common stock may be granted at a price not
less than the faiff r market value of the shares on the date of grant. The options must be exercised within 10 years fromff
the date of grant and generally become exercisabla e on a pro rata basis over a three-year period from the date of grant.
The Company issues new shares of its common stock uponu exercise of its stock options. Restricted stock awards
generally vest over periods of three years uponu the fulff fillment of specified service-based conditions and in certain
instances performance-based conditions. Deferff red stock awards generally vest upon the satisfaction of specified
performance-based conditions and service-based conditions. The Company recognizes compensation expense related
to its restricted stock and deferred stock awards ratabla y over the corresponding vesting periods. During the year ended
December 31, 2024, the Company granted 1.4 million shares of restricted stock to its employees and non-employee
directors under the 2008 Incentive Plan. At December 31, 2024, the Company had 6.4 million shares available for
future grants and awards under the 2008 Incentive Plan.

Under the Company’s Amended and Restated 1996 Non-Qualifieff d Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as
amended (the “ESPP”) employees are permitted to purchase the Company's common stock at 85% of market value on
January 1st, April 1st, July 1st and October 1st of each year. Under the Company’s 2015 Non-Qualifieff d Stock Purchase
Plan (the “SPP”), certain eligible non-employee service providers are permitted to purchase the Company’s common
stock at 90% of market value on January 1st, April 1st, July 1st and October 1st of each year.

The Company recognizes stock-based compensation expense forff the discount received by participating
employees and non-employee service providers. During the year ended December 31, 2024, approximately 0.5 million
shares were issued under the ESPP. At December 31, 2024, the Company had approxia mately 1.6 million shares
reserved for issuance under the ESPP. At December 31, 2024, the Company had approxia mately 61,000 shares reserved
for issuance under the SPP. No shares have been issued under the SPP since October 2020.

The Company recognized $9.9 million, $12.3 million and $14.4 million of stock-based compensation
expense related to its stock incentive plans and the ESPP durd ing the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022,
respectively. This excludes accelerated stock-based compensation expense related to certain position eliminations that
is included within transformational and restructurt ing related expenses.

The activity related to the Company's restricted stock awards and the corresponding weighted average grant-
date fair values for the year ended December 31, 2024 are as folff lows:

Number of
Shares

Weighted
Average
Fair Value

Non-vested shares at January 1rr , 2024 1,357,089 $ 18.69
Awarded 1,416,611 $ 7.57
Forfeited (89,842 ) $ 12.86
Vested (987,593 ) $ 17.29

Non-vested shares at December 31, 2024 1,696,265 $ 10.53

The aggregate faiff r value of the restricted stock that vested during the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023
and 2022 was $17.1 million, $9.6 million and $19.1 million, respectively.

The weighted average grant-date faiff r value of restricted stock awards that were granted during the years
ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 was $7.57, $15.25 and $22.64, respectively.
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At December 31, 2024, the total stock-based compensation cost related to non-vested restricted stock
remaining to be recognized as compensation expense over a weighted-average period of 1.5 years was $7.4 million.

17. Common Stock Repurchase Programs:

In July 2013, the Company’s Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of shares of the Company’s
common stock up to an amount sufficient to offset the dilutive impact from the issuance of shares under the Company’s
equity compensation programs. The share repurchase program allows the Company to make open market purchases
from time-to-time based on general economic and market conditions and trading restrictions. The repurchase program
also allows for the repurchase of shares of the Company’s common stock to offsff et the dilutive impact from the issuance
of shares, if any, related to the Company’s acquisition program. No shares were purchased under this program during
the year ended December 31, 2024.

In August 2018, the Company announced that its Board of Directors had authorized the repurchase of up tou
$500.0 million of the Company’s common stock in addition to its existing share repurchase program, of which
$2.9 million remained availabla e forff repurchase as of December 31, 2024. Under this share repurchase program, durd ing
the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company purchased 0.2 million shares of its common stock for $1.7 million,
representing shares withheld to satisfy minimum statutory withholding obligations in connection with the vesting of
restricted stock.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company purchased 61,000 shares of its common stock for
$0.9 million, representing shares withheld to satisfy minimum statutory withholding obligations in connection with
the vesting of restricted stock.

The Company intends to utilize various methods to effeff ct any futurff e share repurchases, including, among
others, open market purchases and accelerated share repurchase programs. The amount and timing of repurchases
will depend upon several factff ors, including general economic and market conditions and trading restrictions.

18. Retirement Plans:

The Company maintained two qualified contributory srr avings plans as allowed under Section 401(k) of the
Internal Revenue Code and Section 1165(e) of the Puerto Rico Income Tax Act of 1954 (the “401(k) Plans”) through
December 31, 2022. The Company ceased providing services in Puerto Rico on December 31, 2022, and accordingly,
the Puerto Rico 401(k) Plan was no longer maintained beginning on January 1, 2023. The 401(k) Plans permit
participant contributions and allow elective and, in certain situations, non-elective Company contributions based on
each participant’s contribution or a specified percentage of eligible wages. Participants may deferff a percentage of their
annual compensation subject to the limits definff ed in the 401(k) Plans. The Company recorded expense forff its
continuing operations of $23.3 million, $24.1 million and $22.6 million forff the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023
and 2022, respectively, primarily related to the 401(k) Plans.

19. Commitments and Contingencies:

The Company expects that audits, inquiries and investigations from government authorities and agencies will
occur in the ordinary course of business. Such audits, inquiries and investigations and their ultimate resolutions,
individually or in the aggregate, could have a material adverse effect on the Company's business, financial condition,
results of operations, cash floff ws and the trading price of its securities. The Company has not included an accrual for
these matters as of December 31, 2024 in its Consolidated Financial Statements, as the variabla es affeff cting any potential
eventual liability depend on the currently unknown factff s and circumstances that arise out of, aff nd are specific to, any
particular future audit, inquiry and investigation and cannot be reasonably estimated at this time.

In the ordinary crr ourse of business, the Company becomes involved in pending and threatened legal actions
and proceedings, most of which involve claims of medical malpractice related to medical services provided by the
Company's affiliated physicians. The Company's contracts with hospitals generally require the Company to indemnify
them and their affiff liates forff losses resulting froff m the negligence of the Company's affiliated physicians. The Company
may also become subject to other lawsuits which could involve large claims and significant costs. The Company
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believes, based uponu a review of pending actions and proceedings, that the outcome of such legal actions and
proceedings will not have a material adverse effecff t on its business, financial condition, results of operations, cash
flows and the trading price of its securities. The outcome of such actions and proceedings, however, cannot be
predicted with certainty and an unfavff orable resolution of one or more of them could have a material adverse effect on
the Company's business, financial condition, results of operations, cash floff ws and the trading price of its securities.

Although the Company currently maintains liabia lity insurance coverage intended to cover professional
liabia lity and certain other claims, the Company cannot assure that its insurance coverage will be adequate to cover
liabia lities arising out of claims asserted against it in the future where the outcomes of such claims are unfavff orable.
With respect to profesff sional liabia lity risk, the Company generally self-iff nsures a portion of this risk through its wholly
owned captive insurance subsu idiary. Liabia lities in excess of the Company's insurance coverage, including coverage
for professional liabia lity and certain other claims, could have a material adverse effect on the Company's business,
financial condition, results of operations, cash floff ws and the trading price of its securities.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We carried out an evaluation, under the supeu rvision and with the participation of our management, including
our Chief Executive Offiff cer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effeff ctiveness of our disclosure controls and procedurd es
(as definff ed in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended). Based upon
that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Offiff cer have concluded that our disclosure controls
and procedurd es were effeff ctive as of the end of the period covered by this report.

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Management of the Company is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over
financial reporting as definff ed in Rule 13a-15(f) or 15d-15(f) promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended. The Company's internal control over finff ancial reporting includes those policies and procedurd es that (i)
pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and faiff rly refleff ct the transactions and
dispositions of the assets of the Company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary
to permit preparation of finff ancial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that
receipts and expenditures of the Company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and
directors of the Company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding the prevention or timely detection of
unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the Company’s assets that could have a material effect on the
Company's finff ancial statements.

Internal control over finff ancial reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliabia lity
of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements prepared forff external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles. Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over finff ancial reporting
may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to futurff e periods are
subju ect to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Management assessed the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over finff ancial reporting as of the
end of the period covered by this report. In making this assessment, management used the criteria set forth by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”) in “Internal Control - Integrated
Framework (2013).” Based on our assessment we concluded that, as of the end of the period covered by this report,
the Company's internal control over finff ancial reporting was effeff ctive based on those criteria.

The Company's independent registered certified public accounting firm,ff PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, has
audited our internal control over finff ancial reporting as of December 31, 2024 as stated in their report which appears
in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

No change in our internal control over finff ancial reporting occurred durd ing our last fiscal quarter that has
materially affeff cted, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over finff ancial reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

Rule 10b5-1 TraTT ding Plans
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During the three months ended December 31, 2024, none of the Company’s directors or officers adopted or
terminated any Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement or non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement (as such terms are definff ed
in Item 408 of Regulation S-K).

ITEM 9C. DISCLOSURE REGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICTIONS THAT PREVENT INSPECTIONS

Not applicable.
PART III

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATRR E GOVERNANCE

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to the sections titled "Directors and
Executive Offiff cers" and "Governance and Related Matters" that will be included in our definitive proxy statement forff
the 2025 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, which is to be filed with the SEC within 120 days afteff r our fiscal year end
(the "2025 Proxy Statement"). If applicable, the information required by this item regarding delinquent filers pursuant
to Item 405 of Regulation S-K will be included under the caption "Delinquent Section 16(a) Reports" in the 2025
Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to the sections titled "Directors and
Executive Offiff cers", "Executive Compensation: Compensation Discussion and Analysis ("CD&A")" and "Director
Compensation" that will be included in the 2025 Proxy Statement.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

SECURITIES AUTHORIZED FOR ISSUANCE UNDER EQUITY COMPENSATION PLANS

The folff lowing tabla e provides information as of December 31, 2024, with respect to shares of our common
stock that may be issued under existing equity compensation plans, including our Amended and Restated 2008
Incentive Compensation Plan (the “2008 Incentive Plan”), our ESPP and our SPP.

Plan Category

Number of securities to be issued
upon exercise of outstanding
options, warrants and rights

Weighted-average
exercise price of

outstanding options,
warrants and rights

Number of securities remaining
available forff future issuance under

equity compensation plans
(excluding securities refleff cted in

column (a))
(a) (b) (c)

Equity compensation plans approvea d by
security holders N/A N/A 8,040,694 (1)
Equity compensation plans not approved
by security holders N/A N/A N/A
Total N/A N/A 8,040,694

(1) Under the 2008 Incentive Plan, 6,382,735 shares remain availabla e forff future issuance, and under the ESPP and the SPP, an aggregate of
1,657,959 shares remain availabla e forff future issuance.

The remaining information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to the section titled "Share
Ownership Inforff mation" that will be included in the 2025 Proxy Statement.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTRR IONS, AND DIRECTOR
INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to the sections titled "Governance and
Related Matters" and "Directors and Executive Offiff cers" that will be included in the 2025 Proxy Statement.
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ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to the section titled "Independent
Auditors" that will be included in the 2025 Proxy Statement.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULE

(a)(1) Financial Statements

The information required by this Item is included in Item 8 of Part II of this Form 10-K.

(a)(2) Financial Statement Schedule

The folff lowing financial statement schedule forff the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, is
included in this Form 10-K as set forth below (in thousands).

Pediatrix Medical Group, Inc.
Schedule II: Valuation and Qualifyiff ng Accounts

Years Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022

Allowance forff contractuat l adjustments and uncollectibles:
Balance at beginning of year $ 1,106,900 $ 1,251,705 $ 1,091,310
Amount charged against operating revenue 6,183,299 6,069,245 5,921,519
Accounts receivable contractuat l adjustments and write-offs
(net of recoveries) (6,215,054 ) (6,214,050 ) (5,761,124 )
Balance at end of year $ 1,075,145 $ 1,106,900 $ 1,251,705

All other schedules have been omitted because they are not applicable, not required or the information is
included elsewhere herein.

(a)(3) Exhibits

See Item 15(b) of this Form 10-K.

(b) Exhibits

2.1 Securities Purchase Agreement, dated October 10, 2019, by and between Mednax Services, Inc. and
FH MD Buyer, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to Pediatrix’s Current Report on Form
8-K fileff d on October 10, 2019).**

2.2 Securities Purchase Agreement, dated as of May 6, 2020, by and between Mednax Services, Inc. and
NMSC II, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to Pediatrix’s Current Report on Form 8-K
filed on May 12, 2020).**

2.3 Securities Purchase Agreement, dated as of September 9, 2020, by and between Mednax Services,
Inc. and Radiology Partners, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to Pediatrix’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed on September 15, 2020).**

3.1 Second Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to
Pediatrix’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q forff the period ended June 30, 2022).

3.2 Second Amended and Restated By-laws of Pediatrix Medical Group, Inc. (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 3.1 to Pediatrix’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q forff the period ended June 30, 2023).
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4.1 Form of 5.375% Senior Notes due 2030d (incorpor rated by reference to Exhibit A of the Seventh
Supplu emental Indenture filff ed as Exhibit 4.3 to Pediatrix’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
February 14, 2022).

4.2 Indenture, dated as of December 8, 2015, by and between Mednax, Inc. and U.S. Bank National
Association, as Trusr tee. (incorporr rated by referff ence to Exhibit 4.2 to Pediatrix’s Current Report on
Form 8-K fileff d on December 8, 2015).

4.3 First Supplemental Indenture dated as of December 8, 2015 to the Indenture, dated as of December
8, 2015, by and among Mednax, Inc., certain of its subsidiaries and U.S. Bank National Association,
as Trusr tee. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to Pediatrix’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed
on December 8, 2015).

4.4 Second Supplu emental Indenture dated as of March 30, 2017 to the Indenture, dated as of December
8, 2015, by and among Mednax, Inc., certain of its subsidiaries and U.S. Bank National Association,
as Trusr tee. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to Pediatrix’s Annual Report on Form 10-K forff
the period ended December 31, 2017).

4.5 Third Supplemental Indenturt e dated as of November 9, 2017 to the Indenture, dated as of December
8, 2015, by and among Mednax, Inc., certain of its subsidiaries and U.S. Bank National Association,
as Trusr tee. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to Pediatrix’s Annual Report on Form 10-K forff
the year ended December 31, 2017).

4.6 Fourth Supplu emental Indenture dated as of November 13, 2018 to the Indenture, dated as of
December 8, 2015, by and among Mednax, Inc., certain of its subsu idiaries and U.S. Bank National
Association, as Trusr tee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to Pediatrix’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K forff the year ended December 31, 2018).

4.7 Fifth Supplemental Indenture dated as of November 13, 2018 to Indenture, dated as of December 8,
2015, by and among Mednax, Inc., certain of its subsidiaries and U.S. Bank National Association, as
Trusr tee. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to Pediatrix’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
November 13, 2018).

4.8 Sixth Supplemental Indenture dated as of February 21, 2019 to the Indenture, dated as of December
8, 2015, by and among Mednax, Inc., certain of its subsidiaries and U.S. Bank National Association,
as Trusr tee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Pediatrix’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
for the period ended March 31, 2019).

4.9 Seventh Supplemental Indenturt e dated as of Februarr ry 11, 2021 to the Indenture, dated as of
December 8, 2015, by and among Mednax, Inc., certain of its subsu idiaries and U.S. Bank National
Association, as Trusrr tee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to Pediatrix’s Current Report on
Form 8-K fileff d on February 1rr 4, 2022).

4.10 Eighth Supplemental Indenture dated as of March 31, 2023 to the Indenture, dated as of December
8, 2015, by and among Pediatrix Medical Group,u Inc. (f/k/a Mednax, Inc.), certain of its
subsu idiaries and U.S. Bank Trust Company, National Association, as Trusr tee. (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Pediatrix’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q forff the period ended March
31, 2023).

4.11 Description of Securities of Mednax, Inc. (incorpor rated by reference to Exhibit 4.10 to Pediatrix’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K forff the year ended December 31, 2019).

10.1 Credit Agreement, dated as of October 30, 2017, among Mednax, Inc., certain of its domestic
subsu idiaries from time to time party thereto as Guarantors, the Lender parties thereto, JPMorgan
Chase Bank, N.A. as Administrative Agent and Bank of America, N.A., Fifth Third Bank, Mizuho
Bank, Ltd., SunTrust Bank, The Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi UFJ, Ltd., and Wells Fargo Bank,
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National Association as Syndication Agents, and BBVA Compass, Citizens Bank, N.A., PNC Bank,
Regions Bank, and U.S. Bank National Association, as Senior Documentation Agents and BB&T as
Documentation Agent. JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A, Fifth Third Bank, Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner
& Smith Incorporated, Mizuho Bank, Ltd., SunTrust Robinson Humphrey, Inc., The Bank of Tokyo-
Mitsubishi UFJ, Ltd., and Wells Fargo Securities, LLC, acted as Joint Lead Arrangers and Joint
Bookrunners. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Pediatrix’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-
Q forff the period ended September 30, 2017).

10.2 Amendment No. 1, dated as of November 21, 2018, to the Credit Agreement, dated as of October 30,
2017, among Mednax, Inc. certain of its domestic subsidiaries from time to time party thereto as
Guarantors, the Lenders parties thereto and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. as Administrative Agent
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to Pediatrix's Annual Report on Form 10-K forff the year
ended December 31, 2018).

10.3 Amendment No. 2, dated as of March 28, 2019, to the Credit Agreement, dated as of October 30,
2017, among Mednax, Inc., certain of its domestic subsidiaries froff m time to time party thereto as
Guarantors, the Lenders parties thereto, and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. as Administrative Agent
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Pediatrix’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q forff the
period ended March 31, 2019).

10.4 Amendment No.3, dated as of March 25, 2020, to the Credit Agreement, dated as of October 30,
2017, among Mednax, Inc., certain of its domestic subsu idiaries from time to time party thereto as
Guarantors, the Lenders party thereto and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Pediatrix’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q forff the
period ended March 31, 2020).

10.5† Amendment No.4, dated as of February 1rr 1, 2022, to the Credit Agreement, dated as of October 30,
2017, among Mednax, Inc., certain of its domestic subsu idiaries from time to time party thereto as
guarantors, the lenders party thereto and Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative Agent
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Pediatrix’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
February 14, 2022).

10.6 Amended and Restated Mednax, Inc. 1996 Non-Qualifieff d Employee Stock Purchase Plan
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit B to the Company’s Definitivff e Proxy Statement on Scheduled
14A, fileff d with the SEC on March 23, 2021).*

10.7 2015 Non-Qualified Stock Purchase Plan of Mednax, Inc., dated September 14, 2015 (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit B to Pediatrix’s Proxy Statement dated September 18, 2015).*

10.8 Executive Non-Qualifieff d Deferff red Compensation Plan of Pediatrix, dated October 13, 1997
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.35 to Pediatrix’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q forff the
period ended June 30, 1998).*

10.9 Amended and Restated Thrift and Profit Sharing Plan of Pediatrix (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.5 to Pediatrix’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 (Registration No. 333-101222)).*

10.10 Mednax, Inc. Amended and Restated 2008 Incentive Compensation Plan (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit A to the Company’s Definff itive Proxy Statement on Scheduld e 14A, fileff d with the SEC on
March 23, 2021).*

10.11 Mednax, Inc. Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement for Non-Qualified Stock Options
Awarded Under the 2008 Incentive Compensation Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17
to Pediatrix’s Annual Report on Form 10-K forff the year ended December 31, 2008).*
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10.12 Mednax, Inc. Form of Restricted Stock Agreement for Restricted Stock Awarded Under the 2008
Incentive Compensation Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18 to Pediatrix’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K forff the year ended December 31, 2008).*

10.13 Third Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated as of September 30, 2024, by and
between PMG Services, Inc. and Kasandra Rossi (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to
Pediatrix's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q forff the period ended September 30, 2024).*

10.14 Third Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated as of April 26, 2023, by and between
PMG Services, Inc. and James D. Swift, M.D. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to
Pediatrix’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q forff the period ended March 31, 2023).*

10.15 Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated as of April 26, 2023, by and between PMG
Services, Inc. and C. Marc Richards (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Pediatrix’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q forff the period ended March 31, 2023).*

10.16 Second Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated as of April 26, 2023, by and between
PMG Services, Inc. and Curtis B. Pickert, M.D. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to
Pediatrix's Annual Report on Form 10-K forff the year ended December 30, 2023).*

10.17 Second Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated as of April 26, 2023, by and between
PMG Services, Inc. and Mary Ann E. Moore (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to Pediatrix’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q forff the period ended March 31, 2023).*

10.18 Second Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated as of April 26, 2023, by and between
PMG Services, Inc. and Lee Wood (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to Pediatrix's Annual
Report on Form 10-K forff the year ended December 30, 2023).*

10.19+ Employment Agreement, dated as of January 12, 2025, by and between PMG Services, Inc., Pediatrix
Medical Group, Inc. and Mark Ordan.*

10.20 Form of Exclusive Management and Administrative Services Agreement with affiliated professional
contractors (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.31 to Pediatrix’s Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the year ended December 31, 2011).

10.21†† Services Agreement, dated May 12, 2021, by and between Mednax Services, Inc. and R1 RCM Inc.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to Pediatrix’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q forff the
period ended June 30, 2021).

10.22 Form of Indemnificff ation Agreement between Pediatrix and each of its directors and executive
offiff cers (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to Pediatrix’s Annual Report on Form 10-K forff
the year ended December 31, 2003).*

10.23†† Master Services Agreement, dated as of April 19, 2024, by and between Guidehouse Managed
Services LLC and PMG Services, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Pediatrix’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q forff the period ended June 30, 2024).

19+ Pediatrix Medical Group, Inc. Policy Statement on Inside Information and Insider Trading For
Directors, Management Insiders, Financial Insiders, Systems Insiders and Other Insiders.

21.1+ Subsu idiaries of the Registrant.

23.1+ Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP.

31.1+ Certificff ation of Chief Executive Officff er pursuant to Securities Exchange Act RulRR e 13a-14(a), as
adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbaner s-Oxley Act of 2002.



103

31.2+ Certificff ation of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Securities Exchange Act RulRR e 13a-14(a), as
adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbaner s-Oxley Act of 2002.

32++ Certificff ation pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbaner s-
Oxley Act of 2002.

97.1 Pediatrix Medical Group, Inc. Policy on Recoupment of Incentive Compensation (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 97.1 to Pediatrix's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December
31, 2023).

101.1+ Interactive Data File

101.INS+ XBRL Instance Document -the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File
because its XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL document.

101.SCH+ Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema With Embedded Linkbase Documents.

——————
* Management contracts or compensation plans, contracts or arrangements.
** Portions of this exhibit have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K because they are both (i)
not material and (ii) would likely cause competitive harm to the registrant if publicly disclosed. The scheduld es and
similar attachments to this exhibit have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(a)(5) of Regulation S-K.
+ Filed herewith.
++ Furnished herewith.
† Certain of the exhibits and scheduld es to this exhibit have been omitted in accordance with Regulation S-K Item
601(a)(5).
†† Portions of this exhibit have been redacted in accordance with Regulation S-K Item 601(b)(10). The omitted
information is not material and would likely cause competitive harm to the Company if publicly disclosed. Certain of
the exhibits and scheduld es to this exhibit have been omitted in accordance with Regulation S-K Item 601(a)(5).
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ITEM 16. FORM 10-K SUMMARY

None.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly
caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duld y authorized.

Pediatrix Medical Group, Inc.

Date: February 2rr 0, 2025 By: /s/ Mark S. Ordan
Mark S. Ordan
Chief Executive Officff er

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of the registrant in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signatureg Title Date

/s/ Mark S. Ordan Chief Executive Officer and Director Februaryrr 20, 2025
Mark S. Ordan (Principal Executive Officff er)

/s/ Kasandra H. Rossi Chief Financial Offiff cer Februaryrr 20, 2025
Kasandra H. Rossi (Principal Financial Officer and

Principal Accounting Offiff cer)

/s/ Guy P. Sansone Lead Independent Director Februaryrr 20, 2025
Guy P. Sansone

/s/ Laura A. Linynskykk Director Februaryrr 20, 2025
Laura A. Linynskykk

/s/ Thomas A. McEachin Director Februaryrr 20, 2025
Thomas A. McEachin

/s/ Michael A. Rucker Director Februaryrr 20, 2025
Michael A. Rucker

/s/ John M. Starcher, Jr. Director Februaryrr 20, 2025
John M. Starcher, Jr.

/s/ Shirley A. Weis Director Februaryrr 20, 2025
Shirley A. Weis

/s/ Sylvia J. Young Director Februaryrr 20, 2025
Sylvia J. Young



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATIONS

I, Mark S. Ordan, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Pediatrix Medical Group, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to
state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which
such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this
report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash
flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and
internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for
the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to
the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over
financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in
this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of
the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that
occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in
the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of
internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the
registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control
over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to
record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 20, 2025 By: /s/ Mark S. Ordan

Mark S. Ordan
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATIONS

I, Kasandra H. Rossi, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Pediatrix Medical Group, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to
state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which
such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this
report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash
flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and
internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for
the registrant and have:

1. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to
the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

2. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over
financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

3. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in
this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of
the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

4. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that
occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in
the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of
internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the
registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control
over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to
record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 20, 2025 By: /s/ Kasandra H. Rossi

Kasandra H. Rossi
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer and Principal
Accounting Officer)



Exhibit 32

Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C Section 1350
(Adopted by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002)

In connection with the Annual Report of Pediatrix Medical Group, Inc. on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2024 (the “Report”), each of the undersigned hereby certifies, pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that (i) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and (ii) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all
material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of Pediatrix Medical Group, Inc.

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to Pediatrix Medical
Group, Inc. and will be retained by Pediatrix Medical Group, Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange
Commission or its staff upon request.

February 20, 2025

By: /s/ Mark S. Ordan

Mark S. Ordan
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

By: /s/ Kasandra H. Rossi

Kasandra H. Rossi
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer and Principal
Accounting Officer)
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